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1. Edgeware registrered a new subsidiary in Hong Kong to
 strengthen its presence in Asia. 2. Karl Thedéen took over as 

CEO, here in an interview with InBroadcast during the NAB 
Show in Las Vegas. 3. Edgeware won a number of industry 

awards, including the prestigious CSI Award for the new Ad 
insertion solution, and a nomination for BaM Awards. 4. Event 
candy at IBC in Amsterdam in the form of red and blue sugar 
pills, inspired by a certain science fiction movie from the 90s. 

3.
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• Edgeware secured its first order from a Chinese 
customer. 

• Major order from Televisa in Latin America.

• Key software transaction with Com Hem secured.

• An Ad Insertion order was received from a large 
European customer. 

OTHER NEWS

• Ninth participation at the NAB Show, North Ameri-
ca’s largest TV & Video trade fair.

• Won the TV Technology Best in Show award for the 
Ad Enabler product.

• Participation for 12th time at the IBC trade fair in 
Amsterdam, with major interest in new products. 

• Edgeware registered its own subsidiary in Hong 
Kong to enable greater focus on Asia.

TECH NEWS

• Launched Ad Enabler for personalised, dynamic ad 
insertion.  

• Unveiled live “big event” OTT solution.  

• Launched upgraded software CDN Selector.

• Presented cloud-native containerised TV delivery 
platform. 

BUSINESS NEWS

• A major European telecom operator selected Edge-
ware’s TV CDN for streamed live sport.  

• NexPlayer and Edgeware partnered on strategic inte-
gration to deliver low latency TV streaming.  

2018 IN BRIEF 

In 2018, net sales totalled SEK 231.9 million (236.8), which corresponds to a decrease of 2.1 per-

cent. The gross margin for 2018 amounted to 69.1 percent (74.4). Gross profit decreased to SEK 

160.2 million (176.3). Operating income (EBIT) amounted to SEK -9.1 million (11.8).    

NET SALES PER REGION NET SALES PER BUSINESS AREA

NET SALES AND GROSS MARGIN

Källa: HRG

OPERATING INCOME (EBIT)

 EMEA 69.6%

 Americas 20.9%

 APAC 9.5%

 Products 75.9%

 Services 24.1%
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• Winner of a TV Technology Best in 
Show Award for the new Ad Enabler 
product at NAB Show in Las Vegas

• Winner of a CSI Award for Best Con-
tent Protection Technology for TV 
Watermarker

• Finalist for a BaM Award for Ad 
Enabler

• Nominated for the National Techno-
logy Awards TV, Film and Broadcas-
ting Technology of the year for TV 
Watermarker

• Six nominations for Streaming Media 
Europe Readers’ Choice Award

 NET SALES 2018

232
MSEK

EDGEWARE’S MAIN MARKETING THEME IN 2018

-9.1 
MSEK

OPERATING 
INCOME 2018

EDGEWARE PRESENTED AN OTT SOLUTION FOR STREAMING OF BIG LIVE TV EVENTS 

Let’s make TV amazing again.  

THE FIGHT FOR THE  
FUTURE HAS BEGUN:

OTT BEYOND BROADCAST TV

AWARDS & NOMINATIONS
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WELCOME TO EDGEWARE’S WORLD
 

WHY WE’RE HERE 
The TV market is undergoing major changes, and 
needs new ways of delivering high-quality advanced 
TV experiences at low cost. Our mission is to help 
make TV amazing again!

WHAT WE DO 
We help telecom, cable operators and OTTs/broad-
casters make TV and video content available to their 
viewers over an internet or public IP network in a way 
that provides quality and security in a cost-efficient 
manner.

HOW WE DO IT 
Our products ensure that TV content is prepared and 
streamed to the viewers. TV content is prepared in 

our origin solution*, where the television stream is 
segmented to enable onward distribution over the 
network. We also create TV CDN solutions that are 
optimised for television distribution. This can be done 
either on a TV server developed by Edgeware, dedi-
cated to video content and customised for installation 
in networks, or a standard server running Edgeware’s 
software. Our decentralised system ensures a high 
level of quality and delivery reliability and reduces the 
traffic load in the backhaul network smartly and easily.

HOW IT ALL BEGAN
Edgeware was founded in 2004 by Joachim Roos, Lu-
kas Holm and Kalle Henriksson. Venture capital funds 
Creandum and Amadeus invested in Edgeware in 
2006, and we received our first major order from Telia 
in 2007. This order was a testament to the customer 
value in our products and marked the start of our 
development and growth.

* origin is a central function in the network, where TV content is brought in, processed, repackaged into the 

correct format according to the platform on which it is to be broadcast, and stored.

LET’S MAKE TV 
AMAZING AGAIN 
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Before IBC in September the main 
marketing theme was changed from 
the CDN focussed gorilla to the more 
high level message ”OTT TV Beyond 
Broadcast”. But the gorilla is still 
around, and was also the main attrac-
tion at two of the exhibtions during 
the year. 

1. Astrid prepares for the Edgeware 
company kick off in January 2019. 
2. At the kick-off, ”The EDGAR 
Awards” in the shape of a golden 
gorilla was introduced.
3. Edgeware’s stand at NexTV Argenti-
na in Buenos Aires.
4. Edgeware’s stand at NAB in Las 
Vegas. 

4.

1.

2.

3.
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CEO COMMENTS

2018 was a challenging year for Edgeware, but also a year in 
which we took a number of steps toward building a stronger 
company. However, despite an excellent fourth quarter, with 
growth of 16 percent, we did not succeed in completely offset-
ting the weak start to 2018. Net sales for the full-year ended at 
SEK 232 million and EBIT was a negative SEK 9 million. The total 
gross margin for 2018 was 69 percent. 

During the year, we revised our growth target, which is now 
to grow more than 10 percent per year over time. Our other 
long-term financial targets stand firm, including our profitability 
target of an EBIT that exceeds 15 percent. During 2018, we took 
a number of important steps to enable us to meet our financial 
targets over time, including cutting our costs and broadening 
our product portfolio. In the fourth quarter, we demonstrated 
that we can both grow and achieve strong profitability, which 
gives us confidence for the future.

MARKET OUTLOOK
There is strong growth in the market for video over Internet. We 
are focusing on equipment and services for high-quality video/
TV distribution over the public Internet or private operator-ow-
ned IP networks. The market is also growing and has different 
drivers in different parts of the world. In total, fewer than 20 
percent of the world’s households have a TV that receives its TV 
signal from the Internet or an IP network. The majority get their 
signals from a satellite receiver, a TV antenna or a coaxial cable. 
As broadband is extended to an increasing number of house-
holds in Asia, Latin America, the Middle East and Africa, the 
need and demand for IPTV will increase. In markets where IPTV 
build-out has already happened, such as Western Europe and 
North America, the use of such services as timeshift and Video 
On Demand is constantly increasing. This drives the need for 
investment in both hardware and software. In addition, the need 
is increasing for high-quality distribution of video content to all 
types of devices, such as iPads, smartphones and PCs.

SALES SUCCESSES
We continued to enjoy success during the year in our EMEA 
home market. Much of our revenue is related to CDNs and in-
volves both investments in the introduction of new functions and 
increasing capacity. Our customers also strengthen their service 
offering by supplementing IPTV services with an OTT offering 
and new functionality. For example, our European customers 
upgraded their software and hardware platform with ad insertion 
functionality (dynamic personalised advertising). All in all, net sa-
les from our major customers in 2018 were roughly at the same 
levels as in the preceding year. EMEA was stable and AMERI-
CAS, specifically Latin America, reported healthy growth. We 
have a high concentration of customers in APAC, meaning that 
we are impacted by the investment requirements of individual 
customers, and even though we continue to regard the region 
as an emerging market that we are continuing to invest in, net 
sales declined during the year. During the year, we also secured 

our first order from a Chinese customer and registered our own 
subsidiary in Hong Kong for increased focus on Asia. 

We continued to win new CDN expansion and replacement 
orders in 2018. The major order from Televisa that we announ-
ced in November was an example of this and shows that there 
is still large potential in IPTV CDN. We also see a clear trend 
towards increased use of OTT and a rising interest in using 
online technology-based platforms to distribute video services. 
Accordingly, it is gratifying that most of our major customers 
have started to make the necessary investments in our products 
to be able to take this step. This development also creates an 
opportunity for us to address new customers, such as broad-
casters and content owners. To strengthen our offering to these 
customers, we further developed the Origin offering during the 
year and specifically our new “Ad Enabler” product has helped 
us initiate a dialogue with many new potential customers. The 
order from Com Hem is an example of the result of these efforts. 

STRATEGIC INVESTMENTS 
Another strategic investment area is Software as a Service (SaaS) 
for which we showed during the year that our Origin software 
can be operated via both Google and Amazon’s cloud services. 
Working in close cooperation with some of our customers, we 
have commenced the development of a cloud service for Origin 
that we will launch in the first half of 2019. 

At the start of 2019, we also announced the acquisition of Ca-
vena, the market leader in subtitling, in line with the acquisition 
strategy that we unveiled in connection with our IPO. Cavena 
has successfully supplied solutions to broadcasters and content 
owners for more than 20 years and we already use its systems in 
some of our largest installations. The acquisition broadens and 
strengthens our offering to this important – and for Edgeware 
relatively new – customer group.

 
STREAMLINED ORGANISATION AND REDUCED COSTS
During the year, we created a more efficient organisation and 
lowered our operating costs by more than 10 percent while 
retaining delivery and development capacity. For example, we 
created a joint and stronger sales and field organisation. Overall, 
we advanced our positions in 2018 on the basis of new products, 
new types of business and efficiency enhancements. 

Focus in 2019 will be mainly directed to cultivating new custo-
mers in existing and new markets and to innovation and product 
development in OTT for broadcasters and content providers. 

Much work remains to be done in a dynamic market but ba-
sed on the strong end to 2018, I am very confident in the future 
and look forward to 2019. 

KARL THEDÉEN
CEO, Edgeware 
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SALES GROWTH Edgeware’s target is to achieve long-term organic annual sales growth of 
more than 10 percent.

PROFITABILITY Edgeware’s target is to achieve a long-term operating margin (EBIT margin) 
of more than 15 percent.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE Edgeware’s capital structure is to enable a high degree of financial flexibility 
and provide scope for acquisitions. Edgeware’s target is for net indebted-
ness to amount to a maximum of two times its EBITDA for the most recent 
12-month period. 

DIVIDEND POLICY Over the coming years, Edgeware’s cash flow will be used to finance its con-
tinued development and expansion as well as potential acquisitions, which 
means that no dividends are expected to be paid.

BUSINESS MODEL AND FINANCIAL TARGETS

Edgeware’s business model is to develop, market and sell streaming solutions to customers who 

distribute TV and video content to viewers over the Internet. The company’s customers are pri-

marily telecom and cable operators (such as Vodafone, Telia and Televisa), and to a greater extent 

OTTs/broadcasters (such as TVB) who distribute directly to their viewers via the Internet. 

– are offered as a supplement to its hardware and 
software. Support services are priced as annual fees 
based on the list prices of the products and the scope 
of the customer’s service needs. Edgeware’s other ser-
vices are sold as consulting services on a per-project 
basis. Edgeware’s solution has been developed by the 
product-development function and is sold through the 
company’s sales and marketing organisation as well 
as through several partners who integrate Edgeware’s 
products into their own network solutions. In addition, 
Edgeware has a number of consultants, including an 
outsourced team in Vietnam, who support research 
and development. 

Edgeware’s solutions are based on a combination of 
powerful, purpose-built hardware and software that 
can be installed centrally in the customers’ networks 
and far out near the customers’ viewers. Edgeware’s 
hardware and software are sold as complete system 
solutions and in 2018, the company submitted several 
tenders for software-only installations, with annually re-
curring revenue, and won these. The solutions are pri-
ced based on which functions are demanded as well 
as distribution and capacity requirements, meaning 
the volume of video that needs to be distributed and 
the number of simultaneous viewers. Edgeware’s ser-
vices – installation, support, and service, for example 

FINANCIAL TARGETS

Edgeware has the following long-term financial targets:
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A TV MARKET UNDER RAPID DIGITALISATION

TV as a concept has existed since the first half of the last century. Accordingly, TV was born and 
operated for a long time in an analogue era. Around the beginning of the new millennium, the 
first TV-like services started to test the use of digital technology, such as the Internet, for distri-
bution. This is something that brought a basic change to the way in which television is consumed. 
The TV players that are now the most successful have progressed furthest with their digitalisation. 
Their success is driving the entire industry ever more rapidly toward a fully digitalised world of TV.

Internet also offers interactivity, enabling viewers to 
see their favourite programme whenever they want to. 
Moreover, the Internet makes it possible to adapt each 
viewer’s stream to specifically that viewer, to provide 
a better experience, reduce the time spent on finding 
the right content or creating higher value for adver-
tisers, thereby reducing the amount of advertising 
without lowering advertising revenue.

At the same time, individualisation, where every 
viewer has their own stream, entails a challenge to 
the capacity and architecture of the Internet. TV is an 
asymmetrical service, meaning that the traffic dist-
ribution between what goes downstream from the 
service provider’s servers to the viewers and what goes 
upstream from the viewer to the service provider’s 
servers is such that the upstream traffic is essentially 
negligible.

Asymmetry is positive. This means that the capacity 
challenges created when all viewers want to stream 

So what does this mean to the viewers? Digitalisation 
of TV means much more than just delivering a service 
over a digital instead of an analogue network. It is all 
about adapting and developing TV services to fully 
utilise the digital technology and create new viewing 
experiences that go beyond traditional broadcast TV.

For viewers to benefit fully from the opportunities of 
digitalised television, several things are required. The 
networks that are most suitable must not only have the 
functional possibilities, but also the capacity required 
to deliver the extremely bandwidth-heavy content that 
video represents, all the way into the home or mobile 
device using broadband. 

INTERNET – BOTH A DRIVING FORCE AND A BOTTLENECK 
The Internet is a platform that provides the most im-
portant ingredients for a digital user experience, with 
all of the possibilities that digitalisation brings with 
it. Today, the Internet reaches essentially all screens, 
at all times, regardless of where the screen is. The 

DIGITALISATION MEANS THAT NEW INNOVATIVE VIEWING EXPERIENCES CAN BE DEVELOPED
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their TV when it suits them, instead of following live 
broadcasts or the TV schedule, can be resolved in a 
smarter way than constantly increasing the capacity of 
all the network connections on which the Internet is 
built. Instead traffic is processed using CDNs (Content 
Delivery Networks). Application layers are built into 
the Internet to address asymmetry optimally in terms 
of cost, while at the same time improving the viewer’s 
experience, thanks to smart functions that are specially 
adapted for Internet TV traffic.

WE VIEW WHEN WE WANT...
TV viewing has changed radically. Scheduled viewing, 
in which content is broadcast on specific channels at 
specific times, is being replaced by video-on-demand 
services that allow viewers themselves to choose the 
content they wish to watch as well as when and on 
which device they wish to watch it.

...ON WHAT WE WANT  
Today’s TV offering is enormous, with endless choices 
of connected viewing experiences whenever consu-
mers demand it. When TV and video are streamed 
over the Internet, each user receives a unique video 
stream, which means that the content must be dist-
ributed uniquely to each viewer (unicast) rather than 
once for all viewers at the same time (multicast).

...AND WE DEMAND HIGH QUALITY 
The quality of TV and video delivered over the Inter-
net is steadily improving. As the quality of the video 
distributed improves from SD (standard definition) to 
HD (high definition), the amount of data distributed 
over the network increases by a factor of approxima-
tely four, and as the quality improves from SD to Ultra 
HD (ultra-high definition), the amount of data increa-
ses by a factor of 16.
 
...AND OUR PATIENCE IS LOW 
Today, viewers are placing higher and higher demands 
on TV and video content over the Internet, and they 
expect high-quality services. Accordingly, providers 
must do everything they can to ensure an optimal 
viewing experience, which places major demands on 
providers’ origin and CDN solutions. 
 



12 EDGEWARE AB / ANNUAL REPORT 2018

VIDEO AND TV OVER THE INTERNET
Internet traffic is growing at such a pace that global 
IP traffic is forecast to be greater in 2022 than for all 
earlier years combined from the start of the Internet 
until 2016. In other words, more traffic will be created 
in 2022 than in the first 32 years of Internet history. 

Video continues to drive this growth and consumer 
video is expected to represent 82 percent of all 
consumer-driven Internet traffic in 2022, an increase of 
75 percent on 2017. This is partly attributable to the 
number of hours of video that is consumed over the 
Internet, but also to the higher use of 4K or UHD (Ultra 
High Definition), which generates more traffic for the 
same content. Ultra HD will account for 20.3 percent of 
Internet video traffic in 2022, up from a mere 3.7 per-
cent in 2017 (87.2 percent CAGR). HD (High Definition) 
also continues to grow and is expected to amount to 
56.2 percent of Internet video traffic in 2022, up from 
36.1 percent in 2017 (45.7 percent CAGR). Globally, 
three trillion minutes (five million years) of video content 
will travel across the Internet each month in 2022. This 
corresponds to 1.1 million minutes of video being 
streamed or downloaded each second. These figures 
include short-format video and video communication 
not addressed by Edgeware’s solutions. However, 82.3 
percent of all Internet video traffic will be long-format 
video (including live) in 2022, up from 68.1 percent in 
2017. Internet video-to-TV (rather than video traffic 
to all types of devices) is expected to comprise 27 

VIDEO OVER INTERNET IS EXPLODING 

The advent of modern streaming technology for video and TV continues to generate new services 

for customers, which is resulting in continued rapid growth for data and video traffic. Cisco’s Visual 

Networking Index is a respected industry index that describes this trend. 

percent of the fixed Internet video traffic to consu-
mers in 2022, a threefold increase between 2017 and 
2022 (24.0 percent CAGR). It should be pointed out, 
however, that this entire video traffic growth will be 
handled by various players in the market, some of 
which are already customers or potential customers 
of Edgeware, while others are currently not potential 
customers.

EDGEWARE’S CUSTOMER BASE UNDER DEVELOPMENT
Edgeware’s systems are used by customers to 
construct content delivery networks (CDNs) to provide 
Internet-based TV services. In 2022, 79 percent of all 
Internet-based video traffic will be provided via CDN, 
up from 70 percent in 2017. Edgeware’s market is 
changing from one type of Internet-based TV (IPTV) 
to a new form of TV service: OTT TV (Over-The-Top, 
TV over the open Internet). IPTV services are often 
offered by telecom and cable TV companies that own 
their own networks and provide conventional TV via 
a set-top box. Historically, this category of service 
has represented the majority of Edgeware’s customer 
base. OTT services are usually offered by traditio-
nal OTTs (content owners) and broad casters such as 
myTV SUPER in Hong Kong and new content owners 
such as Netflix. Unlike IPTV services, these are often 
consumed via both TV screens and other devices, such 
as tablets and mobile phones. The IPTV market has 
matured and is displaying a lower growth rate than the 
emerging OTT market.

INTERNET VIDEO
TO TV INCREASES

24%
PER YEAR

79% 
OF INTERNET VIDEO TRAFFIC

VIA CDNS 2022

82% 
OF INTERNET VIDEO TRAFFIC

IS LONG FORMAT
VIDEO 2022
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1. AN AMAZING VIEWING EXPERIENCE

Edgeware’s technology stores a copy of the 
most popular TV programmes CLOSE TO the 
viewers. The programme thus has to be sent 
out only ONCE on the network – but can be 
shown an endless number of times. So most of 
the programmes you want to watch only need 
to be streamed to you from your local Edgeware 
system, and not over the entire network.
 
With Edgeware, the provider can send persona-
lised advertising, and viewers can pause live TV 
and watch via the platform they prefer: smartpho-
nes, computers, tablets or TV. The advantages for 
everyone are numerous. Operators and content 
providers save on major network costs. But even 
more important: TV and video can be experien-
ced without glitches, delays and buffering.

Another factor that contributes to an amazing 
viewing experience is that the incoming TV 
content from the encoder is processed and pre-
pared so that it is optimised prior to distribution 

EDGEWARE’S SOLUTION TO THREE MAJOR CHALLENGES

unicast requires approximately three megabits per 
second of network capacity for each viewer. So: a 
million unicast viewers require three million megabits. 
And an upgrade to 4K requires 12 million megabits. 
Not even the fastest fibre Internet connection can 
manage more than around 100,000 megabits. The 
conclusion: Over 100 times more capacity than what 
is delivered by even the fastest systems is needed... 
just to be able to broadcast a moderately popular TV 
programme. Fortunately, Edgeware offers solutions to 
these challenges.

Edgeware’s product offering is the solution to (at least) three challenges in the TV and video land-

scape of today. Firstly, we focus on giving TV viewers an amazing TV experience without glitches, 

delays or buffering. Secondly, we focus on the ability to scale up TV distribution networks in a simple 

and cost-effective manner and in several different dimensions and, last but not least, on how owners 

of TV content can earn money on their assets, such as through personalised TV advertising.

Today, we don’t watch TV the way we used to. Instead, 
we watch exactly where and how we want. We want to 
pause live broadcasts, record, jump into a programme 
a little later, or rewind the broadcast. We watch TV on 
many different platforms – from smart phones to 85-
inch flat-screen televisions – all of which require different 
coding and resolution for the content to look good. 

Technically, this means that each TV stream is unique 
and adapted for each unique viewer, so-called unicast 
traffic. For example: Watching an HDTV program in 

via the CDN. The TV content is processed in a part 
of the network called the origin. For example, there 
are separate individual streams for audio, images and 
subtitles, and these must be synchronised with one 
another before they can be sent onwards. Various 
combinations of codecs can cause synchronisation 
problems for audio and images and these must also 
be addressed.
 
Edgeware’s origin splits up TV content into segments 
in a smart way, which, among other things, enables 
personalised TV advertising to be offered without 
glitches for the viewer. 
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feature at a later date, without disruption and without 
sections of the TV programme being cut. In terms of 
segmentation, Edgeware has a very fine-meshed way 
of organising incoming TV content into segments. The 
length of the segments is adapted so that they match 
exactly the length of the advertising break, which 
means that the new advertising feature can replace 
the original advertising with personalised advertising 
with a large degree of precision.  

3. EARNING MONEY ON TV CONTENT

It is often expensive to purchase the rights to TV con-
tent and it is important to ensure that it is not copied 
and conveyed illegally without revenue. Edgeware’s 
technology contains authentication and checks to en-
sure that the right content reaches the right viewer. The 
ability to offer personalised advertising to all platforms, 
without disruption, is another way to earn money from 
TV content, as well as ensuring that only those who pay 
for a TV service should have access to it.

Edgeware’s solution to enable the tracking of TV pirates 
entails that each TV stream sent to a viewer’s platform 
is provided with a unique watermark. This method of la-
belling TV content is more network effective than other 
alternatives because it does not impact the amount of 
data being transmitted and because the watermark is 
added to the content as close to the viewer as possible. 

Edgeware offers unique possibilities to transmit perso-
nalised TV advertising and to replace the advertising 

2. SCALABLE IN VARIOUS DIMENSIONS

Being able to expand a TV delivery network in a simple 
and cost-effective way and to offer growth possibilities 
in the particular dimension that suits an operator or 
broadcaster is important. Often there is no fine-mesh 
increase in capacity on offer, that is to say, an increase in 
one dimension without necessarily increasing another. In 
the origin, it could be that there is a need for an increase 
in capacity in the “ingest” function, meaning where TV 
content is downloaded from encoders, to be able to 
offer new TV channels to viewers. On the other hand, 
perhaps there is no need for a capacity increase in the 
“egress” function, since ready-packaged content is sent 
out for distribution across the CDN network. Increasing 
the egress capacity may be necessary, for example, to 
be able to offer TV for other platforms, an aspect that 
places demands on coding and resolution properties.

The ability to easily scale the CDN infrastructure is ne-
cessary to be able to both temporarily and permanently 
match the needs for capacity increases. Temporary 
capacity increases may be required during major TV 
broadcasts, such as large sporting events. The capacity 

of Edgeware’s CDN solutions can be easily expanded, 
partly by installing streaming software in the cloud 
or data centre, distributing peak traffic via third-party 
CDNs or installing new hardware.
 
A problem that may arise during major, popular live 
broadcasts over the Internet is that as many as 50-60 
percent of all of those who want to see the programme 
will try to connect in the first two minutes. This puts 
enormous pressure on the network, which needs to 
handle large numbers of viewers in a very short time, as 
well as being able to establish contact with the strea-
ming server that is located nearby and has free capacity. 
Edgeware’s solutions also have specific properties here 
that facilitate this, forecast and balance the traffic and 
ensure that the TV programme is cached in more servers 
than is usual.
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SALES AND CUSTOMERS

Edgeware has had a global presence since the beginning, when the company secured its first 

international customer in 2007 – a customer that still purchases its products and services today. 

Today, the company has more than 200 customers in over 70 countries, comprising telecom and 

cable operators as well as OTTs/broadcasters.

EDGEWARE HAS FOUR TYPES OF PARTNERS

• Retailers: Exclusively retail third-party products. 
• Integration partners: Build turnkey solutions for 

customers using third-party components. 
• Ecosystem partners: Offer products with related 

functions that require supplementary products to 
meet customer needs. 

• Sales Consultants: Consultants who provide 
customer contacts and assist Edgeware’s sales 
staff with expertise in local markets.

 
SALES PROCESS
In 2018, Edgeware gained eight new end customers. 
Typically, these customers generate a smaller income 
during the first year but with a potential for increa-
sing revenues over time. The majority of total sales 
consisted of existing customers, of which the largest 
customer accounted for 19.4 percent (17.7), the three 
largest for 50.2 percent (38.5) and the five largest for 
63.2 percent (51.4).
 
Unlike existing customers, new customers often use a 
procurement procedure in which Edgeware submits a 
tender based on various factors, such as the number 
of viewers and channels, the quality of the content, 
deployment locations and functions. A sales process 
for new customers generally takes 6–24 months, com-
pared with 1–6 months for existing customers. With 
Edgeware’s focus on a larger share of software in its 
offering and Software-as-a-service arrangements, the 
company sees the opportunity for shorter sales cycles 
and a larger proportion of recurring revenue.

CUSTOMER GROUPS
The primary customer groups in the market are tele-
com and cable operators and OTTs/broadcasters, who 
distribute TV and video content over the Internet. 

In 2018, a new sales organisation was launched to 
develop Edgeware’s way of driving the sales process, 
strengthen its international presence and grow its 
addressable market. The new organisation is driven by 
a global sales manager and local sales teams in Europe, 
Latin America, Asia and North America. The purpose 
of the new organisation is, for example, to create a 
stronger link between sales representatives and product 
development as well as intensifying the focus on such 
regions as Asia and Latin America by strengthening the 
presence in specific markets.   

GLOBAL SALES AND MARKETING TEAM
In total, Edgeware’s global sales and marketing team 
comprised 23 people at 31 December 2018. The team 
has extensive technical experience in the industry and 
considerable knowledge of each region. The sales 
representatives are engaged in an ongoing dialogue 
with the company’s customers and have an in-depth 
understanding of their needs and demands. Edgewa-
re’s customers are often recurring customers. During 
2018, 2.6 percent (8.2) of order intake was derived 
from new customers, while 97.4 percent (91.8) came 
from existing customers. Edgeware’s sales are condu-
cted both directly and via partners, with each channel 
generating similar profitability. Direct sales take place 
through the company’s own sales teams in prioritised 
markets, and with staff stationed in the regions where 
Edgeware operates. 

Partners enable entry into new markets and reaching 
more customers. They also lend credibility when dea-
ling with large companies and will increase the com-
pany’s chances of selling to leading global companies 
with long sales cycles. Regardless of sales channel, the 
company normally has direct contact with its custo-
mers. Sales through partners in 2018 as a share of 
total net sales amounted to 34 percent (45). 
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SOME OF EDGEWARE’S CUSTOMERS

Telecom operators, which also include broadband 
providers, accounted for 77.7 percent (74.9) of 
Edgeware’s net sales in 2018. Telecom operators 
primarily use Edgeware’s products and solutions to 
deliver their TV services over IP and normally purcha-
se comprehensive solutions. Examples of customers 
include KPN in the Netherlands and PCCW (now TV) in 
Hong Kong.
 
Cable operators accounted for 18.2 percent (13.6) of 
Edgeware’s net sales in 2018. Typically, these custo-
mers have needs similar to those of telecom operators. 
As TV providers, most cable operators already have 
networks built and they tend to purchase components 
and functions rather than comprehensive solutions. 
They also represent the largest customer category in 
the total market. Examples of customers include Com 
Hem in Sweden and Televisa in Mexico. 

OTTs/broadcasters accounted for 3.9 percent 
(11.1) of Edgeware’s net sales in 2018. This is the 
smallest customer category in the market, but is 
growing at a faster rate than the other customer cate-
gories. Customers in this category used Edgeware’s 
products to enable their live and on-demand services 
over the Internet. These customers appreciate high 
quality, the ability to analyse viewing habits and the 
delivery quality of the service. Examples of customers 
include TVB (myTV SUPER) in Hong Kong.
 
Edgeware has enabled telecom and cable operators 
to deliver new services over IP, and thereby find new 
sources of income. New products and services create 
ever greater potential for delivery to the OTTs/broad-
casters customer category, which distributes content 
via the Internet. Companies in this customer category 
are growing considerably and thus require scalable 
streaming solutions. They also require greater insight 
into user behaviour and high-quality delivery. 
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NEW CUSTOMER SEGMENTS THAT CAN BE ADDRESSED 

In 2018, strategic steps were taken to broaden Edgeware’s addressable market. Not only 

through geographic expansion, but also with intensified focus on expanding the market oppor-

tunities, with a wider product portfolio and broadened sales tactic. In this way, more operators, 

telecom companies and content owners, from small operators to the very largest content and 

network owners, can become potential Edgeware customers.

SOFTWARE AND CLOUD SOLUTIONS BROADEN THE MARKET 
Having previously focused Edgeware’s offering toward 
the “middle segment”, that is, network owners, such as 
telco and cable operators, small operators and the very 
largest content giants are now also being targeted. 
Since most of Edgeware’s solutions can be placed in 
the cloud, new customer types can be offered a flexi-
ble solution for their specific needs. Cloud solutions, in 
particular, make it possible to address smaller custo-
mers rapidly, while Edgeware can also assist the TV 
world’s giants by offering unique software solutions.

By launching and offering a number of new and 
competitive products, mainly in the form of software, 
Edgeware can become even better than previously at 
attracting a broader range of customers and meeting 
a larger scope of needs in the delivery of TV and video 
content. In 2018, Edgeware broadened its offering 
to include, for example, Ad Enabler, which makes it 
possible to individualise advertising depending on 
such aspects as where the end customer lives or when 
a specific content is requested. By combining the best 
hardware and software solutions, flexible and attracti-
ve solutions are created that distinguish Edgeware in 
the market.

SOFTWARE AS A SERVICE (SAAS)
SAAS Origin/CDN, delivery 
via the cloud

CUSTOMER SIZE

NUMBER OF
CUSTOMERS

NEW SALES STRATEGY LAUNCHED TO BROADEN THE ADDRESSABLE MARKET

SW & HW COMPONENTS
Software & hardware 
components for in-
house solutions

Large OTT, 
Telco, CDN

Mid sized Telco/Cable/
IPTV/OTT

Small/mid sized local/regional content owners 
(OTT/broadcasters)

CAVENA – SUBTITLING
Adding customers from 
the broadcasting space

SW ONLY OR SW & HW
System solutions 
with software only, or 
soft ware & hardware

Company names 
are examples only, 
not all are Edgeware 
customers
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STRENGTHS AND COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGES

Edgeware operates in an industry undergoing significant structural shifts. From linear TV, where TV 
and video content was mass distributed via broadcast towers and satellites, habits are now shifting to 
on-demand viewing over the Internet. On a global basis, this transition has only just begun. As bro-
adband via copper, fibre, coax and mobile networks is built out, the transition will continue for many 
years to come. All in all, this is resulting in an explosion of video and data traffic in data networks 
throughout the world. New solutions are required to prepare video streams over the IP network and 
to manage the storage and distribution problems. These are solutions that Edgeware can provide. 

WELL POSITIONED TO CAPITALISE ON CHANGING MARKET DYNAMICS 

Streaming technology is changing the value chain for 
TV and video distribution. Streaming not only makes 
it possible for cable and telecom operators to expand 
their offering to customers, but also allows all players in 
the value chain to distribute content directly to viewers. 

POWERFUL SOLUTION BASED ON LEADING STREAMING TECHNOLOGY 
Edgeware’s solution is based on providing products 
and services that enable customers to build proprie-
tary solutions to distribute video over IP networks via 
origin software and decentralised CDNs. This means 
that the most popular content is cached, handled and 
adapted to the viewer as far out in the networks as 
possible, on Edgeware’s TV servers or standard servers 
with Edgeware’s software installed.

OPTIMISED ARCHITECTURE WITH ATTRACTIVE ADVANTAGES 
Decentralised distribution architecture is more 
cost-efficient, as it can easily be scaled up without 
major investments in central data centres or backhaul 
networks. Edgeware’s optimised architecture with 
purpose-built hardware and software means the custo-
mers can provide streaming services with an amazing 
viewing experience, deep insight into viewers’ habits, 
and control over distribution.
 
Scalability: Thanks to the flexibility of the solution, 
customers are easily able to scale up their distribution 
capacity to support services for millions of viewers and 
large volumes of content – as the number of viewers 
and need for capacity increases. Customers can thus 
make smaller initial investments, easily scaling up with 
increased viewership.
 
Viewing experience: Edgeware’s solutions help custo-
mers guarantee streaming services with a high-quality 

viewing experience, excellent availability and reliability, 
and minimal delays and buffering, which is crucial if custo-
mers are to maintain a highly competitive service offering.
 
Capitalise and create revenue from video/TV con-
tent: In a fast-moving and competitive market, it is 
becoming increasingly important to have multiple and 
effective opportunities to capitalise on content. Various 
forms of encryption are important for maintaining 
revenue from the viewer in the form of subscription 
fees and to ensure that the content is not distributed to 
individuals who have not paid for the service. However, 
revenue from advertising is often required to generate 
maximum value. To make the advertising as unobtrusi-
ve as possible, it is good to minimise the time used by 
advertising and to make it as positive an experience as 
possible. By adapting advertising to the viewer while at 
the same time offering the advertiser more customised 
ad insertion, the business of the advertisers and opera-
tors is strengthened.  

HIGH AND PROFITABLE GROWTH WITH THE POTENTIAL FOR HIGH 
OPERATING LEVERAGE
Through organic growth, Edgeware’s net sales increa-
sed at an average annual rate of 34 percent between 
2007 and 2017. During 2018, Edgeware experienced 
that its business model can fluctuate between years 
and quarters due to the company’s dependence on a 
few major customers. As Edgeware grows, gains more 
customers and secures more contracts for recurring 
software licences, this situation will stabilise to a certain 
extent. Edgeware’s business model and the high gross 
margin of the product and service offering create the 
necessary conditions to leverage the company’s ope-
rating profit as its sales increase. However, in the situa-
tion in which the company now finds itself, investments 
to generate growth will be prioritised ahead of a high 
level of profitability.
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INCREASE SALES TO EXISTING CUSTOMER BASE 
Edgeware’s customers commonly begin by 
placing a smaller order to develop an initial 
TV service to determine interest in the mar-
ket. Retaining and increasing sales to existing 
customers is therefore important for Edgeware’s 
success. As the service becomes more popular, 
the order value typically increases, and sales 
thereby grow. The product mix in the customer’s 
order shifts over time to include more software, 
functions and capacity upgrades, which have a 
higher gross margin than the initial order.
 
DEVELOPMENT OF THE SALES ORGANISATION  
Edgeware is investing in developing and ex-
panding its sales organisation to cover existing 
and new markets, reach more customers and 
become even better positioned to serve its 
existing customer base. In Europe, focus will be 
on large countries where the IPTV and OTT TV 
development is a few years behind our main 
markets, the Nordics and the Benelux area, for 
example Germany and Spain. Edgeware will 
also focus on other markets deemed to have 
great potential such as Mexico, Brazil, China, 
India, and Hong Kong. 

EXPAND THE PRODUCT PORTFOLIO
By developing the product portfolio, Edgeware 
is broadening its offering to both existing and 
new customers. As a result, more operators, 
telecom companies and content owners, from 
smaller operators to the largest content and 
network owners, can become potential custo-
mers of Edgeware. With a well-invested R&D 
department and the new innovation group 
Unit-X, Edgeware develops, in close coopera-
tion with the customers, new products that meet 
a greater range of needs within the delivery 
of TV and video content. Even through acqui-
sitions, Edgeware’s product portfolio can be 
strengthened, as in the case of the acquisition 
of Cavena, specialists in subtitling. This can be 
seen as an example of acquisitions that support 
Edgeware’s competitiveness by offering a broa-
der solution to our customers.

FOCUS ON EXPANSION

An amazing TV experience
– Avoid buffering, delays and glitches.

Capitalize your content – 
Deliver it with glitch-free per-
sonalized ads, embed a digital 
watermark to protect it from 
piracy, and get a unique insight 
into your viewers’ behavior.

Deploy at scale – Scale your TV delivery to millions of 
simultaneous viewers, devices, and any mix of services – 
even for those ‘big live’ events

THINK AS BIG 
AS YOU WANT TO

Deploy at scale 
– You don’t have to 
be the ‘Gorilla in your 
market’ to deliver TV to 
millions of simultaneous 
viewers – even ‘big live’ 
events.

CONTROL YOUR

CONTENT

SEEING IS BELIEVING 
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1. SPECIALISTS  
The specialist market is fragmented and the players in 
the market are mostly smaller than generalists, such 
as MediaKind (formerly Ericsson). Specialists focus on 
specific functions required to build platforms and solu-
tions to distribute video. For example, Edgeware and 
its French competitor, Broadpeak, focus on streaming 
and caching, while other specialists are more focused 
on coding and solutions for handling and formatting 
raw content early in the distribution process. Edgewa-
re’s technology is based on enabling an advanced 
origin solution that supports, for example, dynamic 
advertising management and decentralised CDN 
networks, making its solutions scalable and easy to 
adapt to customers’ needs.
 

2. GENERALISTS AND COMPREHENSIVE SUPPLIERS   
As a rule, generalists target very large providers (such 
as telecom and cable operators) that prefer compre-
hensive solutions, often with elements of managed 
services, from a single supplier. They sell comprehen-
sive TV solutions for customers and build solutions, 
primarily with proprietary products which they supple-
ment with products from partners and subcontractors. 
These transactions often contain integration and 
adaptation components.

3. CDN AS A SERVICE 
Companies that sell CDN as a service sell capacity 
on their own CDNs. Providers of CDNs as a service 
typically charge based on the amount of distributed 
data per month. The original business idea of most of 

COMPETITION  

Edgeware’s competitors can be divided into three categories: Specialists, generalists 

and CDN as a service

EDGEWARE’S COMPETITORS CAN BE DIVIDED INTO THREE CATEGORIES: SPECIALISTS, GENERALISTS AND CDN AS A SERVICE
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ADVANCED TECHNOLOGY WITH HIGH DEVELOPMENT COSTS IS ONE OF THE BARRIERS FOR NEW PLAYERS IN THE MARKET

solutions that meet these needs. The market is charac-
terised by high technological content and advanced 
product development requiring financial resources and 
expertise. 

Specialist market: The market is characterised by a 
high degree of integration, with players frequently 
collaborating with various partners in order to offer a 
comprehensive solution together. Successful coope-
ration is crucial since customers require a fully functio-
ning solution from day one. The infrastructure market 
for TV and video distribution over the Internet is a 
niche market and not sufficiently large to be prioritised 
by the biggest infrastructure providers in the datacom 
and telecom industries. 

High degree of ecosystem integration: Selling 
infrastructure for TV and video distribution over the 
Internet requires a broad range of pre-integrated sys-
tem components, for example, middleware (software 
that allows several types of software to work together). 
New players do not have the infrastructure in place 
to enable them to quickly adapt to various customer 
needs.

these companies was to enhance the efficiency of dist-
ribution of Internet content other than video, so-called 
web acceleration. In practice, this involves supplying 
images, graphics and transactions for websites and 
e-commerce sites, but also software upgrades for 
computers and telephones. This distribution remains 
important for ensuring that the Internet functions. Sin-
ce these CDNs are used to distribute different types 
of data, they are generally not clearly optimised for 
any specific service and are thus often referred to as 
general purpose or, quite simply, “web caching”.
 
MAIN BARRIERS TO ENTRY FOR NEW PLAYERS
Several barriers make it difficult for new players to 
establish themselves in the market for TV and video 
distribution over the Internet.
 
Advanced technology with high product develop-
ment costs: Providers of TV and video content over 
the Internet demand high-performance, reliable, multi-
functional and scalable solutions. The solutions must 
also be secure, experience minimal service interrup-
tions and be adaptable to the needs of the providers. 
Extensive industry know-how is required to develop 
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Edgeware’s products comprise hardware and software 
that are integrated into customer networks.

HARDWARE AND SOFTWARE   
In 2018, 75.9 percent of net sales were derived from 
the sale of hardware and software products, such as 
TV servers and capacity licences. One of Edgeware’s 
core products is its own TV servers, which can be in-
stalled both centrally and far out in a network, close to 
viewers. When customers require more capacity – for 
example, when the number of viewers increases or the 
quality of the content in their services improves – they 
are able to unlock additional capacity on their existing 
TV servers by acquiring additional streaming and/or 
capacity licenses.
 
Edgeware’s TV servers also reduce the customer’s 
network costs. A single network is made up of several 
TV servers orchestrated by powerful, multifunction 
software. This software determines where in the 
network hierarchy the TV and video content is to be 
cached in order to minimise unnecessary traffic, there-
by improving the user experience. The software can 

also repackage the content live and on-the-fly so that 
it can be shown on all types of devices, for example 
TV-screens, computers, tablets and mobile phones.
 
The software for origin, which is a central function in 
the network, where TV content is brought in, proces-
sed and repackaged into the correct format, can be in-
stalled on standard servers. Streaming software can be 
installed on standard servers or be delivered installed 
on Edgeware’s own TV servers. Management system 
software is delivered on standard servers. Storage 
media and central storage systems typically comprise 
standard servers. This software is charged per function 
and, increasingly, with an annual licence cost.

SERVICE OFFERING 
Edgeware’s services include support services, as well as 
a smaller number of other services. The services sales 
category represented 24.1 percent of net sales in 2018. 
Services are rarely sold independently. Instead, they 
are usually sold together with hardware and software 
products. For example, approximately 99 percent of 
customers purchase support services in conjunction 
with purchasing hardware and software products. 

PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

Edgeware’s solutions give customers the opportunity to prepare, repackage and stream high- 

quality TV and video content in a scalable, cost-efficient manner to viewers, and to offer tools 

that optimally generate and protect revenue. 
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1. ORIGIN 

Origin is a central function in the network, where TV 
content is brought in, processed, repackaged into the 
correct format according to the platform on which it is 
to be broadcast, and stored. Even customers who do 
not have their own distribution network usually have 
their own origin. Edgeware’s unique origin solution al-
lows customers to offer live TV as an on-demand service 
where viewers can watch programs when they want. The 
content is recorded and converted in real time, to va-
rious streaming formats depending on the platform on 
which it is to be played. The content can also be encryp-
ted and prepared for individually tailored advertising for 
Internet TV. The solution supports 4k, 8k, and VR TV.

2. CDN 
 
CDN is the distribution network that delivers content to 
viewers. Popular content is cached here, and can quick-
ly be distributed at maximum quality and with a minimal 
network load. If the viewer is streaming video on their 
iPhone, for example, the content can be repackaged 
on the fly from a server out in the distribution network. 
The system supports essentially all types of devices, for 
example iPhones, Samsung Smart TVs and Android ta-
blets. Watermarking, which is included in the CDN area, 
makes it possible to track the source of pirated content 
by providing each stream with a unique watermark. 

 3. MANAGEMENT & CONTROL

Edgeware’s solution enables control of both origin 
and CDN systems from a single, consolidated mana-
gement tool. The customer can monitor and analyse 
all aspects of their TV service, regardless of whether it 
is a classic IPTV service via a set-top box in the living 
room or Internet TV via a mobile phone. The analysis 
tool provides a unique opportunity to conduct advan-
ced analyses in real time of the connection between 
network data and viewer habits by gathering and tying 
together data from different sources. 

4. PLATFORMS 

Edgeware’s software-based TV Server gives custo-
mers the possibility of constructing their own delivery 
infrastructure using standard hardware, or installing 
Edgeware’s proprietary hardware optimised for TV. It is 
delivered pre-integrated, with Edgeware’s software in-
stalled, which means it can be put into operation quickly 
and easily. Customers can also create hybrid solutions 
combining the advantages of both systems – the flexi-
bility and scalability of cloud solutions and the delivery 
quality of Edgeware’s optimised TV servers. Edgeware’s 
software-based origin products were launched in 2018 
as software containers and enable installation in public 
and private cloud platforms and on standard hardware 
in computer centres.

PRODUCT OVERVIEW – EDGEWARE’S TV DELIVERY SYSTEM

THE CONTENT AND VALUE IN THE OFFERING: 
Edgeware’s solution can be divided into four areas:

FROM TV CONTENT...

...TO TV
EXPERIENCE

3. MANAGEMENT

& CONTROL

2. CDN

1. ORIGIN

 

FROM TV CONTENT...

ORIGIN

MANAGEMENT
& CONTROL

CDN

3rd PARTY
ORIGIN

3rd PARTY
CDN

PLATFORMS COTS SERVERS TV SERVER 4020/80

EDGEWARE’S TV CDN

Some functions still to be releasedLet’s make TV amazing again.

...TO TV EXPERIENCE

TV CONTENT CAPTURE
Ingest, Cloud DVR and 

Live-to-VOD

TV REPACKAGER
On-the-fly TV repackaging,  
encryption and publishing

TV AD INSERTION
Personalize TV with 

dynamic ad insertion

TV SYSTEM MANAGER
One system for Origin 

and TV CDN

TV ANALYTICS
Unique insight into 

viewer behavior

MULTITENANCY
Monetize your CDN or 

origin infrastructure

TV DIRECTOR
CDN Request

Routing

CDN SELECTOR
Stream over 

multiple CDNs

FAST CHANNEL CHANGE
Subsecond zap time 
and retransmission

TV WATERMARKER
Embed unique watermarks 

direct from you CDN

TV DELIVERY
Cache and stream 
web TV and IPTV

EDGE TV REPACKAGER
Distribute repackaging 

and encryption

4. PLATFORMS

CLOUD

TV CONTENT CAPTURE
Ingest, Cloud DVR and 

Live-to-VOD

TV REPACKAGER
On-the-fly TV repackaging, 
encryption and publishing

TV AD INSERTION
Personalize TV with 

dynamic ad insertion

CDN SELECTOR
Stream over 

multiple CDNs

TV DIRECTOR
CDN Request 

Routing & load balancing

TV DELIVERY
Cache and stream
OTT TV and IPTV

EDGE TV REPACKAGER
Distribute repackaging

and encryption

TV WATERMARKER
Embed watermarks

direct from your CDN

TV SYSTEM MANAGER
One system for Origin

and TV CDN

TV ANALYTICS
Unique insight into
viewer behaviour

MULTITENANCY
Monetize your CDN or 

origin infrastructure

FAST CHANNEL CHANGE
Rapid zap time

and retransmission

3RD PARTY 
ORIGIN

3RD PARTY 
CDN

CAVENA TV SUBTITLING
Subtitling made

easy
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EDGEWARE BOOSTS TELIA FINLAND’S SUCCESS IN 
OTT TV AND LIIGA, THE FINNISH HOCKEY LEAGUE

CUSTOMER CASE STUDY: TELIA, FINLAND                              

Edgeware, the premiere was a success. With over half 
of the first season’s games broadcasted live, I am very 
proud of our service,” says Markus.

After pioneering the new “TV-experience”, in colla-
boration with Edgeware for over ten years, Telia is 
more than familiar with the capacity of the Edgeware 
technology, software and support team.

”The scalability offered by the Edgeware TV CDN has 
meant it has been straightforward to expand the capa-
city across Finland. It enables us to reach more people 
on more devices and to deliver a service experience 
beyond conventional broadcast TV,” says Markus.

LIIGA – A WHOLE NEW GAME
For the past years Telia Finland’s experience from live 
sports OTT TV events has been focused on sports like 
Formula One. The step over to ice hockey means Telia 

”It’s a bit of boasting but I do believe Telia, as the new 
rights holder of the immensely popular Finnish TV-
sport liiga, presented the best ever start for the bro-
adcasted liiga. We are providing liiga with a viewing 
experience that goes beyond traditional linear bro-
adcast TV. Our premiere on the 14th of September in 
2018 was glitch free and broadcasted live ice hockey 
to passionate hockey Finns, over our OTT TV service. 
It was simply a dream start, also thanks to Edgeware,” 
says Markus Kaseva, Head of TV Operations at Telia 
Finland, Denmark, Sweden and Lithuania.

For Edgeware the Telia collaboration goes back to the 
very start of Edgeware. For a full ten years Markus Ka-
seva has collaborated with Edgeware on building and 
growing successful TV CDNs. Primarily to support Te-
lia’s successful launch of IPTV. But since 2013 also with 
an even greater emphasis on OTT, Over the top TV. 
So, when Telia won the prestigious six season contract, 
to deliver live coverage of the liiga hockey games 
and supporting content available to fans throughout 
Finland via OTT, they once again turned to Edgeware. 
It turned out to be a good call, Markus explains.

”Being responsible for the TV service assurance, my 
goal is that our service shall never go down. And 
if there is one kind of LIVE shows you do not want 
to mess up with in Finland, it’s the hockey games, 
trust me! Thanks to my team and with support from 

In order to bring Finland’s SM-liiga ice hockey league to a wider audience, new rights holder 

Telia has expanded its Edgeware-built TV content delivery network. By scaling up its TV CDN 

and OTT services across Finland, Telia delivers high quality coverage to viewers through an 

infrastructure that has been designed to withstand the stresses generated by premium live 

sports content. Edgeware meets up with Markus Kaseva, head of TV Operations for a talk on 

the “most successful launch ever” in the history of the SM liiga.

”EDGEWARE IS TRULY A PARTNER THAT HAS 
HELPED US KICK OFF A REVOLUTION IN TV”
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CUSTOMER CASE STUDY: TELIA, FINLAND                              

will broadcast around 500 hockey games a year, for at 
least six seasons. To make this happen Telia needed 
to scale up its TV CDN across Finland. Building on 
Edgewares 4020 TV Server infrastructure they built an 
OTT streaming platform that stood up for the chal-
lenge. After the launch in September viewing over 
OTT has multiplied and the viewing experience has 
been above the expectations. It’s a strong business 
case, for both Telia and Edgeware, no doubt.

”The new platform has helped Telia to evolve and 
grow fast in viewing volumes. Naturally every time one 
venture out into new territory things can go wrong, 
but not this time, I am happy to say. Capacity mana-
gement has been very solid and from our HD quality 
today we are soon able to deliver liiga in Ultra HD 4K. 
A follow up on our promise to deliver cutting edge TV 
to our customers. So we are just warming up,” says 
Markus Kaseva with laughter.

Because Telia have built its own TV CDN with Ed-
geware, it has control over how the network’s capacity 
is used. This guarantees performance and means 
content can be delivered without glitches that can ruin 
an OTT viewing experience. 

EVERYONE IS INVITED TO THE GAME
Owning the rights to the action-packed liiga doesn’t 

mean Telia stops any Finn to watching the liiga, re-
gardless of customers operator, just the opposite.

”Liiga is a proprietary service that is possible for 
everyone in Finland to watch. So, OTT TV truly has 
many advantages,” says Markus. Liiga is available also 
to Telia’s Swedish TV customers, who can enjoy the 
wonderful games of Finish ice hockey. 

So once again Telia and Edgeware teamed up to take to-
days TV experience into the future. Beyond traditional TV.

”Collaboration with Edgeware has once again been 
really smooth. Both sides have been very proactive 
to help us reach high goals. Being in the front line of 
OTT TV is very important for Telia and this project has 
propelled us to new heights in the evolution of TV. 
Edgeware is truly a partner that has helped us kick off 
a revolution in TV,” finishes Markus Kaseva.

SHORT FACTS

• Telia Finland is broadcasting 500 ice hockey 
games per year.

• Telia Company has been an Edgeware custo-
mer since 2007.

• They are using Edgeware’s TV CDN and hard-
ware servers.
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“We’re delighted to continue to grow our relations-
hip with one of the largest TV providers in Mexico,” 
said Karl Thedéen, CEO at Edgeware. “This project 
is another example of how our existing customers 
continue to enhance their online TV services, adding 
new capacity, capabilities and enhancing their viewers’ 
experience.”

Televisa, Mexico’s largest cable TV operator, conti-
nuously expands and modernizes their services to 
offer greater value to customers. By adding more TV 
CDN capacity in 2018, based on Edgeware’s technolo-
gy, Televisa brings time-shift features to its services.
The expansion will also enable many viewers of its izzi 
TV service to migrate from an older platform and take 
advantage of the new features. The new time-shift 
capabilities are deployed for more than five hundred 
thousand subscribers across 100 channels.
 
“Our viewers expect the best TV service available,” 
said Carlos Eduardo Romero, Video and Hubs Director 
at izzi. “Having the convenience and flexibility to pau-
se and rewind live TV is another example of how onli-
ne TV has moved beyond traditional TV and delivers a 
more engaging viewing experience to our customers.”
 
Televisa has deployed new Edgeware TV Servers to 
increase its capacity, while the new time-shift features 
will also take advantage of existing servers that are 
already deployed in the Televisa network.
 

Being a global and leading cable and satellite TV operator in the Spanish part of the world, 

Televisa is an influential player on the market. Televisa is also a long-term customer of 

Edgeware and in 2018 they expanded the collaboration to add more services to its TV CDN. 

In the latest expansion Televisa launched improved TV services to over 500,000 subscribers on 

100 channels.

TELEVISA EXPANDS TV CDN IN MEXICO 
WITH EDGEWARE SOLUTION 

”HAVING THE CONVENIENCE AND FLEXI-
BILITY TO PAUSE AND REWIND LIVE TV IS 
ANOTHER EXAMPLE OF HOW ONLINE TV 
HAS MOVED BEYOND TRADITIONAL TV AND 
DELIVERS A MORE ENGAGING VIEWING 
EXPERIENCE TO OUR CUSTOMERS.”

CUSTOMER CASE STUDY: TELEVISA, MEXICO                              
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CUSTOMER CASE STUDY: TELEVISA, MEXICO                              

ABOUT TELEVISA
 

Televisa is a leading media company in the Spanish-speaking world, an important cable 

operator in Mexico and an operator of a leading direct-to-home satellite pay television 

system in Mexico. Televisa distributes the content it produces through several broadcast 

channels in Mexico and in over 50 countries through 26 pay-tv brands, and television 

networks, cable operators and over-the-top or “OTT” services.



28 EDGEWARE AB / ANNUAL REPORT 2018

Since the company’s inception, R&D has been at 
the core of Edgeware’s rapid growth in the supply 
of streamed TV. Initially, there was a strong focus on 
ground-breaking hardware solutions. A condition 
for Edgeware’s market-leading position lies in the 
company’s hardware-based TV servers and software, 
which enable decentralised solutions. By controlling 
the entire chain from development of circuit boards 
to the realisation of functions in programmable logic 
and programming of drivers, applications and system 
configurations, the company safeguards its position in 
scalability, determinism and reliability and its oppor-
tunities to be part of the permanent network infra-
structure. 

SOFTWARE FOR GREATER FLEXIBILITY 
Software and cloud solutions are a rapidly growing 
product area for Edgeware. The many initiatives in pro-
gress to increase Edgeware’s share of the value chain 
include offering solutions for customised advertising. 
All services and offerings are now available as software 
options, thus opening up new customer segments. 
The software solutions provide greater flexibility as an 
increasing numbers of industry participants are opening 
themselves up for virtualisation and cloud platforms. 
Cloud-based services provide customers with the possi-
bility of temporarily increasing capacity ahead of major 
events (a football match, for example). At the same 
time, software solutions reduce the capital cost, ena-
bling a gradual build-up of capacity and functionality. 

The software-based solution encompasses vario-
us parts of the value chain: Origin, which includes 
recording, repackaging into the leading formats in the 

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EDGEWARE’S 
HEART AND SOUL

market (DASH, HLS, MSS) and encryption; CDN, with 
recording and time shift of both live and VOD services; 
and Traffic Management and Analytics, which include 
components for data collection and presentation. 

TECHNOLOGY OF THE FUTURE, TODAY 
In 2018, Edgeware developed several new software 
products customised for use in virtualised environme-
nts. Work also continued during the year to further 
develop the functionality in Edgeware’s TV servers 
and R&D worked actively to create software products 
in the cloud. All this was done as part of a concept 
known as hybrid cloud solution – a concept that com-
bines the best of the products operated in a virtuali-
sed manner in data centres and TV servers at the edge 
of the network. 

Edgeware’s R&D also continued to integrate and 
demonstrate ContentArmor’s bitstream-based water-
marking using Edgeware’s TV servers. The technology 
offers strong protection against pirating by including 
information in the video stream that is invisible to the 
viewer, but is sufficiently robust to handle different ty-
pes of recoding. Every viewer therefore has their own 
identifiable version of the content. 

Edgeware continues to provide its market-leading 
4080 server model with 64TB storage capacity and 
80Gbps streaming capacity, including repackaging 
and encryption, that can handle more than 4,000 si-
multaneous incoming TV channels – all pre-packaged 
in a single rack unit. With its low power consumption 
and extremely high reliability, it marks a milestone in 
the develop ment of innovative streaming solutions.
 

As a result of a long-term and determined focus on R&D, Edgeware has created a leading position 

in hardware and software solutions for distribution of TV and video content over the Internet. Key 

success factors are deep-rooted knowledge of the market combined with technological know-how 

and an innovative development environment. 
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STAFFED FOR CUTTING-EDGE INNOVATION 
Product development is managed from the Head 
Office in Stockholm, where 45 people are active in 
product development, the CTO team, and R&D. There 
is also an outsourced development unit in Vietnam 
with 14 employees. 

The R&D function is responsible for executing the 
development plans and objectives established by 
the product organisation and for troubleshooting 
and analysis of temporary problems. Research and 
development is the largest single unit in the company, 
with 36 percent of the overall workforce. The function 
is divided into several teams that are responsible for 
origin, TV CDN, Management & Control, Platform and 
Test & Integration. 

The CTO function focuses on long-term technical 
development and product planning. They receive 
continuous valuable guidance from the sales function 

as well as the operations function with respect to 
customer needs and requests and works proactively to 
predict future requirements and opportunities.
 
The Product Management function focuses on deve-
loping and designing products based on the needs of 
existing customers and on identifying strategic pro-
duct requirements and opportunities based on input 
from the CTO function. 

PATENTS PROVIDE PROTECTION FOR EDGEWARE’S UNIQUENESS
Edgeware’s patent portfolio contains seven patent 
registrations as well as three patents pending. The 
patents cover the core technology in Edgeware’s TV 
servers plus their cache algorithms. The patent stra-
tegy focuses on protecting innovations that are vital 
to Edgeware’s products when they are launched in the 
market. Edgeware focuses continually on innovation, 
and decisions about new patent applications are made 
on a case-by-case basis.

DURING 2018, R&D WORKED ACTIVELY TO CREATE SOFTWARE PRODUCTS IN THE CLOUD
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Interview with Johan Bolin, Chief Product & Tech-

nology Officer och Anders Westin, VP R&D 

HOW DOES EDGEWARE WORK WITH INNOVATION AND INDUSTRY 
LEADERSHIP?

We work intensively with the innovation of ground- 
breaking technical solutions. To an increasingly high 
degree, we are trying to listen to the customers’ 
business developers to become the industry leader. By 
genuinely understanding the market’s commercial pos-
sibilities, we are able to contribute to improving the 
customers’ business. This knowledge helps us to make 
decisions about where we should focus our innovation 
efforts. Our innovation team, Unit-X, is a department 
that gathers all of the company’s expertise from hard-
ware, software and cloud solutions and is assigned to 
be at the cutting edge of innovation. They test new 
ideas with live prototypes and serve as our “invention 
workshop.” An interesting development, for example, 
is that the industry is migrating from major end-to-end 
solutions and is instead looking for specialised ad hoc 
solutions, which are best at their specific part of the TV 
delivery chain. Today, it is more common to specially 
design the piece of the puzzle that is required and 
increasingly store the function in the cloud. The indu-
stry is moving away from large, monolithic platforms 
toward cutting-edge special tools. For a technology 
company like Edgeware, that puts even greater de-
mands on short innovation cycles. We must be fast in 
all respects in launching new products in the market.

ON WHAT AREAS DID EDGEWARE PLACE EXTRA FOCUS IN 2018?
We are proud to have launched the next generation of 
origin solutions, which is the key component in the TV 
chain and makes video playable on a large number of 
different platforms and formats. This is software that 
also enables advertising-financed business models, with 
precise and dynamic ad insertion. There has been a 
strong customer response to the launch. 

We are also continuing to accelerate our progress in TV 
and video over Internet with our OTT initiatives. The 
shift from traditional TV via satellite and cable is now 
moving rapidly and the strong growth is within online 
TV, where we have a newly developed and attractive 
offering. In parallel, we need to continue offering ra-
zor-sharp solutions in, for example, IPTV, for which there 
are still large user groups in the world. We must invest 
in the future and ensure that we are cutting-edge in the 
present.

IN 2018, EDGEWARE LAUNCHED CLOUD-BASED SOFTWARE. 
WHY?
Because the time is ripe and the market demand for 
cloud solutions is increasingly strong. Following a ten-
tative start for the industry, it is evident that a growing 
portion of the TV chain will end up in the cloud and 
that the process is moving rapidly now. We are challen-
ging our industry with razor-sharp cloud solutions and 
endeavouring to be at the leading edge of the distribu-
tion of TV in the cloud. Initially, we will place origin in 
the cloud, which will produce such benefits as: 1. The 
customers will gain an elastic solution that can grow in 
line with their traffic trend, cost-effectively and with no 
physical limitations; 2. The customers do not need to 
invest in their own servers and data centres and always 
have access to the most recent version of the software; 
3. Our innovation is moving even faster in the cloud 

TECH TALK – FOR THE TV OF THE FUTURE

Innovation and technology at the cutting edge of development are guiding lights for Edgeware. 

The objective is to predict the TV and video needs of operators and content owners to be able to 

offer the market’s best technology and competitive advantages. Edgeware has made significant 

investments in its development and product divisions, which are passionate about innovation.
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TECH TALK WITH EDGEWARE’S JOHAN BOLIN, CHIEF PRODUCT & TECHNOLOGY OFFICER, AND ANDERS WESTIN, VP R&D

be handled by hardware and software that can contri-
bute to successful business models. On the question 
of WHO is mainly controlling the development of the 
TV of the future, it is primarily the content owners who 
have the greatest motivation to drive the developme-
nt. To name some trendsetting players, YouTube and 
Netflix are leaders and in Sweden, Bonnier and TV4 
are players making major investments in streaming and 
internet services and are reshaping the market.

AND FINALLY: WHAT IS MOST IMPORTANT FOR EDGEWARE IN 
ITS HUNT FOR CONTINUED LEADERSHIP?
Our continued success is determined by our ability 
to research, innovate, test, fail and succeed in deve-
loping products for the TV and video of the future. 
As stated previously, much of the reason for our 
continued success lies in genuinely being close to the 
customers and fully understanding their commercial 
challenges and opportunities. This is also a race for 
our customers, with intense competition, and they 
need our help to be innovative and even disruptive. 
We will not only fulfil our customers’ wishes, but also 
encourage questions and answers on how the best TV 
and video experiences of the future are to be delive-
red. Quite simply, proactively assisting our customers 
to be at the forefront of technology.

using today’s flexible and modern software design. 
The next step is for us to launch this as a cloud service 
under Software as a Service. Undoubtedly, the distribu-
tion of software will revolutionise the possibilities in the 
cloud.

BUT NOW TO THE BIGGER PICTURE. WHO IS CONTROLLING THE 
DEVELOPMENT OF THE TV OF THE FUTURE?
Apart from major live broadcasts, which continue to 
have their attraction and pull in audiences of millions 
for live sport and entertainment, traditional scheduled 
linear TV viewing is going to decline. The trend toward 
even more interactive TV experiences continues to in-
crease in line with technology development, more data 
power and more broadband access solutions. In pace 
with this, data volumes are exploding and demands 
on the distribution networks are increasing. Increasing 
numbers of services on the Internet are created and 
are based on video, such as E-sport or social media, 
which generate massive volumes of video content and 
consumer-generated content. Examples of this are such 
online games as Fortnite, Fifa, League of Legends and 
the video service musical.ly, where millions of teenagers 
create “TV content”. All of these volumes of video must 
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ced team in Vietnam, who support research and 
development. 

LEADERSHIP AND EMPLOYEESHIP 
Feeling pride in your work and getting along with your 
colleagues are keys to success. In its 2018 employee 
survey, for the second consecutive year, Edgeware 
demonstrated a high level of satisfaction and extremely 
strong ambassadorship. A full 92 percent are highly 
satisfied with Edgeware as an employer. 
An important part of being an attractive workplace 
is the existence of a thorough interest in understan-
ding how employees perceive their workplace: what 
they appreciate, what they’re missing, and what they 
think could be better. During 2018, Edgeware worked 
extensively to harmonise and develop more uniform 
HR processes and a global HR policy. We have also 
devoted greater effort to our work environment initi-
ative and appointed employee representatives who 

Edgeware is a company with a Swedish head offi-
ce, international operations and a global presence. 
Accordingly, Edgeware’s employees are present on 
several continents and speak more than 25 langu-
ages. A strong shared culture helps our employees 
to have the same goals and vision. At Edgeware, 
diversity is an important part of the business culture. 
Diversity provides perspective and enables increased 
creativity. For a global company, it is crucial that our 
organisation reflects our customers and understands 
local markets and cultures. Equality, alongside diver-
sity, is a natural part of Edgeware’s business culture. A 
balanced workplace with a mix of men and women is 
important for a contented work climate. Our ambi-
tion is to gradually attract more women to positions, 
primarily in technological development. The number 
of employees was 99 at the end of 2018, of whom 86 
were men and 13 women. In addition, Edgeware has 
a number of consultants hired, including an outsour-

HR – EMBRACING AND DRIVING CHANGE  

A strong contributing factor to Edgeware’s success is motivated employees who enjoy their 

work, develop, and work on things they are passionate about – employees who grow and suc-

ceed with the company.

IN JANUARY 2019 AT THE COMPANY KICK OFF IN STOCKHOLM, ”THE EDGAR AWARDS” WERE INTRODUCED 
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addition, internal information was intensified through 
monthly meetings with presentations by management 
and employees.

AN ATTRACTIVE AND HEALTHY WORKPLACE
Edgeware’s philosophy is that employees who feel 
well, perform well. Contributing to a healthy lifestyle, 
with the support of both healthcare allowances and 
medical care insurance, is self-evident for the company. 
Edgeware’s ambition is to promote health and wellbe-
ing, during and outside working hours, and to this end, 
it conducted joint health and exercise activities such 
as the running event Stafesten and the cycling event 
Cykelvasan during the year. In addition, there is great 
interest in cycling at the Stockholm office, which is why 
Edgeware invested in bicycle parking to encourage 
more employees to commute to work on bicycles. In 
2019, Edgeware will more closely define and develop-
ment proactive health efforts in the company. Overall, 
the low level of sickness absence – 1.4 percent – shows 
that initiatives related to healthcare allowances, exerci-
se and health benefit everybody. 

are members of a work environment committee. They 
represent the various office areas and work proactively 
to improve the physical and psychosocial work environ-
ment. In addition, during the year, Edgeware develo-
ped a whistleblower service that provides employees 
with a possibility of reporting, in an integrity-preserving 
manner, anonymously or through a manager, if they 
have a suspicion or something is not in line with the 
company’s values or business ethics. 

PERSONAL DEVELOPMENT CREATES COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGES 
Be flexible, act quickly, think ahead and drive change. 
Be open, modest and learn to improve continuously. 
With these guiding lights, an environment is created 
in which talented employees give each other the 
possibility to grow and develop as individuals. With 
increased internal knowledge-sharing, employees are 
inspired to aim for increased creativity for themselves 
and their colleagues. Edgeware conducts regular dia-
logues between employees and managers to motivate 
employees to develop in line with their role and the 
company’s goals. In 2018, department information 
meetings were launched, so-called “stand-ups”, to 
strengthen the bonds between professional roles and 
increase knowledge-sharing between departments. In 

IN AUGUST, EDGEWARE PARTICIPATED IN THE RUNNING COMPETITION ”STAFESTEN” WITH THREE TEAMS

Edgeware sponsors 
Doctors without borders
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MEET THREE EDGEWARE EMPLOYEES

ANNIKA NORIN – CFO
STOCKHOLM 

 

WHAT DO YOU DO AT EDGEWARE?
From January 2019, I have the position of 
CFO (Chief Financial Officer) with overall 
responsibility for the company’s finan-
ces. Prior to that, I worked as a Financial 
Controller with responsibility for interim 
reports, year-end reports, compliance 
issues and ensuring effective control of 
financial transactions. To summarise – I 
work with numbers and I love it.

WHY DID YOU JOIN EDGEWARE?
Edgeware is an exciting company in a 
growing and rapidly changing market. I 
can see examples of this in my own close 
circle because my teenage daughter and 
my young adult daughter only watch 
streamed TV and video – never TV accor-
ding to the old TV schedules. I like fast-
growing companies where the decisions 
are fast and the actions even faster. 

WHAT IS THE MOST ENJOYABLE PART OF 
YOUR JOB?
The opportunity to contribute to an 
exciting company at the same time as 
learning new things, every day. I like 
to be able to contribute to new, smart 
and efficient processes that develop the 
company. The field of accounting is also 
constantly evolving and new issues arise, 
so there is always new knowledge to tap 
into and new processes to implement. 
Having wonderful colleagues is the icing 
on the cake. It is important to have fun on 
all levels in life, also at work.

MATTHEW HO – DIRECTOR 
SOLUTIONS ARCHITECTURE APAC

 

WHO ARE YOU AND WHAT IS YOUR PERSO-
NAL MOTTO?
My name is Matthew Ho and I work in 
Hong Kong, the financial capital of Asia. 
I previously worked for Nortel Canada, 
Rogers Cable Canada and Harmonic 
Hong Kong. My personal motto is “Inno-
vating to win”. Innovation and inventive-
ness is not merely about products, but 
also surrounding systems and genuinely 
understanding the customers’ needs 
and possibilities. It is important for me 
to both stay focused and have the ability 
to think outside the box in order to win 
business. Winning business in my region, 
in particular, is fun and stimulating.

WHAT DO YOU DO AT EDGEWARE?
I am responsible for solution architectu-
re for APAC, based in Hong Kong. My 
responsibility is to secure business for 
Edgeware in the region. 

WHY DID YOU JOIN EDGEWARE?
I became tired of working for large and 
sluggish companies and I feel much bet-
ter in a fast-moving, free and innovative 
business culture. I am surfing the large 
and powerful wave of IPTV and liberated 
myself from sluggish and cumbersome 
companies. It’s great.

WHAT IS THE MOST ENJOYABLE PART OF 
YOUR JOB?
Actually knowing everyone in the 
company is enjoyable and valuable, 
despite the fact that geographically I 
work miles away from most of them. I 
like the Swedish culture and the direct 
and free communication and style of the 
Scandinavians. My voice is heard and I 
make a difference!

SANDRA APONTE – TRAINING &
DEMONSTRATION MANAGER, USA   

 

WHO ARE YOU?
I was born in Colombia, I am married and 
have three children. My personal motto 
is “Carpe Diem”. You need to enjoy all 
of the moments and get the most out of 
every day. I challenge myself to have fun, 
dare to test my limits and at the same 
time, be an inspiration to other people. 
My family is the centre of my world and 
they give me the strength to give energy 
to others. I live according to the motto 
“life is lived in three days – blink twice 
and it’s over”….so make sure you get the 
best out of it.

WHAT DO YOU DO AT EDGEWARE?
I train and develop Edgeware customers. 
This, of course, involves our products, 
but also the developments in the future 
of IPTV. It is important that our partners 
get the very best out of our solutions and 
products. I often visit new customers and 
train them in conjunction with installations 
of our systems. I also help our teams in pre 
and post-sales. Because I live in the US, I 
now focus mainly on training customers in 
South America and the US.

WHY DID YOU JOIN EDGEWARE?
I worked as Team Leader at Ericsson for 
14 years, and got in touch with Edgeware 
quite early on. After I had left Ericsson 
and tried running my own company in 
Colombia in 2012, I heard about an ope-
ning at Edgeware. Joining Edgeware was 
an easy choice since I strongly believed in 
the company. 
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THE EDGEWARE PURPOSE
WE DEVELOP EXPERTISE, SYSTEMS AND SERVICES ENABLING OUR COSTUMERS TO DELIVER A NEW GENERATION OF 
AMAZING ONLINE TV, BY FOSTERING INNOVATION AND SHARING KNOW-HOW.

EDGEWARE VALUES
In 2018 Edgeware staff and management developed 
and launched a new platform of values. The platform 
points out and explains values that guide staff in every 
day collaboration with one another and with customers. 
The purpose is to strengthen Edgewares growth.

CUSTOMER FIRST 
• Always listen and be responsive to the customer

• Understand customer business to help customers 
make the correct choices 

• We are honest, open and transparent 

EXPERTISE 
• Always improve the knowledge in your area of 

expertise 

• Descisions are based on facts and data

• We want to understand our products and 
needs of our customers 

INNOVATION
• Challenge status quo 

• Willing to take calculated risk to win and learn 
from mistakes 

• Be commited to quality

TEAM SPIRIT 

• Build trust in teams by showing respect, 
share knowledge, listen and act promptly 
on actions 

• Treat everyone equally

• Dare to raise your voice, if something 
feels wrong to you and accept constructi-
ve feedback

• Have fun together

OWNERSHIP 

• Act with passion and a sense of urgency 

• Take initiative and own tasks until solved

• Slim processes, clear roles & responsibilities 

• Keep it simple, do not over-complicate 
things



EDGEWARE 2004–2018

2004. FOUNDATION LAID 
FROM NEW MARKET REQUIREMENT 
Edgeware was founded in 2004 by Joachim 
Roos, Lukas Holm and Kalle Henriksson, 
who had seen how linear TV viewing – 
viewing scheduled programming – was 
slowly but surely being replaced by 
video-on-demand (VOD), which allows 
viewers to control their TV experience. 
They realised that this trend was generat-
ing an enormous increase in the data being 
delivered over the networks. Their vision 
was to find a solution that could effectively 
handle this increase in delivered data. The 
solution, they realised, was to store data far 
out on the “edge” of the networks, which 
is where the name Edgeware comes from. 

2005. THE COMPANY EMERGED 

In 2005, the foundation was laid for 
Edgeware’s offering, and the TV ser-
vices of the future started to emerge. 
By storing video data far out on 
at the edge of the networks, with 
servers based on Flash memories, 
considerable benefits were created 
for the operators. At its offices in 
Hammarbyhamnen in Stockholm, 
a business plan and products 
emerged, as did the company. 
Edgeware had eight employees.

2007. STRATEGIC CUSTOMER BREAKTHROUGH 
Edgeware won several tenders in com-
petition with industry heavyweights, and 
rumours spread about the Swedish start-up 
company at the cutting edge of technol-
ogy. Following the first transaction with 
the Finnish company Maxisat, the contract 
with a capital C was secured when Telia 
chose Edgeware’s concept. It was a key 
component in Telia’s initiative to offer 
300,000 subscribers the On-Demand TV 
of the future to linear TV customers. An 
agreement was subsequently secured with 
the Danish cable operator Stofa, who be-
came Edgeware’s first deployed customer. 
Edgeware had 12 employees and sales of 
SEK 13 million.
 

2009. INTERNATIONAL MARKET 
EXPANSION
By 2009, Edgeware had built up an 
international CV including telcoms 
and cable operators. By establishing 
a subsidiary in the US, Edgeware was 
able to cultivate the world’s largest 
market for TV services. During the 
year, Edgeware won a tender to 
develop infrastructure for the US firm 
Zillion, a predecessor to Netflix. An-
other gigantic leap out into the global 
market was taken in 2009 when, for 
example, one of India’s largest cable 
operators selected Edgeware’s prod-
ucts. Edgeware had 25 employees 
and sales of SEK 23 million. 

2010. SALES DOUBLED
In 2010, sales rose from SEK 23 million to SEK 
54 million. The business became more profes-
sional, and both customer support and mar-
keting were developed. An additional tender 
and an order that remains prestigious today 
was secured with Belgian telecom company 
Belgacom (now Proximus). Edgeware had yet 
again secured a major contract with a large-
scale operator and passed another milestone 
in the company’s journey of growth. Edgeware 

had 31 employees and sales of SEK 54 million. 
ch omsatte 55 miljoner kronor. 

2006. SHAREHOLDER CONTRIBUTIONS AND 
GROWING INTEREST 

2006 became the true start for Edgeware. 
The VC companies Creandum and Amade-
us invested in the company’s development, 
Edgeware recruited personnel and began 
manufacturing product prototypes and pre-se-
ries. During the same year, a market break-
through came at the IBC Fair in Amsterdam, 
when Edgeware launched its innovative video 
server. Edgeware had eight employees and 
sales of SEK 100,000.

 

2008. TELIA WENT LIVE 

In 2008, Edgeware gained a new partner in the US company Micron. Telia 
went live with Edgeware’s technology, thus contributing to Telia’s rapid 
growth in TV On Demand. In 2008, Nortel Networks became an international 
distributor, following which systems suppliers, such as Alcatel-Lucent and 
Ericsson, were added. At the end of 2008, a subsidiary was established in the 
US. Technology to stream TV over the open Internet started to be developed 

during the year. Edgeware had 18 employees and sales of SEK 10 million. 

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
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2012. RECORD CDN TRANSACTION 

Expansion continued in 2012, and the company recruited 24 new employees. 
Edgeware secured its largest order to date in TV CDN and concluded a series of 
important transactions internationally. These included deliveries to one of Switzer-
land’s leading operators in the deployment of IPTV services and VOD services to 
Starman, an Estonian cable operator. Edgeware had 58 employees and sales of SEK 
134 million. 

2013. INCREASED FOCUS ON DIRECT 
SALES 

In 2013, transactions were con-
cluded via Ericsson and Nokia 
Siemens, for example, with two 
large telecom operators in Spain 
and the Nordic region. A retailer 
agreement was signed with Nagra 
and systems were sold to, among 
others, Euskaltel, a Spanish cable 
operator. In 2013, Ericsson exited 
from its partnership after buying 
out a competitor, and Edgeware 
initiated its transition towards an 
increase in direct sales, a devel-
opment that resulted in increased 
control and proximity to custom-
ers. Edgeware had 64 employees 
and sales of SEK 128 million. 

2014. ASIAN AND LATIN AMERICAN 
EXPANSION 

The expansion process into Asia was 
strengthened in 2014. In connection 
with signing a contract with PCCW in 
Hong Kong, an office was established 
in the city. With its own sales and 
service personnel, the Asian expansion 
was strengthened. To gain an even 
firmer foothold in Latin America as 
well, a partnership was entered into 
with middleware company Mirada, 
and a transaction was completed with 
Televisa, a Mexican telecom operator. 
Edgeware had 63 employees and sales 
of SEK 148 million.

2015. SEK 200 MILLION PASSED 
Edgeware grew by 35 percent. A 
key tender was won with TVB in 
Hong Kong concerning a build-
out of OTT (Over the Internet), 
which served as a valuable 
reference customer in the Asian 
expansion. A large European 
betting distributor selected 
Edgeware’s solution for its launch 
of online betting. 
 The initiative in Mexico was 
strengthened through the 
addition of sales and service 
personnel, in part to support the 
launch of Televisa’s services. 
 Edgeware had 80 employees 

and sales of SEK 204 million. 

2017. CONTINUED INTERNATIONAL 
EXPANSION 

International expansion with increased 
sales forces in selected markets. 
Launch of a new partner program for 
retailers and technology partners. 
Edgeware had 112 employees and 
sales of SEK 236.8 million. More 
new products than ever before were 
launched during the year: TV Water-
marker, Edge TV Repackager, CDN 
Selector and a software-based alterna-
tive to hardware servers. 

2016. GROWTH AND STOCK LISTING 

During 2016, a large number of both new 
transactions and upgrades for existing cus-
tomers were completed. New markets such 
as Australia were penetrated, and Edgeware 
launched its customer promise “Let’s make 
TV amazing again.” Edgeware’s Board of Di-
rectors was strengthened and the company’s 
shares were listed on Nasdaq Stockholm on 9 
December, injecting additional power for con-
tinued global market expansion. Edgeware 
had 92 employees, grew 24 percent and had 
sales of SEK 252 million.

2011. SEK 100 MILLION PASSED  
Seven years after its inception, the 
company passed sales of SEK 100 
million, after a strong year of growth 
with sales rising 100 percent, driven 
by a number of strategic trans-
actions. Retail collaboration with 
Ericsson contributed to rapid inter-
nationalisation. Edgeware’s CDN 
solution was launched in 2011 and 
sold to Jazztel, a Spanish telecom 
operator. Edgeware had 34 employ-

ees and sales of SEK 106 million.012. 
REKORDAFFÄR INOM CDN 

2018. EXTENDED PRODUCT PORTFOLIO
A new container based origin solution for the 
cloud was presented, including the award winning 
Ad Enabler for personalised ads, with Com 
Hem as the first customer. A decision to acquire 
Swedish subtitling specialist Cavena was made. 
Edgeware registered its own subsidiary in Hong 
Kong to enable greater focus on Asia and won its 
first order from a Chinese 
customer. Edgeware had 
99 employees and a  
turnover of 232 

million SEK.
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TRAVEL
Edgeware owns no company vehicles. Much of the 
company’s business travel is within Sweden and the 
main modes of transport for this are the Arlanda Ex-
press airport train as well as air or rail travel. However, 
most business travel abroad is made by air. Bookings 
are made through HRG Travel, which has provided Ed-
geware with continuous reports on CO2 emissions since 
2017. In recent years, the number of journeys has decli-
ned and, accordingly, so have CO2 emissions, which 
is shown in the emissions diagram on this page. For 
instance, emissions of carbon dioxide has decreased 
by 22 percent between 2017 and 2018. This is a result 
of increasing and more structured use of professional 
videoconferencing using Skype for Business, which has 
been introduced. Also during 2018, the online platform 
Learnify was launched for internal and external training, 
a feature that reduces time-consuming travel that also 
has an impact on the environment. The company’s new 
travel policy encourages better economising when tra-
velling and even more efficient planning when travel is 
undertaken. For example, a minimum of two customer 
meetings are required for a trip to be approved, with a 

 

1. ENVIRONMENT

Although the company’s environmental impact can 
generally be regarded as limited, Edgeware works 
continuously on environmental issues relating to the 
regulation of products and operations. An audit of the 
operation’s activities and processes was conducted 
to identify relevant environmental aspects. Below is a 
summary of the areas considered to have the largest 
environmental and sustainability impact.

PRODUCTS
Edgeware’s main product is its self-built TV ser-
vers, which thus comprise Edgeware’s single largest 
“environmental impact” in terms of manufacturing. 
Compared with ordinary hard disk-based servers, Ed-
geware’s products have higher performance, take up 
less space and do not have the same need for cooling. 
Overall, this provides major environmental benefits in 
the form of lower energy consumption, reduced space 
requirements, less energy consumption in the form of 
cooling, and longer service life. At full streaming load, 
Edgeware’s servers use about 100 watts – that is about 
a fifth of the electricity used by other servers. The 
low use of energy is attributable to the server being 
based on Flash memories and not energy-demanding 
hard and SSD disks. The product is assembled by 
Edgeware’s environmentally certified supplier Orbit-
One in Ronneby and Huddinge, Sweden. Toshiba, 
which is also quality and environmentally certified, is 
the supplier of the product’s central Flash memories. 
Wherever Edgeware supplies standard servers, these 
are provided by Hewlett Packard Enterprise. Edgeware 
complies with all relevant regulatory demands regar-
ding energy consumption and product labelling.

EDGEWARE’S SUSTAINABILITY WORK 2018

Edgeware is not currently subject to the requirement to publish a sustainability report. Nonethe-
less, in 2018, the company conducted internal work to comply with and expand its efforts in the 
area of sustainability and to meet a satisfactory level of rule compliance in all relevant areas. The 
aim is to prepare the company for a future sustainability report. The work currently being con-
ducted in the areas of environment, employee matters and finance and corporate governance are 
presented below. Rules, processes and objectives are described in greater detail in the company’s 
Code of Conduct, Environmental Policy, Equal Opportunities Plan, Communication Policy and the 
Corporate Governance Report.

RESOURCE CONSUMPTION AND EMISSONS FROM AIR TRAVEL
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2017 H2
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maximum of three participants from Edgeware. Apart 
from business travel and supplier transports, travel com-
prises the employees’ trips to and from work. However, 
these trips are small in terms of emissions, since most 
of the employees use public transport or cycle, which is 
encouraged by Edgeware with the possibility of practi-
cal, free bicycle parking in the garage under the Head 
Office in Stockholm. There is also the possibility to work 
remotely/from home using a VPN connection. 
 
OFFICES, ENERGY & ADJACENT ENVIRONMENT
Edgeware’s head office is located in one of Vasakro-
nan’s “Hötorget skyscrapers” in central Stockholm. 
Vasakronan’s sustainability report complies with the 
guidelines contained from the international organi-
sation, the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) and as of 
2017, is prepared according to the GRI Standards at 
the Core application level. Vasakronan aims to operate 
its entire business sustainably. Since 2015, Edgeware 
has purchased Bra EL (green electricity) from Fortum, 
based on 100-percent renewable energy, using hydro 
and wind-generated electricity. In 2018, Edgeware’s 
other office was located at Business Sweden in Hong 
Kong. In late 2018, the business transitioned to its own 
operation in a separate company and to a new office 
for about ten employees. Environmentally labelled and 
fair-trade labelled products are the first choice in the 
purchase of office materials, consumables and food. 

WASTE
Edgeware complies with the EU WEEE directive 
(Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment) for sen-
ding products and taking back products. Edgeware’s 
servers have a long life span and when they are re-
placed by new ones or are to be scrapped, Edgeware 
offers to take back the product free of charge for 
responsible recycling. Edgeware offers a trade-in for 
customers who upgrade or replace their systems, 
which gives the customers a financial incentive to 
send their servers back. Edgeware recycles and 
reuses spare parts from returned servers. Property 
manager Vasakronan has full responsibility for the 
waste from Edgeware’s head office in Stockholm.

EDGEWARE’S SELF-BUILT TV SERVER USES A FIFTH OF THE ENERGY USED BY STANDARD HARDWARE

SOLD AND COLLECTED IT TELECOM EQUIPMENT IN EU (WEEE)
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ties and prerequisites for development. The result of 
our annual review and analysis of salaries and salary 
differences between women and men demonstrates 
that Edgeware has an equal salary policy. There are 
no gender-related salary differences and any salary 
differences are based on a person’s experience, results 
and type of position. 

GENDER DISTRIBUTION
Edgeware comprises mainly male employees. This is 
primarily attributable to the fact that the operation 
predominantly involves the development of technical 
equipment in the video segment. Already at university 
level, the overwhelming majority are men who apply 
for the educational programmes that are the basis for 
the competence necessary to conduct development 
work at Edgeware, unfortunately adding to the twisted 
gender distribution. In order to correct the uneven 
gender distribution, as far as possible, a conscious 
effort is being made to increase the recruitment of 
women in general to the company and in particular, 
in research and development. In concrete terms, this 
means that relevant competence and experience is 

2. EMPLOYEES/SOCIAL ENVIRONMENT

One of the most important factors for success is 
motivated employees who enjoy their work, improve 
themselves, and work on things they’re passionate 
about. At Edgeware, diversity and equality are a 
key part of the business culture. Diversity provides 
perspective and contributes to increased creativity, 
while equality is a requirement for a sustainable work 
climate. It is a decisive factor for a global company 
that the organisation reflects its customers and has an 
understanding for differences, local conditions and 
cultural differences.

EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES PLAN
Edgeware has a responsibility to work actively with 
equality issues. One aspect of this work is that we 
continuously prepare and adopt an action plan for 
equality issues.
 
All people have equal value and everyone deserves, 
regardless of gender and origin, the same opportuni-

EDGEWARE HAS AN EQUAL SALARY POLICY AND IS MAKING A CONSCIOUS EFFORT TO INCREASE THE RECRUITMENT OF WOMEN 
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necessary prioritised in recruitment. However, when 
competence and experience are the same, a female 
applicant will take preference. 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING
Feeling pride in your work, getting along with your 
colleagues and having the opportunity for personal 
development are the keys to sustainable employee-
ship. The annual employee survey demonstrates a 
high level of satisfaction and extremely strong ambas-
sadorship. A full 92 percent are highly satisfied with 
Edgeware as an employer. This is excellent confirma-
tion that builds on the philosophy that employees who 
feel well, perform well. That is why Edgeware actively 
provides the basis for this in the form of generous 
healthcare allowances and medical care insurance. 
Goals are established for employee development 
using a process for employee dialogues, the Heart 
Pace system, and these are followed up continuously. 
Heart Pace, is a new process for employee dialogue 
making follow up and standardization of goals easier, 
strengthening personal development and leadership. 
Additionally, a framework for skills development that 
motivates employees to develop in line with their 
role and the company’s goals was launched in 2017. 
During 2018, as described earlier, the online plat-
form Learnify was launched for internal and external 
training, a feature that reduces time-consuming travel 
that also has an impact on the environment. This 
system makes it easier to train employees, as well as 
customers and partners, throughout the world.

92%
OF EMPLOYEES ARE HIGHLY  
SATISFIED WITH EDGEWARE  

AS AN EMPLOYER

3. FINANCE/CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Edgeware’s Code of Conduct is the company’s central 
communications tool for providing information about 
and complying with the guidelines and rules required 
of Edgeware employees. These rules are based on the 
United Nations (UN) Global Compact.
Edgeware has several layers of stakeholders in the 
value chain, with the most important being employ-
ees, investors, cooperative partners and suppliers.
 
BUSINESS ETHICS AND CODE OF CONDUCT 
Business must always be conducted in accordance 
with applicable legislation and principles. Edgeware’s 
basic principles for sound business ethics are descri-
bed in the business ethics guidelines in the company’s 
Code of Conduct. Edgeware includes business ethics 
clauses in its customers contracts and partnership 
agreements.
  
ANTI-CORRUPTION WORK 
Edgeware has zero tolerance of corruption, including 
unlawful influence, unlawful benefits and other forms 
of unethical action.
 
The guidelines follow applicable legislation and the 
Swedish Anti-Corruption Institute’s guidance code 
regarding gifts, rewards and other benefits in the 
business sector (also known as the Code of Business 
Conduct). 

The company has implemented training programmes 
with its employees on the anti-corruption and business 
ethics guidelines. Edgeware plans to undertake further 
training courses also using the newly launched tool for 
e-learning, Learnify. During 2018, a newly developed 
whistleblower function was launched to encourage 
and simplify the reporting of breaches of the com-
pany’s ethics guidelines. There were no reported or 
suspected cases of corruption or breach of Edgewares 
ethical guidelines in 2018.

INFORMATION AND SECURITY FOR PERSONAL DATA 
In 2018, Edgeware implemented adaptations and 
completely complied with the new GDPR legislation 
that has applied since 25 May 2018. Edgeware’s HR 
and CRM systems are adapted for GDPR. 
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THE SHARE AND SHAREHOLDERS

Shareholder Number of shares Shares and voting rights, %

1 Amadeus Capital Partners 6,937,694 23.1%

2 Nordea Funds 2,825,208 9.4%

3 Creandum 2,630,347 8.8%

4 Swedbank Robur Funds 2,600,000 8.7%

5 AMF Insurance & Funds 1,100,000 3.7%

6 ÖstVäst Capital Management 1,084,694 3.6%

7 Catella Funds 915,608 3.0%

8 LMK companies & foundation 780,000 2.6%

9 Öhman Funds 671,296 2.2%

10 DNB Funds 665,137 2.2%

11 Unionen-Swedish 600,000 2.0%

12 Joachim Roos 504,091 1.7%

13 Aktia Asset Management 480,000 1.6%

14 Avanza Pension 416,265 1.4%

15 Lukas Holm Invest AB 335,507 1.1%

16 Kalle Henriksson Invest AB 315,485 1.1%

17 SEB Trygg Life 300,939 1.0%

18 Nordnet Pension Insurance 296,457 1.0%

19 Handelsbanken Life Insurance AB 283,290 0.9%

20 Skandia Funds 221,639 0.7%

Total top 20  23,963,657

Others  6,079,351

Total  30,043,008

Source: Monitor of Modular Finance AB as per 31 Dec 2018. Data has been compiled and processed from, among others, Euroclear, Morningstar 

and the Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority.  

During 2018, Edgeware’s share price varied between 
SEK 10.56 and SEK 36.25. The closing price on the 
last day of trading in December 2018 was SEK 12.20. 
Edgeware’s market capitalisation on 31 December 
2018 was SEK 367 million. The number of Edgeware 

shareholders on 31 December 2018 was 3,214. For-
eign shareholders accounted for some 31.4 percent of 
the voting rights. As per 31 December 2018, Edge-
ware’s share capital amounted to SEK 1,502,150.40, 
represented by 30,043,008 shares, of which Class C 
shares accounted for 100 percent.
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GEOGRAPHIC BREAKDOWN, SHARE CAPITAL CATEGORIES, SHARE CAPITAL

Source: Monitor of Modular Finance AB as per 31 Dec 2018.  
Data has been compiled and processed from, among others, 
Euroclear, Morningstar and the Swedish Financial Supervisory 
Authority.

Source: Monitor of Modular Finance AB as per 31 Dec 2018.  
Data has been compiled and processed from, among others, 
Euroclear, Morningstar and the Swedish Financial Supervisory 
Authority.

Number ofshares
Proportion of 

shareholders, % Share capital, %

1–500 67.1 1.2

501–1,000 11.7 1.1

1,001–5,000 15.3 3.9

5,001–10,000 2.9 2.4

10,001–50,000 2.1 4.5

50,001–100,000 0.2 1.2

100,001–500,000 0.4 11.4

500,001–1,000,000 0.2 13.8

1,000,001–5,000,000 0.2 34.1

5,000,001– 0.0 23.1

Anonymous ownership N/A N/A

Total 100 100

Total number of shareholders and shares: 3,214 30,043,008

 
Source: Monitor of Modular Finance AB as per 31 Dec 2018.  
Data has been compiled and processed from, among others, Euroclear, Morningstar and the Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority.
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MULTI-YEAR OVERVIEW
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Net sales by region
EMEA 161.5 163.9 188.7 135.8 128.5

AMERICAS 48.4 37.1 41.3 55.3 13.2

APAC 22.0 35.8 22.2 12.5 6.5

Net sales 231.9 236.8 252.2 203.6 148.2

Net sales by sales category
Products 175.9 182.9 208.1 167.9 118.7

Services 55.9 53.9 44.1 35.7 29.5

     Of which: Support 48.4 45.3 37.2 32.6 26.7

     Of which: Professional Services 7.5 8.6 6.9 3.1 2.8

Net sales 231.9 236.8 252.2 203.6 148.2

Gross profit* 160.2 176.3 175.6 140.9 106.7

Gross margin, %* 69.1% 74.4% 69.6% 69.2% 72.0%

Operating expenses* -169.4 -164.5 -156.5 -127.6 -93.7

Operating expenses/Net sales, %* -73.0% -69.5 -62.0% -62.7% -63.2%

EBIT* -9.1 11.8 19.1 13.3 13.0

Operating margin, % (EBIT)* -3.9% 5.0% 7.6% 6.5% 8.8%

EBITDA* 4.7 23.7 29.0 19.3 17.2

EBITDA margin (%)* 2.0% 10.0% 11.5% 9.5% 11.6%

Adjusted EBIT* -9.1 11.8 34.3 13.3 13.0

Adjusted EBIT margin, %* -3.9% 5.0% 13.6% 6.5% 8.8%

Adjusted EBITDA* 4.7 23.7 44.2 19.3 17.2

Adjusted EBITDA margin, %* 2.0% 10.0% 17.5% 9.5% 11.6%

Profit/Loss for the period after tax -6.6 7.5 15.7 10.8 10.7

Net margin, profit/loss for the period after tax, %* 2.8% 3.2% 6.2% 5.3% 7.3%

Total assets 319.9 311.7 309.9 136.0 106.0

Equity attributable to the parent company’s share-

holders 238.1 244.7

234.1

68.3 60.3

Equity/assets ratio, %* 74.4% 78.5% 75.5% 50.2%   48.9%

Return on equity (ROE)* -2.7% 3.1% 10.4% 16.8% 19.2%

Equity per share, before dilution* 7.9 8.1 9.4 2.8 4.6

Earnings per share before dilution (Note 16) -0.2 0.2 0.6 0.5 0.8

Return on operating capital (ROOC), % -3.8% 5.1% 12.6% 20.7% 23.2%

Return on capital employed (ROCE), % -1.9% 4.3% 7.8% 10.9% 18.0%

Cash flow from operating activities 11.6 -2.7 45.1 15.3 7.3

Cash flow for the period -4.9 -97.0 171.3 5.3 2.7

Number of employees at year-end1) 99 112 92 89 71

Of whom, women 13 10 11 12 8

1)  Employees: Included in the number of employees at 31 December are 14 (17) persons employed through Business Sweden, as well as consultants with employ-
ment-like agreements 7 (10). 

*) Alternative performance measures not defined according to IFRS. See definitions of ratios on pages 46-47.
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DEFINITIONS

EMEA Europe, Middle East and Africa.
APAC Asia and Pacific region.
AMERICAS North and South America.
Gross profit Net sales less cost of goods and services sold.
Gross margin Gross profit as a percentage of net sales.
EBIT Operating income before financial items and taxes.
Operating margin % EBIT in relation to net sales.
EBITDA EBIT before depreciation/amortisation and impairment.
EBITDA margin % EBITDA as a percentage of net sales.
Return on equity (ROE) Profit for the period as a percentage of adjusted equity (equity plus the equity portion 
of untaxed reserves).
Adjusted equity Equity plus the equity portion of untaxed reserves.
Equity/assets ratio Adjusted equity in relation to total assets.
Number of shares after dilution has been restated to account for new share issues and the historical effect of 
warrants.
Earnings per share Profit for the period in relation to number of shares.
Equity per share Equity in relation to number of shares.
Operating expenses/Net sales %  Operating expenses comprise the company’s expenses that are not directly 
related to the company’s goods or services.
Net margin: Profit for the period in relation to net sales.
Operating capital All the company’s current assets minus current liabilities. 
Return on operating capital (ROOC) EBIT in relation to average operating capital.
Capital employed The company’s total assets.
Return on capital employed (ROCE) EBIT plus financial income in relation to average capital employed.
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ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES NOT DEFINED ACCORDING TO IFRS
The company presents certain financial measures in the interim report that are not defined according to IFRS. The company is of the 
opinion that these measures provide valuable additional information for investors and the company’s management, since they facilitate 
an evaluation of the company’s performance. Since not all companies calculate financial measures in the same way, these measures are 
not always comparable to those used by other companies. Consequently, they should not be regarded as a substitute for the measures 
defined according to IFRS. The tables below present a reconciliation of certain financial measures not defined according to IFRS.

OPERATING MARGIN, %
The company has chosen to report the key performance measure operating margin since it shows the company’s earnings in relation to 
net sales without the effect of financing costs.

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Net sales 231.9 236.8 252.2 203.6 148.2

EBIT -9.1 11.8 19.1 13.3 13.0

Operating margin (EBIT), % -3.9% 5.0% 7.6% 6.5% 8.8%

NET MARGIN, %
The company has chosen to report the key performance measure net margin, since it shows the net earnings generated by the compa-
ny in relation to net sales.

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Net sales 231.9 236.8 252.2 203.6 148.2

Profit/Loss for the period after tax -6.6 7.5 15.7 10.8 10.7

Net sales, % -2.8% 3.2% 6.2% 5.3% 7.3%

 

EBITDA AND ADJUSTED EBITDA
The company has chosen to report the key performance measure EBITDA, since it shows the underlying result adjusted for the effect 
of depreciation/amortisation, which provides a more comparable profit measure over time, since depreciation/amortisation refers to 
historical investments. The company has also chosen to report the key ratio Adjusted EBITDA to show the underlying result adjusted for 
the nonrecurring expenses that arose in connection with the preparations for the IPO. Expenses related to IPO preparations include ex-
penses for the transition to IFRS reporting, internal risk projects, IR expenses, additional examination expenses from auditors, exchange 
auditors’ examination expenses, attorneys’ expenses to qualify the company for a stock market listing, Nasdaq expenses, recruiting 
expenses for IR and new board members.
 

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

EBITDA bridge

EBIT -9.1 11.8 19.1 13.3 13.0

Amortisation of capitalised development expenses -11.1 -8.5 -6.6 -3.7 -2.2

Other depreciation -2.7 -3.4 -3.3 -2.2 -1.9

EBITDA 4.7 23.7 29.0 19.3 17.2

EBITDA margin (%) 2.0% 10.0% 11.5% 9.5% 11.6%

Items affecting comparability

IPO-related expenses - – 15.2 – –

Adjusted EBITDA 4.7 23.7 44.2 19.3 17.2

Adjusted EBITDA margin, % 2.0% 10.0% 17.5% 9.5% 11.6%

OPERATING INCOME (EBIT) AND ADJUSTED EBIT
The company has chosen to report the key performance measure Adjusted EBIT, since it shows the underlying earnings adjusted for 
nonrecurring expenses that arose in connection with preparations for the IPO, which provides a more comparable profit measure over 
time. Expenses related to IPO preparations include expenses for the transition to IFRS reporting, internal risk projects, IR expenses, 
additional examination expenses from auditors, exchange auditors’ examination expenses, attorneys’ expenses to qualify the company 
for a stock market listing, Nasdaq expenses, recruiting expenses for IR and new board members.

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

EBIT bridge

EBIT -9.1 11.8 19.1 13.3 13.0

Items affecting comparability

Expenses related to IPO preparations - – 15.2 – –

Adjusted EBIT -9.1 11.8 34.3 13.3 13.0

Adjusted EBIT margin, % -3.9% 5.0% 13.6% 6.9% 8.8%
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EQUITY/ASSETS RATIO, %
The company has chosen to report the key performance measure Equity/assets ratio, since it reflects the company’s long-term solvency.

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Total assets 319.9 311.7 309.9 136.0 106.0

Equity 238.1 244.7 234.1 68.3 60.3

Equity/assets ratio, % 74.4% 78.5% 75.5% 50.2% 48.9%

RETURN ON EQUITY (ROE), %
The company has chosen to report the key performance measure Return on equity (ROE), since it shows how effectively the company 
uses its assets to generate profits.

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Equity 238.1 244.7 234.1 68.3 60.3

Average adjusted equity 241.4 239.4 151.2 64.3 56.1

Profit/loss for the period -6.6 7.5 15.7 10.8 10.7

Return on equity (ROE), % -2.7% 3.1% 10.4% 16.8% 19.2%

RETURN ON OPERATING CAPITAL (ROOC), %
The company has chosen to report the key performance measure Return on operating capital (ROOC), since it shows how much operat-
ing capital is tied up in operation and how efficiently the tied-up operating capital is being used

 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

(AMOUNTS IN SEK MILLION)

Current receivables 185.1 173.1 80.9 66.8 51.4

Cash and cash equivalents 93.1 97.7 194.6 21.1 17.2

Current liabilities -81.5 -66.7 -75.2 -67.2 -44.5

Operating capital 229.9 232.6 234.1 68.3 60.3

Average operating capital 237.2 233.4 151.2 64.3 56.1

EBIT -9.1 11.8 19.1 13.3 13.0

Return on operating capital (ROOC), % -3.8% 5.1% 12.6% 20.7% 23.2%

RETURN ON CAPITAL EMPLOYED (ROCE), %
The company has chosen to report the key performance measure Return on capital employed (ROCE), since it shows the return on the 
total capital tied up in the operations.

 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

(AMOUNTS IN SEK MILLION)

EBIT -9.1 11.8 19.1 13.3 13.0

Financial income 3.2 1.5 5.2 1.5 6.1

EBIT plus financial income -6.0 13.3 24.3 14.8 19.1

Total assets 319.9 311.7 309.9 136.0 106.0

Average total assets 315.8 239.4 310.8 222.5 121.0

Return on capital employed (ROCE), % -1.9% 4.3% 7.8% 10.9% 18.0%

OPERATING EXPENSES, AND OPERATING EXPENSES IN RELATION TO NET SALES, %
The company has chosen to report the key performance measure Operating expenses, since it shows the expenses that are not directly 
related to the company’s goods or services. The company has chosen to report Operating expenses in relation to net sales in order to 
show how large a share of the costs are not directly related to goods or services

 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

(AMOUNTS IN SEK MILLION)

Selling expenses -68.8 -64.5 -58.6 -58.2 -37.3

Administrative expenses -44.1 -44.2 -45.3 -28.8 -23.8

Research and evelopment expenses -53.4 -56.1 -51.9 -40.0 -32.8

Other operating income/expenses -3.1 0.3 -0.7 -0.7 3.8

Operating expenses -169.4 -164.5 -156.5 -127.7 -90.1

Net sales 231.9 236.8 252.3 203.6 148.2

Operating expenses/net sales, % -73.0% -69.5% -62.0% -62.7% -60.8%
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Edgeware’s board of directors consists of six ordinary members, including the chairman of the board, with no deputy board members, 

all of whom are elected for the period up until the end of the 2019 annual general meeting. The table below shows the members of the 

board of directors, when they were first elected and whether they are considered to be independent of Edgeware and/or Edgeware’s 

principal owners.
Independent of

Name Position Member since
The company and  

executive management
The company’s  

principal owners

Michael Ruffolo Chairman 2013 Yes Yes

Tuija Soanjärvi Board member 2018 Yes Yes

Jonas Hasselberg Board member 2018 Yes Yes

Sigrun Hjelmquist Board member 2016 Yes Yes

Kent Sander Board member 2016 Yes Yes

Arnd Benninghoff Board member 2018 Yes Yes

Born 1961. Chairman of the board since 2013.

Education: Master of Science in business administration, Harvard 
Business School.

Other current assignments: None.

Previous assignments (last five years): Managing director of 
Internap Corporation and Crossbeam Systems, Inc. Board member 
of Pacnet Corporation.

Shareholding in Edgeware: Michael Ruffolo holds 24,430 shares in 
the Company.1)

Born 1967. Board member since 4 May 2018.

Education: Master of Science in technical physics, Royal Institute of Technology.

Other current assignments: President and CEO, Proact IT Group

Previous assignments (last five years): Vice President & Head of Consumer Business 
for Telia Sweden, Vice President & Head of Global Business for Telia Company, Board 
member of Springworks AB.

Shareholding in Edgeware: Jonas Hasselberg holds no shares in the company.1)

Born 1969. Board member since 4 May 2018

Education: Degree in Business and Administration, 
University of Münster.

Other current assignments: EVP Gaming & 
esports of MTGx within Modern Times Group. 
Chairman of Kongregate, San Francisco. Board 
member of ESL, Turtle Entertainment GmbH, Co-
logne, Dreamhack AB, Stockholm and Innogames 
GmbH, Hamburg.

Previous assignments (last five years): Chairman 
of  Splay Networks, Stockholm and ESL, Board 
member of Zoomin TV, Amsterdam and Kongreate. 

Shareholding in Edgeware: Arnd Benninghoff 
holds no shares in the Company.1)

1)  Shareholding, 31 December 2018.

MICHAEL RUFFOLO

JONAS HASSELBERG

ARND BENNINGHOFF

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Born 1956. Board member since 2016.

Education: Master of Science and technology licentiate’s degree 
in technical physics, Royal Institute of Technology.

Other current assignments: Chairman of the board of Facesso 
AB. Board member of Addnode Group AB, Eolus Vind Ak-
tiebolag, IGOT AB, Ragn-Sellsföretagen AB, Teqnion AB and 
Transcendent Group AB.

Previous assignments (last five years): Chairman of the Board 
of Nordic Iron Ore AB, Almi Invest Östra Mellansverige AB, Almi 
Invest Stockholm AB and Fouriertransform AB. Board member of 
Bluetest AB, Clavister AB, Saminvest AB, Silex Microsystems AB.

Shareholding in Edgeware: Sigrun Hjelmquist holds 10,000 
shares in Edgeware.1)

Born 1953. Board member since 2016.

Education: Master of Science in economics, Stockholm Univer-
sity.

Other current assignments: Chairman of the board of Tobii 
AB (publ), Mr Green & Co AB (publ), OnePhone Holding AB 
and Triboron International AB. Board member of IAR Systems 
AB, Expander Business Consulting AB and BT OnePhone Ltd. 
Board member and owner of KR Sander Associates AB and 
Sander Capital Consulting AB. Partner of Laser Hair Care AB. 
Deputy board member of OnePhone UK SP AB.

Previous assignments (last five years): Chairman of the board 
of Transmode Systems AB, Transmode AB and mFormation 
Technologies Inc. Board member of KPN OnePhone Holding 
BV and Trux Holding AB. Board member and partner of Brain-
Heart Partners AB. Partner of BrainHeart General Partner KB.

Shareholding in Edgeware: Kent Sander holds 10,000 shares 
in the company.1)

Born 1955. Board member since 4 May 2018.

Education: Master’s degree in Economics and Business Administration, 
Helsinki School of Economics

Other current assignments: Board member of Basware Corporation, 
Nixu Corporation and VR-Group Ltd., Senior advisor of the Directors 
Institute Finland and President the Finnish Orienteering Federation. 

Previous assignments (last five years): Board member of Metsähalli-
tus, MH-Metsätalous Oy, MH-Kivi Oy, Silta Oy, Silta Group Oy, Affecto 
Plc, Tecnotree Corporation and DNA Ltd.

Shareholding in Edgeware: Tuija Soanjärvi holds no shares in the 
Company.1)

1)  Shareholding, 31 December 2018.

SIGRUN HJELMQUIST

TUIJA SOANJÄRVI

KENT SANDER 
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Born 1963. CEO as of 13 February 2018.

Education: Master of Science in systems engineering, Royal 
Institute of Technology.

Other current assignments: Board member of Semcon AB.

Previous assignments (last five years): Board member and 
managing director of Transmode Systems AB and Transmode 
AB. Board member of Edgeware.

Shareholding in Edgeware: Karl Thedéen holds 22,900 
shares and 500,000 warrants in the Company.1)

Born 1967. VP R&D since 2017.

Education: Master of Science in electrical engineering, 
Royal Institute of Technology.

Other current assignments: Owner of Anders Westin 
Consulting AB.

Previous assignments (last five years): Senior Director of 
Engineering of ARRIS.

Shareholding in Edgeware: Anders holds no shares and 
18,200 warrants in the Company.1)

Born 1971. CFO & HR since 2015 until 31 December 2018.

Education: Master of Science in economics, Stockholm 
University.

Other current assignments: Owner of Academy of Business 
Stockholm.

Previous assignments (last five years): Finance Director 
Nordic of Acer Sweden AB. CFO of Pocket Shop AB.

Shareholding in Edgeware: Steeve Führ holds 0 shares and 
32,000 warrants in Edgeware.1)

Born 1976. Chief Product and Technology Officer since 2019.

Education: Master of Science in electrical engineering, Royal 
Institute of Technology.

Other current assignments: Board member of Appalanche 
AB.

Previous assignments (last five years): VP Products of Edge-
ware since 2014.

Shareholding in Edgeware: Johan Bolin holds 1,034 shares 
and 32,000 warrants in the Company.1)

1)  Shareholding, 31 December 2018.

STEEVE FUHR

JOHAN BOLINANDERS WESTIN

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

KARL THEDÉEN
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Born 1970. VP Operations since 2013, until 8 February 2019

Education: Bachelor of engineering, Royal Institute of Tech-
nology.

Other current assignments: None.

Previous assignments (last five years): None.

Shareholding in Edgeware: Magnus Larsson holds no 
shares, but 32,000 warrants in Edgeware.1)

Born 1967. General Counsel since 2013.

Education: Degree of Master of Laws (L.L.M.), Lund University.

Other current assignments: None.

Previous assignments (last five years): Board member of GKS 
Drift AB and Legal Counsel for Pricer AB (publ).

Shareholding in Edgeware: Richard Berg holds no shares, but 
22,000 warrants in Edgeware.1)

Born 1963. CMO since 2016.

Education: Bachelor of technology in physics, Imperial 
College London.

Other current assignments: Director and owner of 
Stalking Horse Marketing Ltd.

Previous assignments (last five years): CMO for Intune 
Networks Ltd. 

Shareholding in Edgeware: Richard Brandon holds no 

shares and 40,200 warrants in the Company.1)

1)  Shareholding, 31 December 2018.

MAGNUS LARSSON
RICHARD BRANDON

RICHARD BERG

Born 1970. VP Sales & Field Operations since 2019.

Education: Bachelor of electrical engineering from the Instituto 
Tecnológico de Buenos Aires, Executive Master of Business 
Administration from IESE Business School – University of Navarra

Other current assignments: None

Previous assignments (last five years): VP Sales EMEA & 
LATAM for Edgeware since 2018, Country Director and Regional 
Sales Director Southern Europe for Level 3.

Shareholding in the Company: Luis Beute has no shares in the 
company.1)

Born 1970. CFO, IR & HR as of 1 January 2019

Education: Bachelor’s degree in business administration and 
economics, Stockholm University.

Other current assignments: None

Previous assignments (last five years): Finance Controller 
Edgeware, Region Controller Nordic for Acer Sweden AB, 
Finance Manager Nordic for Acer Sweden AB.

Shareholding in the Company: Annika Norin holds 700 shares 
and 8,000 warrants in the Company.1)

LUIS BEUTE

ANNIKA NORIN
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The board of directors and CEO of Edgeware AB 
(publ.) hereby submit their annual report and consoli-
dated financial statements for the financial year 2018.

TYPE AND FOCUS OF THE BUSINESS
Edgeware is a leading company within TV and video 
distribution solutions that are specifically aimed at 
those providing services via operator networks or an 
open Internet. The company provides infrastructure 
that is specially adapted to allow the network op-
erators to offer a wide range of video services with 
the intention of generating new revenue streams 
and increasing loyalty among existing customers. 
Edgeware’s product range consists of hardware and 
software products used to build a content distribution 
network optimised for TV and video distribution over 
IP - what we call a TV CDN (content delivery network). 
Edgeware’s products and solutions support both tra-
ditional pay TV services and the most advanced new 
web TV services.
 
In addition to being used by operators to build their 
own video services, the company also has products 
aimed at content owners and TV companies wanting 
to utilise an open Internet to reach viewers. These 
players are known as over-the-top suppliers or OTTs, 
and traditional broadcasters. These customer groups 
will be increasingly significant going forward, as the 
TV landscape is transformed and with the expected 
dramatic increases in traffic volumes.

Our aim is to help operators and OTTs/broadcasters 
to grow their market share and improve their services 
in streamed TV and video, which will mean Edgeware 
can continue to expand its customer base and thereby 
reduce its customer concentration. 

We continued to win new CDN expansion and mod-
ernisation orders in 2018. This shows that there is still 
major potential within CDN. We also see a clear trend 
towards increased use of OTT and a rising interest in 
using online technology-based platforms to distribute 
video services. Many of our major customers have 
started to make the necessary investments in our 

products to be able to take this step. This develop-
ment provides the opportunity to address new poten-
tial customer groups such as broadcasters and content 
owners. To strengthen our offering to these customers, 
we further developed the Origin offering during the 
year and specifically our new “Ad Enabler” product 
has helped us initiate a dialogue with many new 
potential customers. Origin is a central function in the 
network, where TV content is brought in, processed, 
repackaged into the correct format according to the 
platform on which it is to be broadcast, and cached.

2018 began with a weak first six months in terms of 
both sales and operating income for Edgeware, since 
there was a lower level of investment among Edge-
ware’s major customers. However, the second half 
concluded strongly, with a year-on-year sales increase 
of 15.5 percent in the fourth quarter. Net sales for full-
year 2018 totalled SEK 231.9 million (236.8), corre-
sponding to a year-on-year decline of 2.1 percent. For 
the full year, the gross margin also declined to 69.1 
percent (74.4), yielding a gross profit of SEK 160.2 
million (176.3), or a year-on-year decline of SEK 16.1 
million. The gross margin for 2018 included a cost 
of SEK 3.4 million for anticipated bad debts, which 
reduced the gross margin by 1.5 percent. The share of 
capacity and memory licences in the product mix also 
affects the gross margin and the lower share of licens-
es in 2018 compared with 2017 had a negative impact 
on the gross margin.

During the year, we successfully grew our operations 
in AMERICAS, while sales were lower than expected 
in parts of APAC and in line with 2017 sales for EMEA. 
In EMEA, our major customers invested on largely the 
same levels as in the preceding years. The sales in-
crease in AMERICAS is primarily driven by the region’s 
largest customer, which is continuing to modernise its 
network and add new functionality to its TV distribu-
tion. In APAC, we continue to have major interest from 
several potential customers, but the orders placed 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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by the region’s largest existing customers were not 
as large as in 2017. However, historically our major 
customers have been a key success factor, even if this 
also means we have a high level of customer concen-
tration, which mainly leads to relatively high quarterly 
fluctuations that will probably continue for some time 
to come. 

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

In 2018, we developed Software as a Service (SaaS), 

which is a strategic area of investment. During the 

year, we demonstrated that our Origin software can 

be operated via both Google and Amazon’s cloud ser-

vices. Working in close cooperation with some of our 

customers, we have commenced the development of a 

cloud service for Origin that we will launch in 2019. 

Sales to telco and cable operators represented the 
majority of the company’s sales in 2018. Specific 
customer contracts were announced during the year, 
including Televisa and Com Hem. 

Karl Thedéen assumed the position of CEO in Febru-
ary 2018. Prior to that, Karl was a board member of 
Edgeware since 2016. 

In January 2019, Edgeware announced its acquisition 
of Cavena Image Products AB for SEK 8.0 million on 
a cash and debt-free basis using cash funds. Cavena 
Image Products AB is a leading subtitling supplier.

DEVELOPMENT OF OPERATIONS, FINANCIAL POSITION AND 
PROFIT (CONSOLIDATED)

(SEK million) 2018 2017 2016 2015

Net sales 231.9 236.8 252.2 203.6

EBIT4) -9.1 11.8 19.1 13.3

Pre-tax profit -8.3 11.4 22.3 14.0

Total assets 319.9 311.7 309.9 136.0

Equity/assets ratio1)4) 74.4% 78.5% 75.5% 50.2%

Return on equity2)4) -2.7% 3.1% 10.4% 16.8%

Average no. of employees 86 80 80 71

Number of employees, in-
cluding consultants subject 
to terms and conditions 
equivalent to employment, 
in part via Business Sweden, 
as per 31 December 99 112 92 89

1) Adjusted equity/total assets

2) Profit for the year/Average adjusted equity

3) (Profit before tax + interest expenses)/Average total assets

4) Financial measures not defined according to IFRS

More KPIs are presented on pages 44-47, as are defi-
nitions of alternative performance measures.

COMMENTS ON DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS, RESULTS AND 
FINANCIAL POSITION 

NET SALES
Net sales for full-year 2018 totalled SEK 231.9 million 
(236.8), corresponding to a year-on-year decline of 2.1 
percent. The decrease in comparable currencies was 
6.2 percent.

Net sales in EMEA amounted to SEK 161.5 million 
(163.9), down 1.5 percent year-on-year. In APAC, sales 
declined to SEK 22.0 million (35.8) and in AMERICAS, 
sales increased to SEK 48.4 (37.1) compared with full-
year 2017. 

In APAC, we continue to note major interest from 
several potential customers, but the orders placed by 
the region’s largest existing customers were not as 
large as those placed in 2017, which moreover was the 
company’s strongest year for the APAC region. 

The sales increase in AMERICAS is primarily driven 
by the region’s largest customer, which continues to 
modernise its network and add new functionality in its 
TV distribution.

Net sales from products amounted to SEK 175.9  
million (182.9) and from services to SEK 55.9 million 
(53.9). Underlying net sales for services attributable to 
support contracts amounted to SEK 48.4 million (45.3), 
corresponding to an increase of 6.8 percent compared 
with full-year 2017.

PROFIT
Gross profit for full-year 2018 amounted to SEK 160.2 
million (176.3), corresponding to a year-on-year de-
crease of SEK 16.1 million. The gross margin was 69.1 
percent (74.4).
The lower gross margin for the full-year was partly 
attributable to an anticipated bad debt loss of SEK 3.4 
million and a lower proportion of capacity and mem-
ory licences in the product mix. The service business 
also had a somewhat lower margin compared with the 
year-earlier period. The lower service margin was due 
to the service organisation at the start of 2018 being 
larger than at the start of 2017. The service organisa-
tion reduced its staff in the second half of 2018 and 
thus the service margin increased.



54 EDGEWARE AB / ANNUAL REPORT 2018

Operating expenses amounted to SEK 169.4 million 

(164.5), up SEK 4.9 million compared with full-year 

2017. The increase in operating expenses derives 

from a higher average number of employees in the 

Group and restructuring expenses of SEK 4.4 million 

mainly attributable to the sales and delivery organisa-

tion during the first two quarters. In 2018, Edgeware 

received a retroactive reduction of SEK 3.0 million in 

social security contributions for research related to 

2015-2018.

In full-year 2018, development expenses of SEK 13.9 

million (13.7) were capitalised, accounting for 20.7 

percent (19.3) of the company’s total R&D expenses. At 

the same time, amortisation of previously capitalised 

development expenses rose to SEK 11.1 million (8.5). 

This amortisation is a component of the company’s 

cost of goods sold and thus impacts Edgeware’s gross 

profit. On the whole, the net of the period’s capitalised 

expenses after amortisation for the full year had a posi-

tive impact of SEK 2.8 million (5.2) on EBIT.

EBIT for 2018 amounted to a negative SEK 9.1 million 

(pos: 11.8), corresponding to a year-on-year decrease 

of SEK 20.9 million. Adjusted for restructuring expens-

es in the first and second quarters, EBIT was negative 

SEK 4.4 million (pos: 11.8). 

Net financial items amounted to income of SEK 0.8 

million (expense: 0.4) and mainly comprised FX effects 

on cash and cash equivalents and a revaluation of 

inter-company transactions.

Loss for full-year 2018 totalled SEK 6.6 million (profit: 

7.5), corresponding to a year-on-year decrease of SEK 

14.1 million. Earnings for the period were impacted by 

a higher tax expense of SEK 0.3 million stemming from 

the restatement of the deferred tax asset due to the 

adopted future amendment to the corporate tax rate 

in Sweden. New loss carryforwards were also capital-

ised in an amount of SEK 9.5 million during the period.

CASH FLOW AND FINANCIAL POSITION

Cash flow for the full-year amounted to negative SEK 

4.9 million (neg: 97.0). The negative cash flow was 

mainly attributable to operating losses due to higher 

operating expenses at the start of 2018 and the net 

between capitalisation of development work and am-

ortisation of development work as well as investments 

in tangible and intangible non-current assets. In 2017, 

the company invested SEK 75.0 million in a short-term 

interest fund, which further explains the difference 

between the years.

The equity/assets ratio was 74.4 percent (78.5) on 31 

December 2018 and equity amounted to SEK 238.1 

million (244.7).

Total assets on 31 December 2018 amounted to SEK 

319.9 million (311.7). At the end of the period, invento-

ries totalled SEK 12.2 million (12.9) and capitalised devel-

opment expenses amounted to SEK 22.7 million (19.9). 

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted to 

SEK 93.1 million (97.7) at the end of the period. Current 

investments are short-term interest fund investments 

and amounted to SEK 74.9 million (75.1). The asset is 

measured according to level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

PARENT COMPANY
The Parent Company’s net sales during the year 
totalled SEK 230.0 million (234.0), down 1.7 percent, 
and loss for the period was SEK 10.4 million (profit: 
10.1). Since the Group’s business and net sales are 
predominantly generated in the parent company, ref-
erence is made to the Group for additional comments 
in the Annual Report.

(SEK million) 2018 2017 2016 2015

Net sales 230.0 234.0 249.5 196.0

EBIT4) -13.3 14.3 25.1 16.8

Pre-tax profit -12.1 14.0 29.4 -2.1

Total assets 321.3 315.4 311.9 127.0

Equity/assets ratio1)2) 75.1% 79.3% 76.0% 50.3%

1) Adjusted equity/total assets.
2) Financial measures not defined according to IFRS.

More KPIs are presented on pages 44-47, as are defi-
nitions of alternative performance measures.

SIGNIFICANT RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
Edgeware’s operations, sales and results are affected 
by a number of internal and external risk factors. The 
company has a continuous process to identify and 
assess how each risk should be managed. The main 
risks facing the company are delivery risk, technical 
development risk and financial risk. The financial risks 
are further described under the accounting policies as 
well as in the notes.
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DELIVERY RISK
In addition to supplying hardware and software, 
Edgeware also performs installation and integration 
services. Any delays to these services could result in 
claims for compensation and damages. The company 
is insured against potential damages incurred by its 
products or through improper handling by its staff. In 
addition, the company’s products undergo expanded 
product testing before delivery. In order to counteract 
possible delays, Edgeware added significantly to staff 
resources in its technical sales support and service 
organisation during the year. The company performs 
continuous resource and delivery planning, as well as 
evaluations of previous customer projects.

TECHNICAL DEVELOPMENT
Edgeware operates in a dynamic and changing indus-
try that is characterised by rapid technical advances 
and intense competition. If the company fails to keep 
pace with technological development, this could have 
a negative impact on revenues and costs. The col-
lective knowledge and expertise of the research and 
development department helps to minimise this risk, 
along with wide-ranging experience from other func-
tions and close cooperation with our major customers. 
The company’s assessment is that the total technologi-
cal development risk is normal for this type business.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The company’s primary financial risks are credit risk, 
currency risk and liquidity risk. Credit risk results from 
credit that the company has granted to its customers. 
Currency risk arises in connection with the company’s 
currency exposure, which is due to its international 
business. Liquidity risk derives from a combination of 
seasonal variations in sales and a mismatch in payment 
terms to suppliers and from customers. For additional 
information about the company’s financial risks and 
risk management, reference is made to Note 4.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
Edgeware’s research and development department 
consists of the Products, CTO office and R&D func-
tions. There is a strong emphasis on lean and agile 
work methods.

Edgeware complies with IAS 38 concerning capitalisa-
tion of development expenses. Costs for research and 
maintenance of products (including directly attribut-
able costs) are expensed as they are incurred.

R&D projects consist of maintenance of existing 
products and functionality or technical development 
of functionality, which is primarily aimed at individual 
customers or a limited part of the market, as well as 
strategic development of products, which is expect-
ed to target a large part of the market and generate 
revenues for a protracted period.

The way development activities are managed and 
allocated is determined by the Products function in 
consultation with CTO and R&D. Strategic develop-
ment is governed by Edgeware’s Roadmap, and newly 
developed functions are given general availability 
through dedicated system releases. Strategic develop-
ment is capitalised, and impairment begins when it is 
made generally available.

Directly attributable expenses are carried forward 
as part of the product. These include expenses for 
employees and consultants, as well as a reasonable 
share of indirect costs. Other development expenses 
that do not fulfill the criteria above are expensed as 
they are incurred. During 2018, SEK 13.9 million (13.7) 
was capitalised, which is 20.7 percent (19.6) of the net 
cost of research and development in 2018. The value 
of capitalised expenditures on research and devel-
opment amounted to SEK 22.7 million (19.9) on 31 
December 2018.

EMPLOYEES
As of 31 December 2018, Edgeware had 99 employ-
ees (112), including consultants subject to terms and 
conditions equivalent to employment.

In 2018, the number of employees was 86 (80), 14 
consultants (17) were hired through Business Sweden 
and 7 (10) other consultants had contracts subject 
to terms and conditions equivalent to employment. 
Edgeware has also engaged several temporary consul-
tants, including an outsourced team of 14 people (12) 
in Vietnam, who support the research and develop-
ment function.

GUIDELINES FOR REMUNERATION AND OTHER EMPLOYMENT TERMS 
FOR EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Remuneration to executive management 
Fees and other remuneration to the members of 
the board of directors, including the chairman, are 
resolved by the shareholders’ meeting. The annual 
general meeting (AGM) held on 4 May 2018 resolved 
that director fees would be payable in an amount of 
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SEK 1,495,000, whereby the chairman of the board 
would receive SEK 500,000 and each other board 
member would receive SEK 180,000. It was also 
resolved that fees for committee work on the audit 
committee would be payable in a maximum amount 
of SEK 60,000, of which SEK 30,000 to the chairman 
of the committee and SEK 15,000 to each of the two 
other members. It was resolved that fees for commit-
tee work on the remuneration committee would be 
payable in the amount of SEK 15,000 to the chairman 
of the committee. The members of the board of direc-
tors are not entitled to any benefits following termina-
tion of their assignments as directors of the board. The 
annual general meeting held on 4 May 2018 adopted 
guidelines for remuneration to the CEO and other ex-
ecutive management. The remuneration of the execu-
tive management shall consist of fixed salary, variable 
remuneration, long-term share-based or share-related 
incentive plans (LTI) and pension provisions.

The total remuneration shall be based on market 
terms, be competitive, well balanced and not wage 
leading as well as contribute to good ethics and 
company culture. Fixed salary is to be based on the 
executive management’s competence and area of 
responsibility, be individual and is normally to be 
reviewed every year.

Executive management may also be granted cus-
tomary non-monetary benefits, such benefits shall 
however not constitute a material part of the total re-
muneration. The vesting period for the LTI programme 
must be at least three years. The LTI programme shall 
be based on shares or share related securities. The LTI 
shall ensure long-term incentives linked to Edgeware’s 
development. Every share-based LTI requires approval 
of the shareholders before implementation.

Pension benefits are to be premium based and con-
stitute 4.5 percent of the pension-qualifying salary up 
to 7.5 income base amounts and 30 percent on any 
excess amount. The board of directors is to be entitled 
to deviate from the guidelines if there is special reason 
to do so in an individual case. The pension benefit for 
the CEO is 28 percent of basic salary. The provision for 
the CEO includes an invalidity insurance of up to 50 
income base amounts. 

The Remuneration Committee considers that the 
guidelines for remuneration to the executive manage-
ment adopted by the 2018 Annual General Meeting 

have been correctly applied and that the guidelines 
have met their objectives and functioned well. More-
over, the Remuneration Committee considers that the 
company’s remuneration structures and remuneration 
levels are in line with market practice and well-bal-
anced. Accordingly, the Board has proposed that the 
2019 Annual General Meeting decide on guidelines 
for remuneration to executive management that are 
essentially consistent with the guidelines established 
by the 2018 Annual General Meeting.

EDGEWARE’S SHARE
The company has been listed on Nasdaq Stockholm’s 
main list since 9 December 2016.

As per 31 December 2018 and 2017, the registered 
share capital amounted to 30,043,008 shares with a 
quotient value of SEK 0.05 each. During 2018, Edge-
ware’s share fluctuated between SEK 10.58 and SEK 
36.2.

For additional information on Edgeware’s share, see 
the section The share and shareholders on pages 42-
43.
 
THE ENVIRONMENT AND CODE OF CONDUCT
Edgeware endeavours to comply with the 10 princi-
ples of the UN Global Compact concerning human 
rights, labour law, the environment and anti-corruption 
in its business.

PROPOSED APPROPRIATION OF RETAINED EARNINGS (SEK)
Funds available for distribution by the AGM, SEK 

Share premium reserve 235,866,158

Earnings brought forward -8,105,991

Profit/Loss for the year -10,374,492

217,385,675

The board of directors proposes that

to be carried forward 217,385,675

217,385,675

For the parent company’s and the Group’s results 
and financial position in other respects, reference is 
made to the following income statements and balance 
sheets, statements on changes in equity, cash flow 
statements and notes. All amounts are stated in SEK 
million unless otherwise indicated.
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The corporate governance report for Edgeware (the 
company) is presented below, and has been reviewed 
by the company’s auditor. The report describes the 
division of responsibilities within Edgeware and also 
how the company’s three decision-making bodies, the 
annual general meeting, board of directors and CEO, 
operate and interact.

APPLICATION OF SWEDISH CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Edgeware AB (publ) is a public Swedish stock corpo-
ration which is primarily governed by the following 
regulations:

• The Swedish Companies Act

• The Rule Book for Issuers Nasdaq Stockholm

• Edgeware’s own articles of association and

• The Swedish Corporate Governance Code (the 
Code).

The Code applies to all Swedish companies with 
shares listed on a regulated market in Sweden. How-
ever, the company is not obliged to comply with every 
rule in the Code, as the Code itself provides for the 
possibility to deviate from the rules, provided that all 
deviations and the chosen alternative solutions are de-
scribed and the reasons therefore are explained in the 
corporate governance report (the so-called “comply 
or explain principle”).

Edgeware deviated from the Code in one respect, 
as the nomination committee was only appointed on 
20 December 2018, which is late in relation to the 
Code’s requirement of six months prior to the annual 
general meeting. The delay was attributable to several 
unfortunate events that prevented the owners’ repre-
sentatives from formally establishing the nomination 
committee. Otherwise, there are no deviations from 
the Code to report. 

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION
The current articles of association were adopted on 28 
November 2016. As specified in the articles of associa-
tion, the company’s business is to, directly or indirectly, 

conduct development and sales of electronic systems 
for network applications and any other activities com-
patible therewith.
The articles of association establish, inter alia, the 
rights of shareholders, the number of members of 
the board of directors and auditors, that the annual 
general meeting is to be held once a year within six 
months of the end of the financial year, how notice of 
the annual general meeting is to take place and that 
the company’s registered office is in Stockholm. The 
current articles of association are available on Edge-
ware’s website: www.edgeware.tv

OWNERS
For information about the ownership structure and the 
largest owners, refer to pages 42-43.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE 
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

According to the Swedish Companies Act (2005:551), 
the annual general meeting (AGM) is the company’s 
highest decision-making body. At the AGM, all share-
holders have the right to exercise their voting rights on 
key issues, such as the adoption of income statements 
and balance sheets, appropriation of the company’s 
profit, discharge from liability of board members and 
the CEO, election of board members and auditors, 
and remuneration of the board and auditors.

Shareholders who wish to participate in the AGM 
must be included in the shareholders’ register main-

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

AUDIT COMMITTEE

SHAREHOLDERS THROUGH GENERAL MEETING

CEO AND EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

http://www.edgeware.tv
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tained by Euroclear Sweden on the day falling five 
workdays prior to the AGM, and notify the company 
of their intention to participate no later than on the 
date stipulated in the notice convening the meeting. 
Shareholders may attend the AGM in person or by 
proxy and may also be accompanied by a maximum 
of two persons. Shareholders can usually register 
for shareholders’ meetings in several different ways, 
stated more specifically in the notice of the meeting. 
Shareholders are entitled to vote for all shares held by 
the shareholder.

In addition to the AGM, the company may convene 
extraordinary shareholders’ meetings. Shareholders’ 
meetings are to be held in Stockholm and notice 
of shareholders’ meetings shall be published in the 
Swedish Official Gazette and be kept available on the 
company’s website. At the time of the notice, an an-
nouncement with information that the notice has been 
issued shall be published in Svenska Dagbladet.

At the AGM for 2018, which was held on 4 May, 
Michael Ruffolo was elected as chairman of the board 
and Sigrun Hjelmquist, Kent Sander, Arnd Benning-
hoff, Tuija Soanjärvi and Jonas Hasselberg as members 
of the board.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
According to the Code, the company must have a 
nomination committee that has the aim of submitting 
proposals regarding the chair of general meetings, 
board member candidates (including the chairman), 
fees and other remuneration for each board member 
and remuneration for committee work, the election 
and remuneration of external auditors, and proposals 
for membership of the nomination committee for the 
next AGM.

At the annual general meeting held on 4 April 2018, 
the meeting resolved that the nomination committee 
for the 2019 AGM should consist of representatives 
of the three largest shareholders listed in the share-
holders’ register maintained by Euroclear Sweden 
as of 31 August 2018, together with the chairman 
of the board, or another board member appointed 
by the board who has good knowledge of Swedish 
corporate governance, who will also convene the first 
meeting of the nomination committee. The member 
representing the largest shareholder shall be ap-
pointed chairman of the nomination committee, un-
less the nomination committee unanimously appoints 
someone else. If one or more of the shareholders 

that appointed representatives to the nomination 
committee is no longer among the three largest 
shareholders earlier than three months before the 
AGM, representatives appointed by these sharehold-
ers shall withdraw and the shareholder that thereafter 
becomes one of the three largest shareholders can 
appoint their representatives. If a representative 
withdraws from the nomination committee before 
the nomination committee’s work is completed and 
the nomination committee considers it necessary to 
replace him or her, such a replacement representative 
shall represent the same shareholder or, if the share-
holder is no longer one of the largest shareholders, 
the largest shareholder in order.
 
Changes to the composition of the nomination com-
mittee must be announced immediately. The compo-
sition of the nomination committee for the 2019 AGM 
is normally to be announced no later than six months 
before the meeting.

No remuneration is to be paid to the representatives 
on the nomination committee. Edgeware is to pay any 
expenses that the nomination committee may incur in 
its work.
The term of office for the nomination committee ends 
when the composition of the subsequent nomination 
committee has been announced. 

At the AGM on 4 May 2018, it was resolved that the 
nomination committee ahead of the next AGM is to 
comprise representatives of the three largest share-
holders in terms of votes registered on 31 August 
2018 as owners in the share register maintained by 
Euroclear Sweden AB. On 21 December 2018, the ap-
pointment of the nomination committee in Edgeware 
was announced.  On 31 August 2018, the three largest 
shareholders in Edgeware were Amadeus Capital Part-
ners (23.1%), Creandum (18.8%) and Swedbank Robur 
fonder (8.7%). However, Creandum declined participa-
tion in favour of Nordea Fonder, which acquired 8.02% 
of the company’s shares from Creandum. Accordingly, 
the nomination committee comprises representatives 
from Amadeus Capital Partners (23.1%), Swedbank 
Robur Fonder (8.7%) and Nordea Fonder (8.02%). 
The owners are represented by Anne Glover, Annika 
Andersson and Erik Durhan, as well as the Chairman of 
the Board Michael Ruffolo. Anne Glover was appoint-
ed chair of the nomination committee.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The board of directors is the second-highest deci-
sion-making body of the company after the AGM. 
In accordance with the Swedish Companies Act, the 
board is responsible for the management and or-
ganisation of the company, which means the board 
is responsible for establishing targets and strategies, 
ensuring that procedures and systems are in place for 
the evaluation of set targets, continuously evaluating 
the company’s financial position and performance, and 
evaluating executive management, among other tasks. 
The board is also responsible for ensuring that annual 
reports and interim reports are prepared on time. 
Moreover, the board of directors appoints the CEO. 
Members of the board are normally appointed by the 
AGM for the period until the end of the next AGM.

According to the company’s articles of association, the 
members of the board elected by the shareholders’ 
meeting should number no fewer than three and no 
more than ten and have no deputy members. Accord-
ing to the Code, the chairman of the board of direc-
tors is to be elected by the AGM and have a special 
responsibility for leading the work of the board of 
directors and for ensuring that the work of the board 
of directors is efficiently organized.
The board of directors applies written rules of proce-
dure, which are revised annually and adopted by the 
statutory board meeting every year. The rules of pro-
cedure govern, inter alia, the practices of the board 
of directors and the functions and the division of work 
between the members of the board of directors and 
the CEO as well as between the board of directors 
and its committees. At the statutory board meeting, 
the board of directors also adopts instructions for the 
CEO, including instructions for financial reporting.

The board of directors meets according to an annual 
predetermined schedule. In addition to these meet-
ings, additional board meetings can be convened to 
handle issues which cannot be postponed until the 
next scheduled board meeting. Besides the board 
meetings, the chairman of the board and the CEO 
continuously discuss the management of the company.

ANNUAL CYCLE FOR BOARD MEETINGS IN 2018
In 2018, the company’s board of directors consisted 
of six ordinary members elected by the shareholders’ 
meeting, who are presented in section “Board of 
directors and executive management” and on Edge-
ware’s website: https://corporate.edgeware.tv/  

During 2018, the board of directors held sixteen (16) 
meetings, one (one) of which was a statutory meeting. 
Discussions by the board of directors in 2018 included:

1 February Decision to appoint Karl Thedéen as CEO  
 effective from 13 February.

12 February Year-end report 2017.

10 March Decision on notice of AGM.

3 April Approval of the 2017 Annual Report and notifi  
 cation of the 2018 AGM and motion for   
 resolution on a long-term incentive programme   
 through the issue of warrants.

4 May Interim report January-March 2018.

4 May Statutory meeting.

15 June Resolution on allotment regarding warrants
 programme 2018 and resolution to form a
 subsidiary in Hong Kong. 

27 July Interim report April-June 2018.

9 November Interim report July-September 2018.

13 December Decision to negotiate on a contract for the poten 
 tial acquisition of the company Cavena Image   
 Products, which was completed and announced   
 on 11 January 2019.
 
Remuneration of the board of directors is reported in the section 
Remuneration and guidelines for remuneration in this corporate 
governance report.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The board of directors has established two commit-
tees within its ranks: An audit and a remuneration 
committee. 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 
According to the Code, the board of directors shall 
establish an audit committee comprising at least three 
board members.

•  Interim report 
July-Septem-
ber 2018.

•  Interim report Janu-
ary-March 2017

•  Statutory meeting

•  Decision to negotiate on a contract for the 
potential acquisition of the company Cavena 
Image Products, which was completed and 
announced on 11 January 2019.
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•  Decision to appoint Karl 
Thedéen as new CEO

• Year-end report 2017.

•  Decision on notice of AGM

•  Decision on allotment in the 2018 
warrants programme and decision to 
form a subsidiary in Hong Kong.

• Interim Report April-June 
2018.
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Edgeware has an audit committee consisting of three 
members: Tuija Soanjärvi (chairman), Sigrun Hjelmquist 
and Jonas Hasselberg. Without affecting the other 
responsibilities and tasks of the board, the audit com-
mittee is to monitor the company’s financial reporting, 
monitor the effectiveness of the company’s internal 
control, internal audit and risk management, keep 
itself informed of the audit of the annual accounts and 
the consolidated accounts, examine and monitor the 
auditor’s impartiality and independence, paying spe-
cial attention to whether the auditor provides the com-
pany services other than auditing services, and assist 
in the preparation of proposals on the AGM’s election 
of auditors. During 2018, five (5) meetings were held: 
on 2 February, 24 April, 23 July, 6 September and 8 
November.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Edgeware has a remuneration committee consisting 
of three members: Kent Sander (Chairman), Michael 
Ruffolo and Arnd Benninghoff. The remuneration com-
mittee shall prepare matters concerning remuneration 
principles, remuneration and other employment terms 
for the CEO and the executive management. During 
2018, three (3) meetings were held: on 21 February, 3 
May and 8 November.

CEO AND EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT
The CEO is subordinated to the board of directors 
and is responsible for the everyday management and 
operations of the company in accordance with the 
Swedish Companies Act, other laws, regulations, cur-
rent laws for listed companies including the Code and 

BOARD ATTENDANCE
During the year, the board members attended board and committee meetings in the following extent.

Board member No. of board meeting Attendance, % No. of committee meetings Attendance, %

Michael Ruffolo 16 100 31) 100

Jason Pinto 9 100 21,3) 100

Staffan Helgesson 9 100 22,4) 100

Karl Thedéen 8 100 12,5) 100

Sigrun Hjelmquist 15 93,75 52) 100

Kent Sander 11 68,75 31) 100

Arnd Benninghoff 8 100 11) 100

Tuija Soanjärvi 8 100 32) 100

Jonas Hasselberg 8 100 32) 100

1)  Remuneration committee 2) Audit committee 3) Jason Pinto stepped down from the board in connection with the AGM held on 4 May 2018   
4) Staffan Helgesson stepped down from the board in connection with the AGM held on 4 May 2018 5) Karl Thedéen stepped down from the 
board in connection with the AGM held on 4 May 2018

current instructions for the CEO and other instructions 
and strategies determined by the board of directors.

The division of work between the board of directors 
and the CEO is set out in the rules of procedure for 
the board of directors and in the CEO’s instructions.

The CEO is also responsible for preparing reports 
and compiling information from management prior 
to board meetings and for presenting the material at 
the board meetings. According to the instructions for 
financial reporting, the CEO is responsible for financial 
reporting in the company and as such is to ensure that 
the board receives adequate information to be able to 
evaluate the company’s financial position.

The CEO is to continuously keep the board informed 
of the development of the company’s business, the 
sales trend, the company’s financial position and per-
formance, the liquidity and credit situation, important 
business events and any other event, circumstance or 
condition that can be assumed to be of material signif-
icance to the company’s shareholders.

The CEO and executive management are presented 
in section “Board of directors and executive man-
agement” in the 2018 annual report on Edgeware’s 
website: https://corporate.edgeware.tv/

REMUNERATION AND GUIDELINES FOR REMUNERATION
Fees and other remuneration to the members of the 
board, including the chairman, are resolved by the 
shareholders’ meeting. The AGM held on 4 May 2018 
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resolved that director fees would be payable in an 
amount of SEK 1,495,000, whereby the chairman of 
the board would receive SEK 500,000 and each other 
board member would receive SEK 180,000. It was also 
resolved that fees for committee work on the audit 
committee would be payable in a maximum amount 
of SEK 60,000, of which SEK 30,000 to the chairman 
of the committee and SEK 15,000 to each of the two 
other members. It was resolved that fees for commit-
tee work on the remuneration committee would be 
payable in the amount of SEK 35,000, of which SEK 
15,000 to the chairman of the committee and SEK 
10,000 each to the two other members. Fees dis-
bursed for 2018 are recognised in Note 12.

The AGM held on 4 May 2018 adopted guidelines 
for remuneration to the CEO and other executive 
management.

The remuneration of the executive management shall 
consist of fixed salary, variable remuneration, long-
term share-based or share-related incentive plans (LTI) 
and pension provisions.

The total remuneration shall be based on market 
terms, be competitive, well balanced and not wage 
leading as well as contribute to good ethics and 
company culture. Fixed salary is to be based on the 
executive management’s competence and area of 
responsibility, be individual and is normally to be 
reviewed every year.

Executive management may also be granted cus-
tomary non-monetary benefits, such benefits shall 
however not constitute a material part of the total 
remuneration.

The vesting period for the LTI programme must be at 
least three years. The LTI programme shall be based 
on shares or share related securities. The LTI shall 
ensure long-term incentives linked to Edgeware’s 
development. Every share-based LTI requires approval 
of the shareholders before implementation.

Agreements regarding pensions shall be based on 
fixed premiums and formulated in accordance with the 
levels, practice and collective agreements that apply 
in the country of employment. The board of directors 
is to be entitled to deviate from the guidelines if there 
is special reason to do so in an individual case. Swed-
ish pension benefits reflect ITP1, are to be premium 

based and constitute 4.5 percent of the pension-qual-
ifying salary up to 7.5 income base amounts and 30 
percent on any excess amount.

CURRENT EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS FOR THE CEO AND EXEC-
UTIVE MANAGEMENT
Decisions regarding the current levels of remuneration 
and other terms of employment for the CEO and ex-
ecutive management have been made by the board. 
Refer to Note 12 for an overview of remuneration of 
the CEO and executive management for the 2018 
financial year.

Pensions for the CEO and executive management 
follow the same guidelines as for other employed 
personnel. For pension provisions or similar benefits, 
see Note 12.

A mutual period of notice of six months applies for the 
CEO and the company. For executive management 
residing in Sweden, a period of notice of one to three 
months applies for the employee and the employer. 
For the employer, the period of notice according to 
the Swedish Employment Protection Act (1982:80) ap-
plies in the majority of cases, which means the actual 
period of notice for executive management is longer 
than three months.

The CEO is entitled to severance pay amounting to 12 
months’ salary upon dismissal by the company. Except 
for the CEO, no employees are entitled to severance 
pay.

The company also entered into a consultancy agree-
ment with Richard Brandon, CMO, through a company 
owned by Richard Brandon. The agreement consti-
tutes part-time work of four days per week, or 80 
percent of full-time employment, and is automatically 
renewed by six-month periods until the agreement is 
terminated.

INTERNAL CONTROL
The board of directors and the board’s audit committee 
are responsible for internal control. At the Group level, 
the CEO, along with the Group’s finance department, 
Head of Legal and the CFO, is responsible for every 
legal entity and for ensuring that the necessary controls 
are conducted together with adequate monitoring.

Internal control comprises the control of the compa-
ny’s and the Group’s organisation, procedures and 
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support measures. The objective is to ensure that 
reliable and accurate financial reporting takes place, 
that the company’s and the Group’s financial reporting 
is prepared in accordance with law and applicable ac-
counting standards, that the company’s assets are pro-
tected and that other requirements are fulfilled. The 
system for internal control is also intended to monitor 
compliance with the company’s and the Group’s pol-
icies, principles and instructions. Internal control also 
comprises risk analysis and follow-up of incorporating 
information and business systems.

INTERNAL CONTROL OF FINANCIAL REPORTING 2018
The board of directors is responsible for internal 
auditing in accordance with the Swedish Companies 
Act and the Code. The Annual Accounts Act states 
that the corporate governance report is to include 
information regarding the most important aspects of a 
company’s system for internal control and risk man-
agement in connection with financial reporting.

To date, Edgeware has found no reason to establish a 
separate function for internal audit as the company is 
still relatively small. Internal control is therefore carried 
out by the board’s audit committee and by the board 
of directors itself.

EXTERNAL REPORTING
The board of directors monitors and evaluates the 
quality assurance of financial reporting through interim 
reports on the company’s business development and 
earnings trend and by addressing the Group’s finan-
cial situation at each scheduled board meeting. The 
company’s auditor is present at three audit committee 
meetings per year, when the result of the audited 
year-end accounts and the third quarter accounts 
are presented. On these occasions, any changes to 
accounting policies relevant to the company are also 
presented. In connection with the review of the year-
end accounts, the board meets the company’s auditor 
without the presence of executive management. 

The internal system for reporting and control is built 
around annual financial planning, interim reporting 
and daily follow-up of business-related performance 
measures in order to facilitate external reporting and 
risk management.

The Group’s legal and financial functions control and 
monitor the accuracy of reporting and compliance 
with internal and external regulations. In addition to 

compliance with laws and regulations, the functions 
also control compliance with internal rules and guide-
lines for the tasks of the financial control function. The 
company’s internal rules and guidelines are gathered 
in the company’s policies, such as the financial policy, 
IT policy, and the Code of Conduct and in the employ-
ee handbook.

It is the responsibility of the audit committee to iden-
tify and handle any major financial risks and the risk 
of mistakes in financial reporting in order to ensure 
correct financial reporting. One specific priority is to 
identify processes where the risk for material error is 
relatively higher due to the complexity of the process 
or in contexts which involve substantial values.

The company follows an annual cycle in its work to 
evaluate risks, which includes evaluation of identified 
risks and implementing and ensuring compliance with 
relevant control activities. Internal control aims to iden-
tify risks and any inaccuracies that could have a material 
impact on the company’s financial reporting. The risks 
identified require internal control in order to minimise 
the risk of error. Relevant control activities have been 
implemented for all identified risk areas. For each 
control activity, it has been defined what activity is to be 
carried out, by whom and where documentation for the 
implemented control is to be archived. The controlling 
person is separate from the person who performs the 
process in line with the four-eye principle.

AUDIT
The auditor is to review the company’s annual reports 
and financial statements as well as the management of 
the board and the CEO. Following each financial year, 
the auditor shall submit an audit report and a consoli-
dated audit report to the AGM. According to the com-
pany’s articles of association, the company is to have a 
minimum of one and a maximum of two auditors and 
a maximum of two deputy auditors. Authorised public 
accountants or a registered public accounting firm is 
to be appointed as auditors and, when appropriate, 
deputy auditors. The company’s auditor is Deloitte 
AB, with Andreas Frountzos as the Auditor-in-Charge. 
In 2018, the remuneration of the company’s auditor 
totalled SEK 0.7 million (0.8), of which SEK 0.6 million 
(0.7) comprised audit fees.
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

(SEK million) NOTE 2018 2017

Net sales 5, 6 231.9 236.8

Cost of goods and services sold -71.7 -60.5

Gross profit 160.2 176.3

Selling expenses -68.7 -64.5

Administrative expenses -44.1 -44.2

Research and development expenses -53.4 -56.1

Other operating income/expenses 7 -3.1 0.3

EBIT 8,9,10,11,12 -9.1 11.8

Profit/loss from financial items

Financial income 13 3.2 1.5

Financial expenses 14 -2.4 -1.9

Pre-tax profit -8.3 11.4

Tax 15 1.7 -3.9

PROFIT/LOSS FOR THE YEAR -6.6 7.5

Attributable to:

Owners of the parent -6.6 7.5

Profit per share, SEK 16

Before dilution -0.2 0.2

After dilution -0.2 0.2
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(SEK MILLION) NOTE 2018 2017

Profit/Loss for the year -6.6 7.5

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:

Translation differences for the year, investment in subsidiary -1.1 0.2

Total items that can be reversed to profit or loss -1.1 0.2

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR -7.7 7.7

Attributable to:

Owners of the parent -7.7 7.7
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

(SEK MILLION) NOTE 31 DEC 2018 31 DEC 2017

ASSETS
Non-current assets 
Intangible assets

Capitalised expenditure on development work 18 22.7 19.9

Other intangible assets 19 0.8 0.2

Trademarks 20 0.8 0.8

24.3 20.9

Property, plant and equipment

Equipment, tools and installations 21 2.9 4.2

2.9 4.2

Financial non-current assets

Other long-term receivables 22 1.9 5.0

1.9 5.0

Deferred tax assets 15 12.6 10.8

Total non-current assets 41.7 40.9

Current assets

Inventories 23 12.2 12.9

12.2 12.9

Current receivables

Trade accounts receivable 24 83.3 72.8

Other receivables 0.2 1.8

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 25 14.5 10.5

98.0 85.1

Current investments 26 74.9 75.1

Cash and cash equivalents 27 93.1 97.7

Total current assets 278.2 270.8

TOTAL ASSETS 319.9 311.7
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

(SEK MILLION) NOTE 31 DEC 2018 31 DEC 2017

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Share capital 28 1.5 1.5

Other paid-in capital 29 235.9 234.3

Translation reserve 30 -3.6 -2.5

Retained earnings including profit for the year 4.3 11.4

Equity attributable to owners of the parent 238.1 244.7

Total equity 238.1 244.7

Current liabilities

Trade accounts payable 19.4 18.9

Current tax liabilities 0.6 0.5

Other current liabilities 4.3 0.3

Other provisions 31 0.4 0.3

Accrued expenses and deferred income 32 57.1 47.0

81.8 67.0

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 319.9 311.7
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES 

IN EQUITY

(SEK MILLION)
Share 

capital
Other paid-in 

capital
TRANSLATION 

RESERVE 

RETAINED 
EARNINGS 
INCLUDING 

PROFIT FOR 
THE YEAR TOTAL EQUITY

Balance, 1 January 2018 1.5 234.3 -2.5 11.4 244.7

Effect of amended impairment model upon transi-
tion to IFRS 9 at 1 Jan 2018

-0.5 -0.5

Profit/Loss for the year -6.6 -6.6

Other comprehensive income:

Exchange-rate differences when translating foreign 
operations

-1.1 - -1.1

Total other comprehensive income -1.1 0 -1.1

Total comprehensive income -1.1 -7.1 -8.2

Transactions with owners:

Paid-in premiums, warrants. 1.6 1.6

Total transactions with owners 1.6 1.6

Balance, 31 December 2017 1.5 235.9 -3.6 4.3 238.1
 

(SEK MILLION)
Share 

capital
Other paid-in 

capital
TRANSLATION 

RESERVE 

RETAINED 
EARNINGS 
INCLUDING 

PROFIT FOR 
THE YEAR TOTAL EQUITY

Balance, 1 January 2017 1.5 231.4 -2.7 3.9 234.1

Profit/Loss for the year 7.5 7.5

Other comprehensive income:

Exchange-rate differences when translating foreign 
operations 0.2 0 0.2

Total other comprehensive income 0.2 0 0.2

Total comprehensive income 0.2 7.5 7.7

Tax on issuance costs 2.9 2.9

Total transactions with owners 0 2.9 0 0 2.9

Balance, 31 December 2017 1.5 234.3 -2.5 11.4 244.7
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(SEK MILLION) NOTE 2018 2017

Cash flow from operating activities

EBIT -9.1 11.8

Adjustments for non-cash items:

Depreciation of intangible non-current assets 11.1 8.3

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2.7 3.4

Guarantee reserve - -0.3

Withholding tax - -0.2

Exchange-rate effects 1.1 -0.4

Received interest 0.2 0.3

Paid interest - -0.1

Cash flow from operating activities before changes in operating capital 6.0 22.8

Changes in operating capital

Decrease (+)/Increase (-) in inventories 0.7 -6.7

Decrease (+)/Increase (-) in trade accounts receivable -11.0 -6.3

Decrease (+)/Increase (-) in other current receivables 1.7 -4.0

Decrease (-)/Increase (+) in trade account payables 0.5 2.0

Decrease (-)/Increase (+) in other current liabilities 13.7 -10.5

Cash flow from operating capital 5.6 -25.5

Cash flow from operating activities 11.6 -2.7

Investing activities

Acquisition of intangible assets 18, 19, 20 -14.5 -14.7

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 21 -1.4 -3.1

Investments in other financial non-current assets - -1.5

Investments in current assets - -75.0

Cash flow from investing activities -15.9 -94.3

Financing activities

Warrants 1.6 -

Increased long-term receivables -2.2 -

Cash flow from financing activities -0.6 -

Cash flow for the year -4.9 -97.0

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 97.7 194.6

Exchange-rate differences in cash and cash equivalents 0.3 0.1

Cash and cash equivalents at year-end 26 93.1 97.7
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NOTE 1 GENERAL INFORMATION
Edgeware AB, corporate identity number 556691-7554, is a 
public limited company registered and domiciled in Stockholm, 
Sweden. The address of the head office is Mäster Samuelsgatan 
42, 12th floor, 111 57 Stockholm. Edgeware is a leading company 
within TV and video distribution solutions that are specifically 
aimed at those providing services via operator networks or an 
open internet. The company’s share is listed on Nasdaq Stock-
holm under the ticker EDGE.

The Group comprises the parent company Edgeware AB (publ), 
which is domiciled in Stockholm, the subsidiary Edgeware Inc., 
domiciled in the US, and Edgeware Hong Kong Ltd, domiciled in 
Hong Kong.

NOTE 2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
Edgeware AB (publ) prepares its consolidated financial state-
ments in accordance with EU-approved International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and with interpretations by the IFRS 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC). In addition, the Group applies 
the Swedish Annual Accounts Act and the Swedish Financial 
Reporting Board’s recommendation RFR 1, Supplementary Ac-
counting Rules for Groups.

In the consolidated financial statements items have been mea-
sured at cost, with the exception of certain financial instruments 
that are measured at fair value. The significant accounting princi-
ples applied are described below.

EFFECTS OF NEW ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

New and amended IFRS standards that came into force on 1 
January 2018.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers: 
IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive revenue model that re-
places the IAS 18 and IAS 11 standards. The standard regulates 
revenue recognition and disclosure requirements pertaining 
to commercial agreements (contracts) with customers where 
deliveries of goods/services are divided into separate identifiable 
performance obligations that are recognised independently. The 
standard took effect on 1 January 2018. In a review, Edgeware 
identified material revenue flows and contracts in Edgeware 
AB and Edgeware Inc, and analysed them based on the five-
step model presented in IFRS 15. The finance, operations and 
sales departments as well as the company’s legal counsel were 
involved in the review. The conclusion reached was that the 
new standard has no material impact on the Edgeware Group’s 
revenue recognition. However, the new standard requires more 
extensive disclosures in the financial statements. 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
The new standard for financial instruments replaces IAS 39. The 
standard took effect on 1 January 2018. IFRS 9, which replaces 

IAS 39 Financial instruments: Recognition and Measurement, 
contains rules for recognition, classification and measurement, 
impairment, derecognition and general rules for hedge account-
ing. The assessment classification for assets is based on two 
criteria: (a) the company’s business model for managing the fi-
nancial asset and (b) the instrument’s contractual cash flows, while 
classification and measurement of financial liabilities is largely 
unchanged compared with IAS 39. 

A project has been carried out based on the following areas: 
classification and measurement, and documentation of financial 
liabilities and assets. Edgeware does not apply hedge account-
ing. The project included a calculation of the effects of transition-
ing to a new model for recognising expected loan losses known 
as the “expected loss model”. Edgeware applies a calculation 
model for expected credit losses according to IFRS 9 based 
on a grouping into various risk classifications. Grouping is also 
carried out in respect of the maturity structure. Each customer is 
assigned a risk classification on the basis of an overall assessment 
of the customer in relation to its external credit assessment, the 
customer’s payment history, the market in which the customer 
conducts operations and external factors in the region.

IFRS 9 will have no material impact on the consolidated financial 
statements and earlier periods will not be stated. Edgeware 
applies two different business models. For cash and cash equiv-
alents, trade accounts receivable and other current receivables, 
the company’s business model is “hold to collect,” which 
means that the purpose is to collect contractual cash flows and 
the agreed conditions for the financial assets give rise to, on 
specific dates, cash flows that only constitute payments of capital 
amounts and interest on the outstanding capital amount. Assets 
belonging to this business model are recognised at amortised 
cost. Current investments comprise mutual and fixed interest 
funds where Edgeware’s business model is “other” and where 
the nature of the cash flow excludes other business models. The 
holding is recognised at fair value through profit or loss 

In the first quarter of 2018, Edgeware recognised a nonrecurring 
effect of SEK 0.5 million in equity due to a change of calculation 
model for expected credit losses on trade accounts receivable 
according to IFRS 9. At 31 December 2017, there was a provision 
of SEK 1.1 million for anticipated bad debts based on the assess-
ment according to IAS 39. At 1 January 2018, the reserve for bad 
debts was further adjusted by SEK 0.5 million in accordance with 
the calculation model for expected credit losses under IFRS 9. 
See also Note 4

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FUTURE STANDARD AMENDMENTS

IFRS 16 Leases 
This new standard is to be applied as of 1 January 2019. IFRS 16 
Leases replaces the former IAS 17 standard and entails that all 
right-of-use agreements, except those with a short duration or of a 
low value, are to be capitalised in the balance sheet as a non-cur-
rent asset or a financial liability. The assessment is that the new 
standard will impact Edgeware, particularly with respect to leases 
for premises which, according to the new standard, are to be rec-
ognised as an asset in the form of the right to utilise the premises 
and a liability in the form of an obligation to make rent payments.

As part of this process carried out by the finance and IT depart-
ments, all of the company’s agreements of a lease nature were 
reviewed. The agreements can be classified under IFRS 16’s 
exemption rules – short-term leases (a lease term of less than 12 
months) and leases of a low value (less than USD 5,000) – were 
excluded from the IFRS 16 calculations.

Edgeware will apply the modified retrospective approach regard-
ing the recognition of leases formerly recognised as operational 
leases. This method entails that the lease liability is calculated 
at the present value of remaining lease fees less the incremental 
borrowing rate at the beginning of the period in which the com-
pany first implements the standard and that comparative periods 
are not restated. In assessing the incremental borrowing rate, the 
company applied its house bank’s rate for loans on amounts and 
durations equivalent to the lease. A corresponding liability will 
be recognised for future lease costs that are calculated at present 
value using the incremental borrowing rate. IFRS 16 will not 
impact the company’s equity. According to the initial calculations, 
the company will capitalise an asset of SEK 12 million and a cor-
responding liability at the start of the 2019 financial year.

Effects on Assets, 1 January 2018

IAS 39 Recognised at 31 December 2017
Restatement 
resulting 
from IFRS 9

IFRS 9 Restated at 1 January 2018

Category
Available-
for-sale 
assets

Held for 
trading

Fair 
value 
option

Held 
until 
matu-
rity

Loans 
and trade 
accounts 
receivables

Hold to 
collect Others Hold to col-

lect and sell

Measurement Fair value 
through 
other com-
prehensive 
income

At fair value 
through profit 
or loss

Amortized cost
Amortized 
cost

At fair value 
through 
profit or loss

Fair value 
through other 
comprehen-
sive income

Assets          

Long-term receiv-
ables

 
    5.0 0.0 5.0   

Trade accounts 
receivable

 
    72.8 -0.5 72.3   

Other receivables 1.8 1.8

Current invest-
ments

 
 75.1    0.0   75.1  

Accrued income      10.5 0.0  10.5  

Cash and cash 
equivalents

 
    97.7   97.7   

Total  -  75.1  - 187.8 -0.5  187.3 75.1  

Other new standards and amendments of standards that came into force on 1 January 2018 did not have any impact on the consolidated 
financial statements for 2018.  

 
The company management has assessed that other new and re-
vised standards and interpretations not yet in force will not have 
a material impact on the Group’s financial reports when applied 
for the first time.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements cover the parent company 
Edgeware AB (publ) and the companies over which the parent 
company has a controlling interest. A controlling interest exists 
when the Group is exposed to, or has the right to, variable re-
turns from its involvement in a company and can use its influence 
over the company to affect its return. A controlling interest usu-
ally exists where the parent company directly or indirectly holds 
shares representing more than 50 percent of the votes.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition until 
the date when the parent company no longer has a controlling 
interest in the subsidiary. Where necessary, the accounting 
principles for subsidiaries have been adjusted to comply with the 
Group’s accounting principles. All intra-Group transactions, bal-
ances and unrealised gains and losses attributable to intra-group 
transactions have been eliminated in the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements.

When the parent company loses its controlling interest in a sub-
sidiary, the gain or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference 
between
a) the sum of the fair value of the consideration received and the 
fair value of any remaining holding, and
b) the previous carrying amounts of the subsidiary’s assets (includ-
ing goodwill), and liabilities and any non-controlling interests.
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REVENUE

Revenue recognition 
Revenue is recognised when the company transfers control of 
products or services to the customers, and is assessed based on 
the remuneration specified in the contract with the customer, 
less VAT. If the remuneration includes a variable amount (e.g. 
discounts, deductions, performance bonus, fines), revenue is 
recognised to the extent that it is highly probably that a reversal 
of the accumulated revenue recognised will not arise when 
there is no longer any uncertainty associated with the variable 
remuneration.

The Group’s revenues consist mainly of the provision of infrastruc-
ture customised to allow network operators to offer video ser-
vices. The products are a combination of hardware and software 
and associated capacity licenses that support both traditional 
pay TV services and the new web TV services. The Group also 
provides services in the form of installation, integration, support 
and training. The accounting policies are described below.

Products and licenses 
Edgeware sells TV servers with preinstalled software and nec-
essary streaming and capacity licenses. This package normally 
remains functional without any updates or technical support. 
Streaming and memory capacity licenses can also be purchased 
separately, to extend capacity, without any new hardware. The 
licenses are normally considered functional without technical 
support or updates. The licenses (“Right to use of licenses”) are 
made available with a license key to customers upon creation in 
Edgeware’s online tool. Revenue from sale of TV servers with pre-
installed software and necessary streaming and capacity licenses 
bundles are recognised when control of the products has been 
transferred to the customer, according to agreed delivery terms 
and conditions. 

A new product — subscription software — was launched in 2018. 
The software is installed outside an Edgeware-controlled environ-
ment, and changes in these environments require development 
by Edgeware R&D to ensure that the software is able to continue 
functioning in the agreed-upon manner. The software is deemed 
to be a “Right to receive access to license,” and revenue from 
sales is recognised on a straight-line basis over the contract peri-
od, usually between one and three years.

Customers are invoiced for all revenue except support in conjunc-
tion either with delivery or in accordance with milestones agreed 
upon in the contract. Accordingly, there may be differences in the 
timing of revenue. The terms of payment in larger contracts are 
normally 60 days. Support is normally invoiced in advance, either 
quarterly or yearly.  

Technical support & maintenance 
Sales of maintenance (software updates) provide assurance to 
the customer that Edgeware will provide all updates developed 
during the contract period. It is not possible to specify the 
number of updates in advance. Revenue from maintenance is rec-
ognised on a straight-line basis over the contract period, usually 
between one and three years. 

Technical support (online or via telephone) is provided as and 
when needed over the contract period. The utilisation of tech-
nical support does not vary significantly between months and 
the customer pays a flat rate regardless of how many times the 
service is used. Revenue from technical support is recognised on 
a straight-line basis over the contract period, usually between 
one and three years. 

Professional services
Sales of professional services mainly refer to installation and 
integration services, deployment services and training. 

Installation services are considered a separate performance obli-
gation. The service can be performed by other entities (Edgeware 
partners, who are available in all markets). Control is normally 
transferred to the customer when the installation has been com-
pleted, and revenue is recognised at this point in time. 
Integration services are more comprehensive or more complex 
installation projects, in which Edgeware is responsible for other 
companies’ system components and their integration. The ser-
vices are often sold bundled with products and licenses. This type 
of contract is viewed as a performance obligation and revenue 
is recognised over time. When the outcome of an integration 
project can reasonably be measured, the respective revenue and 
cost are recognised through reference to the project’s degree 
of completion at the end of the reporting period. Completion is 
measured on the basis of the relation between project expenses 
spent for work performed at the end of the reporting period 
and the estimated total project expenses (input data method), if 
no other method measures the degree of completion in a more 
reliable manner. An anticipated loss on a project is immediately 
recognised as a cost. When the outcome of a project cannot rea-
sonably be measured, but Edgeware expects to obtain coverage 
for the expenses paid, revenue is only recognised in amounts 
equivalent to project expenses for which the customer is expect-
ed to pay remuneration. Project expenses are recognised as costs 
in the period in which they arise. Remuneration is often received 
in the form of a number of milestone payments. 

Revenue from sale of training is recognised when the service is 
performed. 

Interest income
Interest income is allocated over the relevant term using the 
effective interest method.

SEGMENT REPORTING
An operating segment is a component of a company that carries 
out business operations that may result in the receipt of income 
and is evaluated regularly by the highest executive decision-mak-
er and about which separate financial information is available. 
The company’s reporting of operating segments accords with 
the internal reporting to the highest executive decision-maker. 
The highest executive decision-maker is the function responsible 
for allocation of resources and assessment of the operating seg-
ments’ results. The CEO is the highest executive decision-maker. 
The accounting principles for the reporting segments are the 
same as those applied by the Group as a whole.

LEASES

Lessee
A finance lease is a contract under which the financial risks and 
benefits associated with ownership of an asset are essentially 
transferred from the lessor to the lessee. Other leases are clas-
sified as operating leases. The Group has only operating leases. 
Lease payments for operating leases are expensed on a straight-
line basis over the term of the lease, unless a different systematic 
approach better reflects the user’s financial benefit over time.

FOREIGN CURRENCY
Items included in the financial statements for the various entities 
in the Group are recognised in the currency of the primary eco-
nomic environment where the entity in question mainly conducts 
its operations (functional currency). In the consolidated financial 
statements, all amounts are translated into Swedish kronor (SEK), 
which is the functional currency and reporting currency of the 
parent company.

Foreign currency transactions are translated in each entity into 
the entity’s functional currency at the exchange rates on the 
transaction date. On each closing day, monetary items in foreign 
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currencies are translated at the exchange rate on the closing day. 
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency 
are translated at the exchange rate on the day fair value was 
established. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost in a 
foreign currency are not translated.

Exchange-rate differences are recognised in profit or loss for the 
period in which they arise, with the exception of hedging transac-
tions that meet the criteria for hedge accounting of cash flows or 
of net investments, in which case gains and losses are recognised 
in other comprehensive income.

In the preparation of consolidated financial statements, assets 
and liabilities in foreign subsidiaries are translated into Swedish 
kronor at the exchange rate on the closing day. Income and ex-
pense items are translated at the average exchange rate for the 
period, unless the exchange rate fluctuated significantly during 
the period, in which case the exchange rate on the transaction 
date is used instead. Any translation differences arising are recog-
nized in other comprehensive income and are transferred to the 
translation reserve. On the divestment of a foreign subsidiary, 
such translation differences are recognised in the income state-
ment as part of the capital gain or loss.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Employee benefits in the form of salary, bonuses, vacation pay, 
sick pay, etc. and pensions are recognised as they are earned. 
Pensions and other post-employment benefits are classified 
as defined-contribution or defined-benefit pension plans. The 
Group has only defined-contribution pension plans.

Defined-contribution plans
In defined-contribution plans, the Group makes fixed payments 
to a separate independent legal entity and has no obligation to 
make further payments. The Group’s costs are expensed as the 
benefits are earned, which usually coincides with the date of 
payment of the premiums.

Share-based remuneration
Share-based remuneration settled using equity instruments are 
measured at fair value on the date of allocation, which is the 
date that the company enters into an agreement on share-based 
remuneration. The fair value established on the date of alloca-
tion is expensed on the date of allocation, with a corresponding 
adjustment to equity distributed across the earnings period, 
based on the Group’s estimate of the number of warrants that are 
expected to be able to be exercised. Fair value is calculated us-
ing the Black and Scholes model. Social insurance contributions 
attributable to the share-based remuneration are accrued in the 
same way as the cost of the services received and the liability is 
re-measured during every report period until it has been settled.

For incentive plans in the form of warrants, transfer to the partic-
ipants is to occur at the market value of the warrants. Fair value 
per option has been calculated according to Black and Scholes.

TAXES
Tax expense comprises the sum of current tax and deferred tax.

Current tax
Current tax is calculated on the taxable profits for the period. 
Taxable profit differs from the profit recognized in the income 
statement since it has been adjusted for tax-exempt income and 
non-deductible expenses, and for income and expenses that are 
taxable or deductible in other periods. The Group’s current tax lia-
bility is calculated using the tax rates applicable on the closing day.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between 
the recognised value of assets and liabilities in the financial state-
ments and the fiscal value used to calculate taxable profits. De-
ferred tax is recognised according to the balance sheet method. 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for practically all taxable 
temporary differences, and deferred tax assets are recognised for 
practically all deductible temporary differences, to the extent it is 
likely that the amounts can be utilised against future taxable sur-
pluses. Deferred tax liabilities and tax assets are not recognised if 
the temporary difference is attributable to goodwill or if it arises 
from a transaction that constitutes initial recognition of an asset 
or liability (that is not a business combination) and which at the 
transaction date affects neither recognised nor taxable profit.

A deferred tax liability is recognised for taxable temporary differ-
ences attributable to investments in subsidiaries, except where 
the Group can determine the date of reversal of the temporary 
differences and it is likely that such reversal will not take place 
within the foreseeable future. The deferred tax assets attributable 
to deductible temporary differences in respect of such invest-
ments are only recognized to the extent that it is probable that 
the amounts can be utilized against future taxable surpluses and 
it is likely that such utilization will take place within the foresee-
able future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is tested on each clos-
ing day and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 
that there will be sufficient taxable surplus available to utilize the 
deferred tax asset, either in full or in part.

Deferred tax is calculated using the tax rates that are expected 
to apply in the period when the asset is recovered or the liability 
is settled, based on the tax rates (and the tax legislation) that are 
enacted or have been announced as of the closing day.

Deferred tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where they relate 
to income tax debited by the same authority and where the 
Group intends to settle the tax in a net amount.
 
Current and deferred tax for the period
Current and deferred tax is recognised as an expense or as in-
come in the income statement, except where the tax is attribut-
able to transactions recognised in other comprehensive income 
or directly in equity. In such cases the tax is also reported in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In the case of current 
and deferred tax arising when reporting business combinations, 
the tax effect is to be recognised in the acquisition calculation.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are reported at cost following 
deductions for accumulated depreciation and any impairment 
losses.

Cost includes the purchase price, expenses directly attributable 
to the asset in order to bring it to the location and condition to 
be used and estimated expenses for dismantling and removal of 
the asset and restoration of its location. Further expenditures are 
included in the asset or recognised as a separate asset only if it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with the asset 
will accrue to the Group and the cost of these can be reliably 
estimated. All other costs for repairs and maintenance, as well as 
further expenditures, are recognised in the income statement in 
the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is expensed such 
that the asset’s cost, decreased by any estimated residual value 
at the end of its useful life, is depreciated on a straight-line basis 
over its expected useful life. Depreciation begins when the item of 



EDGEWARE AB / ANNUAL REPORT 2018     73 

property, plant and equipment can be taken into use. The useful life 
of equipment, tools and installations has been estimated at 3 years.

The estimated useful life, residual value and depreciation method 
is reviewed at least at the close of each reporting period, and the 
effect of any changes in estimates is reported from then on.

The carrying amount of a property, plant and equipment item is 
removed from the balance sheet when it is disposed of or divest-
ed, or when no further economic benefits are expected from the 
use or disposal/divestment of the asset. The gain or loss arising 
from the disposal or divestment of the asset is the difference 
between any net proceeds of the divestment and its carrying 
amount, and is recognised in profit or loss in the period when the 
asset is removed from the balance sheet.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Internally generated intangible assets – Capitalised product 
development expenses. Internally generated intangible assets 
arising from the Group’s product development are recognised 
only if the following conditions are met:

• it is technically feasible to complete the intangible asset and 
to use or sell it,

• the company intends to complete the intangible asset and to 
use or sell it,

• the conditions are in place for using or selling the intangible 
asset,

• the company shows how the intangible asset will generate 
probable future economic benefits,

• there are adequate technical, financial and other resources to 
complete the development and to use or sell the intangible 
asset,

• the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its 
development can be reliably measured, and

• if it is not possible to recognise an internally generated intan-
gible asset, then the development costs are expensed in the 
period in which they are incurred.

Cost includes all directly attributable expenditure, such as materi-
al and services, remuneration to employees, consultant fees, reg-
istration of legal rights, amortisation of patents and licenses, and 
indirect costs if these can be directly attributed to work required 
to complete the asset for its intended use.

After initial recognition, internally generated intangible assets are 
reported at cost less accumulated amortization and any accumu-
lated impairment losses. Useful life is estimated at 3 years. The 
estimated useful life and depreciation method is reviewed at least 
at the close of each financial year, and the effect of any changes 
in estimates is recognised from then on.

IMPAIRMENT OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND 
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
At each closing day, the Group analyses the carrying amounts 
of property, plant and equipment and of intangible assets to es-
tablish whether there is any indication that these have decreased 
in value. If this is the case, the asset’s recoverable amount is 
calculated in order to establish the level of any impairment loss. 
Where it is not possible to calculate the recoverable amount of 
an individual asset, the Group calculates the recoverable amount 
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Intangible assets with an indeterminate useful life, and intangible 
assets that are not yet ready for use, are tested for impairment 

annually or when there is an indication of a decrease in value.

The recoverable amount is the higher of the fair value minus 
selling expenses and its value in use. When calculating value 
in use, estimated future cash flows are discounted to present 
value using a discount rate before tax that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 
the asset.

If the recoverable amount for an asset (or cash-generating unit) is 
established to be lower than the carrying amount, then the carry-
ing amount for the asset (or cash-generating unit) is written down 
to the recoverable amount. Any write-down is to be expensed in 
the income statement straight away.

When an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to 
the remeasured recoverable amount, but the increased carrying 
amount must not exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been established if the asset (cash-generating unit) had not been 
written down in previous years. A reversal of an impairment loss 
is recognised directly in profit or loss.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
A financial asset or financial liability is recognised in the balance 
sheet when the Group becomes a party to the instrument’s 
contractual terms. A financial asset is removed from the balance 
sheet when the contractual right to the cash flow from the asset 
ceases, is settled or when the Group loses control over it. A finan-
cial liability, or part thereof, is removed from the balance sheet 
when the agreed obligation is fulfilled or otherwise ceases.

At each reporting date, the company assesses whether there are 
objective indications of impairment of a financial asset or group 
of financial assets on the basis of events that have occurred. 
Examples of such events include a substantial deterioration in the 
counterparty’s financial position or failure to pay amounts due.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and reported as 
a net amount in the balance sheet where there is a legal right to 
offset the amounts and it is intended that the items will be settled 
by a net amount or that the asset will be realized and the liability 
settled simultaneously.

The IAS 39 standard was applied to closing balances at 31 
December 2017, while the IFRS 9 standard was applied on 31 
December 2018. The classification of assets and liabilities accord-
ing to IAS 39 and IFRS 9 is clarified below.

IAS 39
Financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at 
fair value through profit or loss on the subsequent reporting date 
are recognised on initial recognition at fair value plus or minus 
transaction costs. Financial assets and financial liabilities that are 
measured at fair value through profit or loss on the subsequent 
reporting date are recognized on initial recognition at fair value. 
In subsequent reporting, financial instruments are measured at 
amortized cost or at fair value depending on their initial categori-
zation according to IAS 39.

On initial recognition, a financial instrument is classified in one of 
the following categories:

Financial assets:
a) At fair value through profit or loss
b) Loans and trade accounts receivables
c) Held-to-maturity investments
d) Available-for-sale financial assets
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Financial liabilities
a) At fair value through profit or loss
b) Other financial liabilities at amortized cost

Value of financial instruments
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities is deter-
mined as follows:

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities traded on an active 
market is determined by reference to quoted market prices.

The fair value of other financial assets and liabilities is determined 
according to generally accepted measurement models such as 
discounting of future cash flows and using information taken from 
relevant market transactions.

For all financial assets and liabilities, the carrying amount is 
considered to be a good approximation of their fair value unless 
specifically stated otherwise in subsequent notes.

Amortized cost
Amortised cost refers to the amount at which the asset or 
liability was initially recognised less repayments, supplements or 
deductions for accumulated accruals using the effective interest 
method of the initial difference between the amount received/
paid and the amount payable/receivable on the due date, and 
less impairment losses.

The effective interest rate is the rate at which discounting of all 
future expected cash flows over the expected term results in the 
initial carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash at hand and bank balanc-
es, as well as other short-term liquid deposits that can be readily 
converted into cash and for which the risk of changes in value is 
insignificant. To be classified as cash and cash equivalents, the 
maturity must not exceed three months from the date of acquisi-
tion. Cash at hand and bank balances are categorized as “Loan 
receivables and trade accounts receivable”, and are therefore 
measured at amortized cost. Since bank deposits are payable 
on demand, the amortized cost is equal to the nominal amount. 
Short-term investments are categorized as “Held for trading” and 
measured at fair value, with changes in value recognized through 
profit or loss.

Trade accounts receivable
Trade accounts receivable are categorized as “Loan receivables 
and trade accounts receivable” and are therefore measured at 
amortized cost. The anticipated duration of trade receivables 
is short, however; for this reason, they are reported at nom-
inal amounts without discounting. Deductions are made for 
receivables assessed to be doubtful. Impairment losses on trade 
accounts receivables are recognised in operating expenses.

Trade accounts payable
Trade accounts payable are categorized as “Other financial 
liabilities”, and are therefore measured at amortized cost. The an-
ticipated duration of trade accounts payables is short, however; 
for this reason, they are recognised at nominal amounts without 
discounting.

IFRS 9
Financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at 
fair value through profit or loss on the subsequent reporting date 
are recognised on initial recognition at fair value plus or minus 
transaction costs. Financial assets and financial liabilities that are 
measured at fair value through profit or loss on the subsequent 
reporting date are recognized on initial recognition at fair value. 
In subsequent reporting, financial instruments are measured at 

amortized cost or at fair value depending on their initial categori-
zation according to IFRS 9.

Edgeware applies two different business models. For cash and 
cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable and other current 
receivables, the company’s business model is “hold to collect,” 
which means that the purpose is to collect contractual cash flows 
and the agreed conditions for the financial assets give rise to, on 
specific dates, cash flows that only constitute payments of capital 
amounts and interest on the outstanding capital amount. Assets 
belonging to this business model are recognised at amortised 
cost. Current investments comprise mutual and fixed interest 
funds where Edgeware’s business model is “other” and where 
the nature of the cash flow excludes other business models. 
The holding is recognised at fair value through profit or loss. On 
initial recognition, a financial instrument is classified in one of the 
following categories:

Financial assets:
a) At fair value through profit or loss
b) Measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities
a) At fair value through profit or loss
b) Other financial liabilities at amortised cost

At fair value through profit or loss
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities is deter-
mined as follows:

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities traded on an active 
market is determined by reference to quoted market prices.

The fair value of other financial assets and liabilities is determined 
according to generally accepted measurement models such as 
discounting of future cash flows and using information taken from 
relevant market transactions.

For all financial assets and liabilities, the carrying amount is 
considered to be a good approximation of their fair value unless 
specifically stated otherwise in subsequent notes.

Amortized cost
Amortized cost refers to the amount at which the asset or 
liability was initially recognised less repayments, supplements or 
deductions for accumulated accruals using the effective interest 
method of the initial difference between the amount received/
paid and the amount payable/receivable on the due date, and 
less impairment losses.

The effective interest rate is the rate at which discounting of all 
future expected cash flows over the expected term results in the 
initial carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash at hand and bank balanc-
es, as well as other short-term liquid deposits that can be readily 
converted into cash and for which the risk of changes in value is 
insignificant. 

Trade accounts receivable
Trade accounts receivable include cash flow expected to be 
received from the company’s customers with receivables deemed 
to be doubtful.

Trade accounts payable
Trade accounts payable include anticipated outflow of cash flow 
to the company’s suppliers. 
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Current receivables
Other receivables include accrued income, deposits with a 
duration less than 12 months, lease assets and further other 
receivables. 

Current investments
Current investments are short-term interest fund investments.

Provisions are made at the amount which is the best estimate 
of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation on 
the closing day, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
associated with the obligation. When a provision is calculated 
by estimating the outflows that are expected to be required in 
order to settle the obligation, the carrying amount must equal the 
present value of these outflows.

Where part or all of the amount required to settle a provision is 
expected to be compensated by a third party, the compensation 
is to be reported separately as an asset in the statement of finan-
cial position when it is as good as certain that it will be received 
if the company settles the obligation and the amount can be 
reliably calculated.

INVENTORIES
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable 
value. Cost is determined using the first in, first out principle 
(FIFO). Net realisable value is the estimated selling price less the 
estimated costs of completion and estimated costs required to 
achieve a sale.

PROVISIONS
A provision is recognised when the Group has a present (legal or 
constructive) obligation as a result of a past event, and it is prob-
able that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the 
obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.

Provisions are made at the amount which is the best estimate 
of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation on 
the closing day, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
associated with the obligation. When a provision is calculated 
by estimating the outflows that are expected to be required in 
order to settle the obligation, the carrying amount must equal the 
present value of these outflows.

Where part or all of the amount required to settle a provision is 
expected to be compensated by a third party, the compensation 
is to be reported separately as an asset in the statement of finan-
cial position when it is as good as certain that it will be received 
if the company settles the obligation and the amount can be 
reliably calculated.

NOTE 3 KEY ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS
The main assumptions concerning the future are reported below, 
along with other significant sources of uncertainty in estimates on 
the balance-sheet date which represent a material risk of signifi-
cant adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
in the subsequent financial year.
 The main judgments made by the company management when 
applying the Group’s accounting principles and that have the 
most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial 
reports are also detailed. No impairment during 2018 (0.3 MSEK).

Impairment testing of capitalised development expenses
Capitalised development expenses that are not yet ready for use 
and thus are not subject to depreciation are tested for impair-
ment at least annually. When testing for impairment, company 
management makes assumptions concerning expected cash 
flow (based on budget) from the asset, and discounts this using 

a discount rate to establish the recoverable amount. Budgeted 
revenues and the discount rate are significant assumptions that 
could result in a need to apply impairment losses. No 
 
Capitalization of loss carryforwards
Capitalization of loss carryforwards is recognized to the extent 
that it is probable that the amounts can be used against future 
taxable surpluses. To establish how much of the carryforward 
can be capitalized, the company management makes judgments 
concerning the amounts and concerning when taxable surpluses 
may arise.
The company has unutilised loss carryforwards amounting to SEK 
51.5 million (42.2) that have been recognised as a deferred tax 
asset. 

Company management bases its judgment concerning capitaliza-
tion on forecasts of taxable surpluses based on a forecast for the 
foreseeable future. For further information, see Note 15.

Tax loss carryforwards of SEK 51.5 million (42.2) are attributable 
to the parent company Edgeware AB (publ). The carryforwards 
cannot be utilised by any other entity in the Group. There are 
no unrecognised loss carryforwards in the parent company. 
There are additional unrecognised loss carryforwards in the US 
subsidiary. The company is not certain whether or not these loss 
carryforwards will be utilisable because it is uncertain about when 
in the future a sufficient taxable surplus will be generated. The 
unrecognised tax loss carryforwards in the US subsidiary amount 
to MSEK 50,4 (53,8).

Recognition of revenue
The Group recognises revenue in accordance with IFRS 15. 
Assessment is made in conjunction with a significant new order or 
new contract as set out in the five steps below to determine when 
and how the revenue is to be recognised.

1) Identify agreement
2) Identify performance obligations
3) Establish transaction price
4) Allocate transaction price
5) Report the pace at which obligations are expected to be rec-
ognised as revenue

Identifying distinct promises (performance obligations) requires 
management to make significant judgements and estimates 
that may have a significant impact on the Group´s net sales and 
earnings.

Edgeware’s products and how they are usually expected to 
be recognised as revenue if they are individual obligations are 
described in Note 2.

NOTE 4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS

Through its operations the Group is exposed to various types of 
financial risks, such as market risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. 
The main market risks are interest-rate risk and currency risk. 
The company’s board of directors has the ultimate responsibil-
ity for exposure, management and monitoring of the Group’s 
financial risk. The frameworks that apply to exposure, manage-
ment and monitoring of financial risk are established by the 
board of directors in a financial policy adopted in 2016, which is 
revised annually. In the financial policy, the board has delegated 
responsibility for day-to-day risk management to the company’s 
CFO, which entails weekly follow-up and action on any overdue 
trade accounts receivable. Continuous assessment is made of 
new and existing trade accounts receivable in connection with 
order intake. Impairment testing of non-current assets is made 
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quarterly. The Board may decide to deviate temporarily from the 
established financial policy.

MARKET RISK

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that fair value or future cash flows will 
fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. Exposure 
to currency risk arises mainly from payment flows in foreign 
currency – which is known as transaction exposure – and from 
the translation of foreign subsidiaries’ income statements and 
balance sheets into SEK, the Group’s reporting currency – known 
as translation exposure.

Transaction exposure
Transaction exposure is the risk that earnings will be negatively 
impacted by fluctuations in exchange rates for cash flows that 
take place in foreign currency. The Group’s outflows are mainly in 
SEK, EUR and USD, and at the same time the Group’s inflows are 
mainly in EUR, USD and MXN. The Group is therefore considerably 
affected by changes in these exchange rates as regards operation-
al transaction exposure. Where financial transaction exposure is 
concerned, this is largely limited to intra-Group exposure.

The company’s policy allows forecast cash flows to be hedged on 
an ongoing basis. Under the financial policy, transaction exposure 
may be reduced through the use of derivative instruments. 

Edgeware does not apply hedge accounting. Edgeware employs 
currency future contracts to reduce the risk of an impact on 
cash flow. Currency hedging was introduced on 1 April 2017. 
Most of Edgeware’s accounts are invoiced in USD, EUR or MXN. 
Edgeware has historically had a balance between inflows and 
outflows of USD, thus representing a natural hedge. The net flow 
of USD will be continuously analysed to assess whether there is 
a need for hedging in the future. For EUR and MXN, exposure is 
considerable between EUR/SEK and MXN/SEK, thus comprising 
currency exposure that Edgeware can manage through hedging. 
If Edgeware chooses to hedge the flows as above, this will be 
done through hedging with forward contracts and swaps for 
orders with a value exceeding an amount corresponding to SEK 
2,000,000 and an expected payment term exceeding 60 days 
from receipt of an order. 

On the balance-sheet date, 33.7 percent of future cash flow in 
EUR, USD and MXN was hedged.

The table below shows the nominal net amounts of the major 
flows giving rise to transaction exposure. The exposure is stated 
based on the Group’s payment flows in the most significant cur-
rencies and is presented in SEK. 

31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017

EUR 127.2 129.3

USD 10.8               19.9

MXN 11.1    7.7

As of the balance-sheet date, the net book value of the Group’s 
monetary assets and liabilities, including internal receivables and 
liabilities translated to SEK, that are subject to translation into 
SEK amounted to the sums below: 

Currency 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017

EUR 75.2 59.2

USD 10.1 17.8

MXN 11.5 0.1

Translation exposure
Translation exposure is the risk that the value of the Group’s net 
investments in foreign currency will be negatively impacted by 
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group consolidates the 
net assets in SEK on the closing day. This risk is known as trans-
lation exposure and is not currency-hedged under the Group’s 
financial policy.

The translation exposure for net investments in foreign currency is 
stated in local currency.

The Group’s net investments refer to investments in the foreign 
subsidiary Edgeware Inc. in the US. The net investments corre-
spond to the value of the company’s equity and amounted to a 
net expense of USD 3.8 million (expense: 4.2) as of 31 December 
2018.

The table below, “Sensitivity analysis for market risk”, presents 
the effects of exchange rate fluctuations against SEK for the most 
significant foreign currencies.

INTEREST-RATE RISK 
Interest-rate risk is the risk that fair value or future cash flows 
will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. Under the 
Group’s financial policy, interest-rate risk is not to be hedged.

The table below, “Sensitivity analysis for market risk”, presents 
the effects of changes in market interest rates.

Sensitivity analysis for market risk. The “Sensitivity analysis for cur-
rency risk” shows the Group’s sensitivity to a 10-percent increase 
or decrease respectively in the exchange rate for SEK against the 
most significant foreign currencies. For transaction exposure, the 
table shows how the Group’s earnings after tax would have been 
affected by a change in the exchange rate. This also includes 
outstanding monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currency on 
the closing day, including loans between Group companies where 
the currency effect impacts the Group’s income statement. For 
translation exposure, the table shows how the Group’s earnings 
after tax and equity would have been affected by a change in the 
exchange rate.
The sensitivity analysis for interest-rate risk shows the Group’s 
sensitivity to a 1-percent increase in the market interest rate. The 
interest-rate sensitivity
shows the effect on earnings after tax of a change in the market 
interest rate, as regards interest income and expense and valua-
tions. Since the Group does not report changes in value in other 
comprehensive income or equity, there is a corresponding effect 
on equity.
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Credit and counterparty risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty in a transaction will not fulfill 
its contractual obligations, thereby incurring a loss for the Group. The 
Group’s exposure to credit risk is mainly attributable to trade accounts 
receivable. To limit the Group’s credit risk, the company has formulated 
a credit policy that stipulates, for example, the requirement of a credit 
assessment of every new customer. The situation of existing customers 
is also monitored continuously, in order to identify warning signs at an 
early stage. Credit risk also arises when the company’s surplus liquidity 
is invested in various types of financial instruments. Under the financial 
policy, surplus liquidity may only be placed in interest-bearing bank 
accounts or in interest-bearing securities. The financial policy states 
that credit risk from the investment of surplus liquidity is to be reduced 
by only investing with counterparties that have a very good rating. The 
financial policy also states that investments shall normally be spread 
across multiple counterparties or issuers. The credit risk pertaining 
to bank balances is limited because the counterparties are banks 
with a high credit rating. A board decision is required for alternative 
investments above and beyond what has been approved in the financial 
policy.

applicable on the closing day. Amounts in foreign currency have 
been translated into SEK at closing day exchange rates. The 
Group’s loan agreements contain no special conditions that could 
result in the payment date being significantly earlier that shown 
in the tables. The information below shows that the expected 
outflow amounts to approximately SEK 23.1 million (19.6) over 
the coming 12 months. The Group’s liquidity reserve is defined as 
cash and cash equivalents, which amounted to SEK 93.1 million 
(97.7) at year-end, and this will be used to meet this outflow. 
There are also current investments amounting to SEK 74.9 million 
(75.1). In addition, there is the possibility of borrowing against 
trade accounts receivable if further funds should be needed in 
the short term.

2018
Effect on

 profit/loss

31 Dec 2018
Effect on 

shareholders’ 
equity

2017
Effect on

 profit/loss

31 Dec 2017
Effect on 

shareholders’ 
equity

Transaction exposure

EUR 14.5       8.4

USD 1.2     1.3

MXN 1.3  0.5

Translation exposure

USD -0.5 -0.4

Interest

SEK

Financial expenses 0 0

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCING RISK
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group encounters problems meet-
ing its commitments related to the Group’s financial liabilities. Fi-
nancing risk is the risk that the Group is unable to obtain sufficient 
financing at a reasonable cost. In the event of a future liquidity 
shortfall, the company could potentially sell its trade accounts 
receivable using a factoring solution.

The maturity profile of contractual payment commitments related 
to the Group’s and the parent company’s financial liabilities, ex-
cluding derivatives, is presented in the tables below. The amounts 
in these tables are not discounted values and they also include in-
terest payments where relevant, which means that these amounts 
cannot be reconciled with the amounts reported in the balance 
sheets. Interest payments are established based on the conditions 

31 Dec 2018 Within 3 months  3-12 months  1-5 years
 more than 5 

years Total

Trade accounts payable 19.4 19.4

Other current liabilities 3.2 1.1 4.3

Total 22.6 1.1 0.0 0.0 23.7

31 Dec 2017 Within 3 months  3-12 months  1-5 years
 more than 5 

years Total

Trade accounts payable 18.9 18.9

Other current liabilities 0.5 0.5

Total 18.9 0.5 0.0 0.0 19.4

The Group’s standard terms of payment are 30 days. The average credit 
period for sales is 69 days. The Group always assesses the risk of credit 
losses using an amount that corresponds to the estimated term of the 
receivable. The expected credit loss on outstanding trade accounts 
receivable is estimated using a matrix based on the individual custom-
er’s payment history, an assessment of the customer’s current financial 
position, adapted for factors specific to the customer, general economic 
conditions in the country and industry in which the customer operates, 
and estimates of both the current and forecast conditions on the report-
ing date. The customers are organised into various risk classes based 
on these factors. However, during 2018, Edgeware had a customer loss 
of SEK 3.4 million relating to a customer. There is no outstanding claim 
against this customer. Historically, Edgeware has had very few bad debt 
losses, which impacts the assessment of the estimated bad debt reserve 
in the matrix.

The Group recognises a trade account receivable as a bad debt when 
the creditor is under liquidation or has entered receivership or when 
a trade account receivable fell due for payment more than two years 
previously, whichever occurs first. None of the trade accounts receivable 
that were written off were the subject of an enforcement order.
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Prior to the approval of a new customer, a process is used to determine 
credit limits. An external credit assessment system is used to assess 
the credit worthiness of potential customers and define credit limits for 
the customer. Limits and points allotted to the customers are reviewed 
and approved twice a year by the risk management committee, which 
comprises the business controller and the CFO. 80 percent of trade 
accounts receivable have the highest credit worthiness, which can be 
attributed to the external credit score system used by the Group.

Monitoring procedure exists to ensure that follow-up measures are 
taken to recover overdue receivables. In addition, the Group reviews the 
recovery value of each individual case at the end of the reporting period 
to ensure that sufficient loss offsetting is conducted for non-recoverable 
amounts. This process has a material impact on the credit risks and is 
continuously followed up. Evaluation and results are communicated on 
an ongoing basis to the relevant member of Group management.

Trade accounts receivable comprise a large number of customers divid-
ed among various segments and geographic areas. Continuous credit 
assessment is conducted and advance payments are applied when a 
customer’s credit worthiness is not satisfactory in the risk assessment.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is judged to be reflected in 
the carrying amounts of all financial assets, and shown in the table below.

31 Dec 
2018

31 Dec 
2017

Trade accounts receivable 83.3     72.8

Other current receivables 0.2 1.8

Current investments 74.9 75.1

Accrued income 5.5 4.7

Cash and cash equivalents 93.1   97.7 

Maximum exposure to credit risk 257.0   252.1

Trade accounts receivable are spread across a considerable number of 
customers, but we have a number of major customers representing a 
large share of the company’s sales, which also leads to high concentra-
tion of the total trade accounts receivable on certain occasions. Trade 
accounts receivable are not concentrated to a specific geographical 
area. The Group therefore assesses that the concentration risk is limited. 
Of the balance of receivables at the end of the year, SEK 25.6 million 
(31 December 2017: SEK 7.4 million) were from the Group’s largest cus-
tomer. Apart from this, the Group has no significant exposure to credit 
risks against any single counterparty or any counterparty group with 
similar properties. The Group defines counterparties as having similar 
properties if they are closely related. The concentration of credit risk is 
limited due to the customer base being large and unrelated.

The Group has no securities orother credits to cover this credit risk 
in conjunction with its financial assets. 

The table below shows the company’s calculation matrix on assessment 
of the credit loss reserve according to IFRS 9. 

CATEGORISATION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities by 
measurement category according to IFRS 9 and the bridge from 
IAS 39 to IFRS 9 are shown in the table below. All financial assets 
and liabilities are recognised at amortised cost, which is a good 
approximation of fair value. 31 Dec 2017 closing balances are 
measured according to IAS 39. 31 Dec 2018 closing balances are 
measured according to IFRS 9.

Categorisation of financial instruments

31 Dec 2018

Financial assets 
Amortised cost

Cash and bank balances 93.1

Trade accounts receivables 83.5

Deposit 3.7

Accrued income 5.5

Fair value through profit or loss

Current investments 74.9

260.7

Categorisation of financial instruments

31 Dec 2018

Financial liabilities 
Amortised cost

Trade accounts payable and other 
liabilities

24.3

Accrued expenses 21.0

45.3

 The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities by mea-
surement category according to IAS 39 is shown in the table below. All 
financial assets and liabilities are recognised at amortised cost, which is 
a good approximation of fair value.

31 Dec 2017

Financial assets, trade loan receivables 
and trade accounts receivable

Trade accounts receivable 72.8

Accrued income 4.7

Cash and cash equivalents 97.7

Total 175.2

Available-for-sale financial assets

Current investments 75.1

Other liabilities

Accrued expenses 13.1

Trade accounts payable 18.9

Total 32.0

Credit assessment

VERY LOW RISK LOW RISK MEDIUM RISK HIGH RISK NO CREDIT

A B C D E

0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 10.00%

0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 15.00%

0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 5.00% 20.00%

0.00% 0.00% 5.00% 10.00% 25.00%

0.00% 5.00% 10.00% 20.00% 50.00%

10.00% 15.00% 20.00% 25.00% 50.00%

25.00% 50.00% 75.00% 100.00% 100.00%
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MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
Financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair 
value in the balance sheet, or for which fair value disclosures are 
made, are classified at one of three levels based on the informa-
tion used to establish fair value.

Level 1 – Financial instruments for which fair value is established 
based on observable quoted prices (unadjusted) on active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities. A market is regarded 
as active if quoted prices from a stock market, broker, industry 
group, pricing service or supervisory authority are readily and 
regularly available and these prices represent actual and regularly 
occurring market transactions at arm’s length.

Level 2 – Financial instruments for which fair value is established 
using measurement models that are based on observable data 
for the assets or liabilities other than quoted prices included in 
level 1, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from 
prices).

Examples of observable data within level 2 are:
•  Quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities.
•  Data that can provide a basis for price assessment, e.g. market 

interest rates and yield curves.
 
Level 3 - Financial instruments for which fair value is established 
using measurement models in which input data is based on 
non-observable data.

For cash and cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable, other 
current receivables, accrued income, trade accounts payable and 
other current liabilities, the carrying amount is a good approxi-
mation of the fair value when the maturity is short. Current invest-
ments amounted to SEK 74.9 million (75.1) and were measured at 
fair value in accordance with level 1 and bank documentation.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Group’s aim as regards capital management is to ensure the 
Group’s ability to continue its operations in order to generate a 
reasonable return to shareholders and for the benefit of other 
stakeholders. The company defines the capital as equity. The 
company’s equity is presented in the consolidated balance sheet.

NOTE 5 SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segments are reported in compliance with the internal 
reports submitted to the highest executive decision-maker. The 
Group’s sales are monitored by region – EMEA, APAC and AMER-
ICAS – based on two business areas: Products and Services. 
The outcomes by region and business area consist of the sum 
of invoices issued for products and services sold from different 
parts of the Group. These are not, however, reflected in separate 
income statements and balance sheets.

The Group’s regions and business areas use common resources 
for sales activities, development work and administration and, 
accordingly, dividing up the company’s costs is only possibly 
through allocation of the costs. The same applies to assets and 
liabilities. Group management does not feel that an allocation of 
income statement and balance sheet items would provide a fairer 
view of operations and therefore follows results for the Group as 
a whole. Accordingly, the Group has not identified any operating 
segments.

The largest customer accounted for 19.4 percent (17.7) of Edge-
ware’s total net sales in 2018, the three largest for 50.2 percent 
(38.5) and the five largest for 63.2 percent (51.4).

NOTE 6 NET SALES BY SALES CATEGORY AND REGION

The table below shows the breakdown of net sales by sales 
category and region. 

Breakdown of revenue accord-
ing to IFRS 15

MSEK 2018 2017

Net sales by sales category  

Products 175.9 182.9

Services 55.9 53.9

   Of which, technical support and 
maintenance 48.4 45.3

   Of which, Professional Services 7.5 8.6

Total net sales 231.9 236.8

 

Net sales by region  

EMEA 161.5 163.9

AMERICAS 48.4 37.1

APAC 22.0 35.8

Total net sales 231.9 236.8

 

Net sales by point in time  

At one point in time 183.5 191.6

Over time 48.4 45.3

Total net sales 231.9 236.8

Portion of net sales pertaining to 
sales in Sweden 30.4 12.8

* Products include hardware, software and capacity and software 
licenses. 

Contractual 
assets

Closing balance 31 
December 2018

Software installa-
tions and integra-
tion services 3.2

Contractual 
assets

Opening bal-
ance 1 January 
2017

Closing balance 31 
December 2017

Software installa-
tions and integra-
tion services

3.9 3.0

Amounts attributable to the installation of software and inte-
gration services are recognised as revenue during the period in 
which the installation is conducted and represent the Group’s 
right to receive remuneration for services performed to date. 
However, the payment dates follow milestone approval and may 
occur at later dates. Contractual assets are organised under the 
heading of prepaid expenses and accrued income in the balance 
sheet.
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Contractual liabilities

Closing 
balance 31 De-
cember 2018

Technical support and 
maintenance 36.5

Software installations 
and integration services 3.3

Contractual liabilities

Opening bal-
ance 1 January 
2017

Closing 
balance 31 De-
cember 2017

Technical support and 
maintenance 29.2 32.8

Software installations 
and integration services 8.5 1.1

Revenue attributable to technical support and maintenance is 
also recognised over time if the customer pays in advance. A 
contractual liability is recognised in conjunction with the receipt 
of advance payment. Contractual liabilities are dissolved and rev-
enue is recognized over the period that support and maintenance 
is delivered to the customer.

Contractual liabilities pertaining to support and maintenance 
are liabilities to customers that arise when a payment exceeds 
the revenue recognised for planned maintenance or installation. 
Payment is usually made in advance at the beginning of the 
contract period.

Revenue for service and integration support is recognised in the 
period in which the work is completed, while the invoicing follows 
the agreed time of invoicing in the contract. 

Contractual liabilities are organised under the heading of accrued 
expenses and deferred income. 

Initial contractual liabilities as of 1 January 2017 have, in its en-
tirety, been recognized in 2017 and the contractual liability as of 
January 1, 2018 has been recognized in its entirety in 2018.

 2019 2020 2021

Anticipated revenue recognition 
of support and maintenance 28.9 7.6 3.3

Anticipated revenue recogni-
tion of service and integration 
support 3.3  

Anticipated revenue recognition of contractual liabilities in 
accordance with the above and anticipated times of payment for 
contractual assets. The table shows the allocation of the transac-
tion price distributed among remaining performance obligations. 
Edgeware applies relief rules regarding IFRS 15 and does not 
provide any disclosures for the comparative year.

NOTE 7 OTHER OPERATING INCOME/EXPENSES

2018 2017

Exchange gains 1.8  1.7

Exchange losses -1.6 -1.4

Restructuring expenses -3.3 -

Total -3,1 0.3

 

NOTE 8 OPERATING EXPENSES

2018 2017

Cost of goods and materials 71.7 60.5

Remuneration of employees (Notes 
12, 18) 114.4 105.8

Depreciation (Notes 9, 18, 19) 13.8 11.8

Other operating expenses (Notes 
10, 11) 41.1 46.9

Total 241.0 225.0

NOTE 9 DEPRECIATION/AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT 

OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

2018 2017

Cost of goods sold 2.7 3.3

Research and development expenses 11.1 8.5

Total 13.8 11.8

NOTE 10 AUDITOR’S FEES

2018 2017

Deloitte AB

Audit assignments 0.6 0.7

Auditing activity other  
than audit assignments 0 0

Other services 0.1 0.1

Total 0.7 0.8

The audit assignment amounts are the fees paid to the auditor 
for the statutory audit. The audit involves examining the annual 
accounts and consolidated financial statements, the accounting 
records and the administration of the company by the Board of Di-
rectors and CEO, as well as fees for audit advisory services provided 
in connection with the audit assignment. 

NOTE 11 LEASES

Operating leases - lessees
The Group is a lessee in operating leases for rented premises. The 
year’s expensed lease payments for operating leases totalled SEK 
5.2 million (4.3) in the Group. Future minimum lease payments and 
variable payments for non-cancellable operating leases fall due as 
follows:

Maturity: 2018 2017

Future minimum lease payments

Within one year 6.3 2.8

Later than one year but within five 
years 4.8 0

Total 11.1 2.8
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NOTE 12 NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES, PERSONNEL EXPENSES AND EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT 

Average number 2018 Average number 2017

Average number of employees Women Men Total Women Men Total

Parent company:

Sweden 12 68 80 9 64 73

Total in parent company 12 68 80 9 64 73

Subsidiaries

USA 1 5 6 1 6 7

Total in subsidiaries 1 5 6 1 6 7

Total in Group 13 73 86 10 70 80

Number of consultants subject to terms and conditions 
equivalent to employment 0 22 22 1 23    24

Total in the Group, including consultants subject to 
terms and conditions equivalent to employment 13 95 108 11 93 104

31 Dec 
2018

31 Dec 
2017

Parent company

Women:

     Board of directors 2 1

     Other executive management incl. CEO 0 1

Men:

     Board of directors 4 5

     Other executive management incl. CEO 8 9

Total in parent company 14 16

Group

Women:

     Board of directors 2 1

     Other executive management incl. CEO 0 1

Men:

     Board of directors 4 5

     Other executive management incl. CEO 8 9

Total in Group 14 16

Cost of employee remuneration 2018 2017

Parent company

Salaries and other remuneration 72.2 62.4

Social insurance contributions 16.1 16.4

Pension expenses, defined-contribution plans 12.5 10.0

Subsidiaries

Salaries and other remuneration 12.6 11.2

Social insurance contributions 0.6 0.5

Pension expenses, defined-contribution plans 0.4 0.4

Total salaries and other remuneration, Group 84.8 73.6

Total social insurance contributions, Group 16.7 16.9

Total pension costs, Group, defined contribution 12.9 10.4

Total in Group 114.4 100.9

Invoiced costs for consultants subject to terms and conditions equivalent to employment 32.2 30.2

Total in the Group, including costs for consultants subject to terms and conditions equivalent to 
employment 146.6 131.1
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Remuneration of executive management in 2018
 

Fee

Variable  
remunera-

tion
Other 

benefits

Share-based 
remunera-

tion
Pension 

cost Total

Chairman of the board Michael Ruffolo* 1.9 0 0 0 0 1.9

Board member Tuija Soanjärvi 0.2 0 0 0 0 0.2

Board member Arnd Bennighof 0.2 0 0 0 0 0.2

Board member Jonas Hasselberg 0.2 0 0 0 0 0.2

Board member Sigrun Hjelmquist 0.2 0 0 0 0 0.2

Board member Kent Sander 0.2 0 0 0 0 0.2

CEO Karl Thedéen 2.4 0.3 0 0 0.7 3.6

Chief Executive Officer Joachim Roos 0.2 0.5 0 0 0.1 0.8

Other executive management (8 individuals)** 9.7 3.4 0 0 1.4 14.8

Total remuneration of executive management 15.2 4.2 0 0 2.2 22.1

Remuneration of executive management in 2017
 

Fee

Variable  
remunera-

tion
Other 

benefits

Share-based 
remunera-

tion
Pension 

cost Total

Chairman of the board Michael Ruffolo* 1.9 0 0 0 0 1.9

Board member Jason Pinto 0.2 0 0 0 0 0.2

Board member Staffan Helgesson 0.2 0 0 0 0 0.2

Board member Karl Thedéen 0.2 0 0 0 0 0.2

Board member Sigrun Hjelmquist 0.2 0 0 0 0 0.2

Board member Kent Sander 0.2 0 0 0 0 0.2

Chief Executive Officer Joachim Roos 2.1 1.0 0 0 0.7 4.0

Other executive management (10 individuals)** 14.6 3.6 0 0 1.8 20.3

Total remuneration of executive management 19.6 4.6 0 0 2.5 27.2

The total remuneration is to be based on market terms, be com-
petitive, well balanced and not wage leading while contributing 
to good business ethics and company culture. Fixed salary is to 
be based on the executive management’s competence and area 
of responsibility, be individual and is normally to be reviewed 
every year.

Executive management may also be granted customary 
non-monetary benefits, although such benefits shall not consti-
tute a material part of the total remuneration. The vesting period 
for the LTI programme must be at least three years. The LTI 
programme is to be based on shares or share-related securities. 
The purpose of the LTI is to ensure long-term incentives linked to 
Edgeware’s development. Every share-based LTI requires approv-
al of the shareholders before implementation.

Pension benefits are to be premium based and constitute 4.5 
percent of the pension-qualifying salary up to 7.5 income base 
amounts and 30 percent on any excess amount. The board of 
directors shall be entitled to deviate from the guidelines if there 
is special reason to do so in an individual case. 

Salaries and other remuneration for executive management and other employees 2018 2017

Parent company

Salaries and other remuneration, executive management (8 individuals) 15.1     19.5

   of which bonuses and similar remuneration 4.2         4.6

Salaries and other remuneration, other employees 52.9 38.3

Total salaries and other remuneration, parent company 72.2 62.4

Salaries and other remuneration for executive management and other employees 2018 2017

Group

Salaries and other remuneration, executive management (8 individuals) 16.5 21.3

   of which bonuses and similar remuneration 4.2     4.6

Salaries and other remuneration, other employees 64.1     47.7

Total salaries and other remuneration, as well as pension expenses
for executive management, Group 84.8 73.6

NUMBER OF BOARD MEMBERS AND OTHER EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

Remuneration to executive management 
Fees and other remuneration to the members of the board of 
directors, including the chairman, are resolved by the sharehold-
ers’ meeting. The annual general meeting (AGM) held on 4 May 
2018 resolved that director fees would be payable in an amount 
of SEK 1,495,000, whereby the chairman of the board would re-
ceive SEK 500,000 and each other board member would receive 
SEK 180,000. It was also resolved that fees for committee work 
on the audit committee would be payable in a maximum amount 
of SEK 60,000, of which SEK 30,000 to the chairman of the 
committee and SEK 15,000 to each of the two other members. It 
was resolved that fees for committee work on the remuneration 
committee would be payable in the amount of SEK 15,000 to the 
chairman of the committee. The company’s board members are 
not entitled to any benefits after their assignments on the board 
have ended. The AGM held on 4 May 2018 adopted guidelines 
for remuneration to the CEO and other executive management. 
The remuneration of the executive management shall consist 
of fixed salary, variable remuneration, long-term share-based or 
share-related incentive plans (LTI) and pension provisions.

* The Chairman’s remuneration includes both board fees and a continuous remuneration for other assignments within the Group.
** During the year, one member of executive management left, while one joined. 
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tle the holder to subscribe for one new share at a subscription price 
for the warrants corresponding to 130 percent of the average of the 
listed volume-weighted price paid on each trading day according 
to Nasdaq Stockholm for shares in Edgeware for the period of 10 
trading days as of 4 May 2018. The redemption price was set at 
SEK 19. The fair value per option has been calculated according 
to Black and Scholes, with volatility of 34%, the time factor of 3,53 
years and interest rate -0.19% as the principal parameters. 693,600 
of the warrants were subscribed and paid for in cash in June 2018. 
To encourage participation in LTI 2018, there is the intention that 
the employees, apart from the CEO, who choose to participate in 
the programme will receive a premium subsidy in the form of ad-
ditional salary at a net amount corresponding to 50 percent of the 
paid option premium. Payment will be made on two occasions, with 
50 percent after one year and 50 percent after two years, assuming 
continued employment. Edgeware’s expense for the additional 
payment described above is expected to amount to approximately 
SEK 1.23 million. The amounts are reported as personnel costs.

Assuming maximum exercise, the share capital will increase by SEK 
40,021.50 corresponding to 2.7 percent. The redemption period is 
from 1 January 2021 to 30 November 2021. The year’s costs for 
share-based remuneration, which is settled in the form of equity 
instruments, amounted to TSEK 0.1 (0) in the Group. The effect 
on the Group’s financial position was TSEK 0.1 (0). What is stated 
above for the Group also applies to the parent company.

NOTE 13 FINANCIAL INCOME

2018 2017

Interest income 0.5 0.4

Exchange gains 2.7 1.1

Total 3.2 1.5

See Note 4 for categorisation of financial income.

NOTE 14 FINANCIAL EXPENSES

2018 2017

Interest expense -0.6 -0.4

Exchange losses -1.8 -1.5

Total -2.4 -1.9

See Note 4 for categorisation of financial expense.

NOTE 15 TAX

2018 2017

Deferred tax

This year’s deferred tax 2.0 -3.8

Adjustments recognised in current 
year for previous year’s current tax - 0.3

Deferred tax attributable to tem-
porary differences attributable to 
changed tax rates  -0.3 -

Deferred tax attributable to  
temporary differences - -0.5

Total 1.7 -3.9

Pensions
The retirement age of the CEO is 65. The pension premium 
amounts to 35 percent (35) of pensionable salary for 2018. The 
pension solution consists of a voluntary plan that reflects ITP1, 
which means that it is defined-contribution and constitutes 4.5 
percent of pensionable salary up to 7.5 income base amounts 
and 30 percent of any excess amount. The retirement age for 
other executive management varies between 65 and 67.

Severance pay agreement
There is a mutual period of notice of termination between the 
company and the CEO of 12 months. In the case of termination 
by the company, severance pay equivalent to six monthly salaries 
is payable. Other income is not deducted from the severance 
pay. If the CEO resigns, no severance pay is payable.

Share-based remuneration
Warrants 2013-2014
The Group has issued share-based remuneration that will be 
settled in the form of equity instruments to Michael Ruffolo. 
The share-based remuneration consists of warrants. Warrants 
have been issued for 2013 and 2014 and expire at the time of 
a change in the ownership of at least a majority of the shares. A 
total of 13,659 warrants have been issued and the average exer-
cise price is SEK 400. The vesting period for the warrants is three 
years, but full conversion rights apply if there is a change in the 
company’s ownership before the end of the vesting period. 

Warrants 2016
An extraordinary general meeting on April 29, 2016 resolved to 
issue not more than 2,060 series B common shares to the new di-
rectors. The proceeds were received in June. The new issue was 
registered with the Swedish Companies Registration Office on 
14 July 2016. The shares were subscribed at market value and no 
cost was incurred by the company. 1,500 shares were subscribed 
for and increased the share capital by SEK 1,500. The subscrip-
tion period for the remaining warrants has expired.

Warrants 2016/2019
The extraordinary shareholders’ meeting held on 28 November 
2016 resolved to issue not more than 130,000 warrants as part 
of a three-year long-term incentive plan for about five members 
of executive management of the company. The Chief Executive 
Officer is not covered by the plan. Transfers to the participants will 
take place at the market value of the warrant and each warrant will 
entitle the holder to subscribe for one new share at a subscrip-
tion price for the warrants corresponding to 120 percent of the 
offering price in connection with the company’s listing on Nasdaq 
Stockholm, corresponding to an exercise price of SEK 34.80. The 
fair value per option has been calculated according to Black and 
Scholes, with volatility, the time factor and interest rate as the 
principal parameters. 130,000 of the warrants were subscribed and 
paid for in cash in December 2016. The warrants were subscribed 
at market value and no cost was incurred by the company. Assum-
ing maximum exercise, the share capital will increase by SEK 6,500 
corresponding to 0.43 percent. The exercise period for this is 
during the period 1 January 2020 through 31 May 2020.

The year’s costs for share-based remuneration, which is settled 
in the form of equity instruments, amounted to SEK 0 (0) in the 
Group. The effect on the Group’s financial position was SEK 0 (0). 
What is stated above for the Group also applies to the parent 
company.

Warrants 2018/2021
On 4 May 2018, the AGM resolved to issue not more than 800,430 
warrants as part of a three-and-a-half year long-term incentive 
programme for the CEO, executive management and other key 
employees of the company. Transfers to the participants are to take 
place at the market value of the option and each warrant is to enti-
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Reconciliation of the year’s tax 
expenses 2018 2017

Pre-tax profit -8.3 11.4

Tax based on Swedish tax rate (22%) 1.8 -2.5

Tax effect of non-deductible  
expenses and losses: 

Deficit for the year for which no 
deferred tax assets have been 
recognised 0.8 -0.6

Temporary differences for the year 
for which no deferred tax assets 
have been recognised - -0.2

Other non-deductible expenses  
and losses -0.5 -0.4

Deduction for reversed accelerated 
depreciation and changes  
in accelerated depreciation 0.1 -0.1

Total 2.0 -3.8

Deferred tax attributable to  
temporary differences - -0.5

Adjustment of deferred tax attribut-
able to changed tax rates  

-0.3

Adjustments recognised in current 
year for previous year’s current tax 0 0.3

Tax expenses recognised for the 
year 1.7 -3.9

In the closing accounts for 2016, expenses related to the IPO that 
were recognised through equity were incorrectly shown as being 
non tax deductible. Accordingly, equity for the second quarter of 
2017 was increased by SEK 2.9 million, corresponding to the pos-
itive tax effect of these expenses deriving from the 2017 tax year. 

In 2018, a nonrecurring effect of SEK 0.1 million was recognised 
in equity due to a change of calculation model for anticipated 
bad debts on trade accounts receivable as a result of future loss-
es being taken into consideration in line with IFRS 9.
 
Earnings for the period were impacted by a higher tax expense 
of SEK 0.3 million stemming from the restatement of the deferred 
tax asset due to the adopted future amendment to the corporate 
tax rate in Sweden. New loss carryforwards were also capitalised 
in an amount of SEK 9.5 million during the period.

Current tax recognised directly in equity thus amounts to SEK 0 
million (2.9). Deferred tax recognised directly in equity amounts 
to SEK 0.1 million (0). Current tax recognised in other com-
prehensive income amounts to SEK 0 million (0). Deferred tax 
recognised in other comprehensive income amounts to SEK 0 
million (0).

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
The Group’s deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate 
to the following items:
  

31 Dec 
2018

31 Dec 
2017

Deferred tax assets

Withholding tax 1.6 1.5

Unutilised tax loss carryforwards 11.0 9.3

Deferred tax assets 12.6 10.8

Deferred tax assets are measured at no more than the amount 
that is likely to be recovered based on current and future taxable 
profits. The company has unutilised loss carryforwards amounting 
to SEK 51.5 million (42.2) that have been recognised as a deferred 
tax asset. The US subsidiary has additional loss carryforwards that 

have not been recognised as a deferred tax asset. The company is 
not certain whether or not these loss carryforwards will be utilisable 
because it is uncertain about when in the future a sufficient taxable 
surplus will be generated. The unrecognised tax loss carryforwards 
in the US subsidiary amount to MSEK 50.4 (53.8). The tax rate for 
calculating deferred tax is 20.6 percent (22.0).

NOTE 16 EARNINGS PER SHARE
Earnings per share before dilution in full kronor.
The following amounts for profits and weighted average number 
of ordinary shares have been used in calculating earnings per 
share before dilution:

2018 2017

Profit for the year attributable to 
owners of the parent -6,611,650 7,469,531

Average number of outstanding 
ordinary shares, before dilution 30 43,008 30,043,008

Earnings per share before  
dilution, SEK -0.2 0.2

Earnings per share after dilution in full kronor.
The following amounts for profits and weighted average number 
of ordinary shares have been used in calculating earnings per 
share after dilution:

2018 2017

Profit for the year attributable to 
owners of the parent -6,611,650 7,469,531

Average number of outstanding 
ordinary shares, before dilution 30,048,586 30,048,586

Effect of warrants,  
number of shares - 1,482

Earnings per share after  
dilution, SEK -0.2 0.2

NOTE 17 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The Group had the following subsidiaries as of 31 December 
2018 and 2017 (The Hong Kong entity was established 2018):

Name
Corp. Reg. No. and 
country of operation Operations

Holding 
(%)1)

Edgeware 
Inc

USA
Responsible for sales 
in North, Central 
and South America 100

Edge-
ware HK

Hong Kong Responsible for 
sales in Asia

100

1) The percentage holding pertains to the ownership share and percentage 
of voting rights.

The Group has no significant non-controlling interests.

NOTE 18 CAPITALISED EXPENDITURE ON 

DEVELOPMENT WORK
2018 2017

Cost as of 1 January 40.5 28.0

Assets developed internally 13.9 13.7

Sales/disposals - -1.2

Closing accumulated cost as of 31 
December 54.4 40.5

Depreciation as of 1 January -20.6 -13.2

Depreciation for the year -11.1 -8.3

Sales/disposals - 0.9

Closing accumulated depreciation as 
of 31 December -31.7 -20.6

Carrying amount as of 31 December 22.7 19.9
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NOTE 19 OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

2018 2017

Cost as of  
1 January 0.2 –

Purchases 0.6 0.2

Closing accumulated cost as of 31 
December 0.8 0.2

Amortisation as of 1 January – –

Amortisation for the year – –

Closing accumulated amortisation as 
of 31 December – –

Carrying amount as of 31 December 0.8 0.2

NOTE 20 TRADEMARKS 

2018 2017

Cost as of  
1 January 0.8 –

Acquisitions – 0.8

Closing accumulated cost as of 31 
December 0.8 0.8

Amortisation as of 1 January – –

Amortisation for the year – –

Closing accumulated amortisation as 
of 31 December – –

Carrying amount as of 31 December 0.8 0.8

Trademark relates to the Edgeware name, in part, nationally in 
the UK and, in part, across the rest of the EU. Impairment testing 
is conducted continuously.

NOTE 21 EQUIPMENT, TOOLS AND INSTALLATIONS 

2018 2017

Cost as of  
1 January 25.0 21.9

Purchases 0.3 0.7

Reclassifications 1.1 2.4

Closing accumulated cost as of 31 
December 26.4 25.0

Amortisation as of 1 January -20.8 -17.5

Amortisation for the year -2.7 -3.3

Closing accumulated amortisation as 
of 31 December -23.5 -20.8

Carrying amount as of 31 December 2.9 4.2

NOTE 22 OTHER NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES

31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017

Deposit, landlord 1.0 1.0

Deposit, Business Sweden 0.9 4.0

Carrying amount 1.9 5.0

During 2018, SEK 4.2 million in deposits from Business Sweden 
was transferred from long-term receivables to other current receiv-
ables, since the amount is expected to be repaid within 12 months.

NOTE 23 INVENTORIES

Inventories consist of components, third-party products and 
finished products. Inventories recognised as costs during the year 
are included in the cost of goods sold and amounted to SEK 0.5 
million (1.3), partially related to a product group that is approach-
ing the end of its lifecycle.

NOTE 24 TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Management considers the carrying amount of trade accounts 
receivable, net after reserves for doubtful receivables, to be the 
same as fair value. The company recognised an anticipated bad 
debt during 2018 of SEK 3.3 million (0.1). In 2016, a provision 
was posted for anticipated bad debts in the US subsidiary of SEK 
0.6 million. This was reversed in 2017 given that the bad debt did 
not materialise. 

For further information about credit risk, see the risk note, Note 4. 

31 Dec 
2018

31 Dec 
2017

Trade accounts receivable, gross 87.4 73.2

Reserve for doubtful receivables -4.1 -0.4

Trade accounts receivable, net after 
reserve for doubtful receivables 83.3 72.8

31 Dec 
2018

31 Dec 
2017

Reserve for doubtful accounts receiv-
able during the year -3.3 -0.4

Doubtful accounts receivables re-
versed during the year - -0.6

Provision for doubtful account 
receivables according to IFRS 9, 
through equity

-0.5

Accounts receivable, net  
 reserve for doubtful account 
receivables -3.8 -0.2

Age analysis, trade accounts 
receivable

31 Dec 
2018

31 Dec 
2017

Not overdue 74.2 52.9

Overdue by 30 days 3.4 5.3

Overdue by 31-60 days 5.1 12.2

Overdue by 61-90 days 0.3 1.2

Overdue by >90 days 0.3 1.2

Total 83.3 72.8

The company expects payment to be received for trade accounts 
receivable that are overdue but have not been written down as 
the customers have a good payment history. For more informa-
tion regarding credit risk, see Note 4 Financial risk management 
and financial instruments

NOTE 25 PREPAID EXPENSES AND ACCRUED INCOME

31 Dec 
2018

31 Dec 
2017

Prepaid rent 1.5 1.1

External product license 2.9 2.9

Accrued income 3.2 3.0

Other items 6.9 3.5

Carrying amount 14.5 10.5

NOTE 26 CURRENT INVESTMENTS

Current investments are short-term interest fund investments and 
amounted to SEK 74.9 million (75.1).
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NOTE 33 ASSETS PLEDGED AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Pledged assets 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017

Chattel mortgage 0 0

Bank guarantee 0 0.5

Total 0 0.5

Contingent liabilities None None

NOTE 34 TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

Transactions between the company and its subsidiaries, which are 
parties related to the company, were eliminated upon consoli-
dation, which is why no disclosures about these transactions are 
provided in this note.

During the year, the Chairman conducted consulting services in 
the Group in addition to his board work. For further information, 
see Note 12.

Disclosures on remuneration to executive management are pre-
sented in Note 12 Board

NOTE 35 EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE-SHEET DATE

At the start of 2019, Edgeware announced the acquisition of 
Cavena Image Products AB, the market leader in subtitling, in 
line with the acquisition strategy unveiled in connection with the 
company’s IPO. The acquisition broadens and strengthens the 
company’s offering to this important – and for Edgeware relative-
ly new – customer group. The acquisition is being made at SEK 
8.0 million on a cash and debt-free basis using cash funds.

NOTE 27 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

31 Dec 
2018

31 Dec 
2017

Available funds on accounts at banks 
and other credit institutions 93.1 97.7

Total 93.1 97.7
 

NOTE 28 SHARE CAPITAL

As per 31 December 2018 and 2017, the registered share capital amounted to 30,043,008 shares with a quotient value of SEK 0.05 
each. The below table shows historic changes in the company’s share capital since 1 January 2013, and changes in the number of 
shares and the share capital during 2016 in connection with the listing of the company’s shares on Nasdaq Stockholm.

Time Event
Change in  

number of shares

Number of shares 
after the transac-

tion
Change in  

share capital
Total  

share capital

1 Jan 2013 – 649,171 – 649,171.00

14 Jul 2016 New share issue 500 649,671 500.00 649,671.00

14 Jul 2016 Issue against set off 30,221 679,892 30,221.00 679,892.00

14 Jul 2016
Share subscription due to 
warrants 7,679 687,571 7,679.00 687,571.00

14 Jul 2016 New share issue 1,000 688,571 1,000.00 688,571.00

23 Nov 
2016 New share issue 266 688,837 266.00 688,837.00

23 Nov 
2016 Share split 13,087,903 13,776,740 – 688,837.00

9 Dec 2016 Share conversion – 13,776,740 – 688,837.00

9 Dec 2016 Bonus issue 11,093,855 24,870,595 554,692.75 1,243,529.75

15 Dec 2016 New share issue 5,172,413 30,043,008 258,620.65 1,502,150.40

NOTE 29 OTHER CONTRIBUTED CAPITAL

Other contributed capital consists of the share premium reserve.

NOTE 30 TRANSLATION RESERVE

The translation reserve is for translation differences upon transla-
tion of foreign operations to SEK.

NOTE 31 OTHER PROVISIONS

31 Dec 
2018

31 Dec 
2017

1 January 0.3 0.6

Additional provisions 0.6 0.5

Amounts utilised -0.3 -0.1

Reversal of unutilised amount -0.2 -0.7

Carrying amount 0.4 0.3

Other provisions relate to hardware warranties for the first year.

 NOTE 32 ACCRUED EXPENSES AND DEFERRED INCOME 

31 Dec 
2018

31 Dec 
2017

Accrued salaries 9.1 6.5

Accrued vacation pay 2.7 3.0

Accrued social insurance contribu-
tions 2.2 2.3

Prepaid income 37.3 32.8

Other items 5.8 2.4

Carrying amount 57.1 47.0
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PARENT COMPANY INCOME STATEMENT

(SEK million) NOTE 2018 2017

Net sales 2,3 230.0 234.0

Cost of goods and services sold -69.0 -58.0

Gross profit 161.0 176.0

Selling expenses -77.5 -64.8

Administrative expenses 4 -41.9 -42.5

Research and development expenses -52.0 -54.7

Other operating income/expenses 5 -2.9 0.3

EBIT 6,7,8 -13.3 14.3

Profit/loss from financial items

Impairment of financial non-current assets - –

Interest income and similar items 9 3.2 1.6

Interest expenses and similar expense items 10 -2.0 -1.9

Profit after financial items -12.1 14.0

Pre-tax profit -12.1 14.0

Tax on profit for the year 11 1.7 -3.9

PROFIT/LOSS FOR THE YEAR -10.4 10.1
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PARENT COMPANY STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE

INCOME

(SEK MILLION) NOTE 2018 2017

Profit/Loss for the year -10.4 10.1

Other comprehensive income – –

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR -10.4 10.1
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PARENT COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

(SEK MILLION) NOTE 31 DEC 2018 31 DEC 2017

ASSETS
Non-current assets 
Intangible non-current assets
Capitalised expenditure on development work
Software
Trademarks

12 
13 
14

22.7
0.8
0.8

19.9
0.2
0.8

24.3 20.9

Property, plant and equipment

Equipment, tools and installations 15 2.9 4.2

2.9 4.2

Financial non-current assets

Deferred tax assets 11 12.6 10.8

Other long-term receivables 16 1.4 5.0

14.0 15.8

Total non-current assets 41.2 40.9

Current assets

Inventories

Raw materials and supplies 17 11.5 12.3

11.5 12.3

Current receivables

Trade accounts receivable 83.2 69.5

Receivables from Group companies 18 4.4 8.8

Other receivables 0.3 1.8

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 19 14.5 9.8

102.4 89.9

Current investments 20 75.0 75.1

Cash and bank balances 21 91.2 97.2

Total current assets 280.1 274.5

TOTAL ASSETS 321.3 315.4
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PARENT COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

(SEK MILLION) NOTE 31 DEC 2018 31 DEC 2017

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity 22

Restricted equity

Share capital (30,043,008 shares) 1.5 1.5

Reserve for development expenses 22.4 16.9

Total restricted equity 23.9 18.4

Unrestricted equity

Share premium reserve 235.9 234.3

Earnings brought forward -8.1 -12.7

Profit/Loss for the year -10.4 10.1

217.4 231.7

Total equity 241.3 250.1

Provisions

Other provisions 23 0.3 0.3

0.3 0.3

Current liabilities

Trade accounts payable 24 19.2 18.7

Current tax liabilities 0.6 0.5 

Other current liabilities 24 4.0 0.3

Accrued expenses and deferred income 25 55.9 45.5

79.7 65.0

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 321.3 315.4
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PARENT COMPANY STATEMENT OF  
CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

RESTRICTED EQUITY UNRESTRICTED EQUITY

(SEK MILLION)
SHARE 

CAPITAL

RESERVE FOR 
DEVELOPMENT 
EXPENDITURE

SHARE PREMIUM 
RESERVE

RETAINED 
PROFIT OR 

LOSS
PROFIT/LOSS 

FOR THE YEAR TOTAL EQUITY

Balance, 1 January 2018 1.5 16.9 234.3 -12.7 10.1 250.1

Appropriation of profit/loss for the preceding year 10.1 -10.1 0

Reserve for development expenditure 5.5 -5.5          0

Profit/Loss for the year -10.4 -10.4

Other comprehensive income 0 0

Total comprehensive income -10.4 -10.4

Transactions with owners:

Paid-in premiums, warrants. 1.6 1.6

Total transactions with owners 0 0          1.6 0 0 1.6

Balance, 31 December 2018 1.5 22.4 235.9 -8.1 -10.4 241.3

RESTRICTED EQUITY UNRESTRICTED EQUITY

(SEK MILLION)
SHARE 

CAPITAL

RESERVE FOR 
DEVELOPMENT 
EXPENDITURE

SHARE PREMIUM 
RESERVE

RETAINED 
PROFIT OR 

LOSS

PROFIT/
LOSS FOR 
THE YEAR TOTAL EQUITY

Balance, 1 January 2017 1.5 7.6 231.4 -26.3 22.9 237.1

Appropriation of profit/loss for the preceding year 22.9 -22.9 0

Reserve for development expenditure            9.3           -9.3                            0

Profit/Loss for the year 10.1 10.1

Other comprehensive income 0 0

Total comprehensive income 10.1 10.1

Transactions with owners:

Tax on issuance costs
                

2.9 2.9

Total transactions with owners 0 0          2.9 0 0 2.9

Balance, 31 December 2017 1.5 16.9 234.3 -12.7 10.1 250.1
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PARENT COMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(SEK MILLION) NOTE 2018 2017

Cash flow from operating activities

EBIT
Adjustments for non-cash items: 

-13.3 14.3

Depreciation of intangible non-current assets 11.1 8.5

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2.7 3.4

Withholding tax - -0.2

Guarantee reserve - -0.3

Exchange-rate effect 1.4 -0.6

Received interest 0.3 0.1

Paid interest -0.2 -0.1

Cash flow from operating activities before changes in operating capital 2.0 25.1

Changes in operating capital Decrease (+)/Increase (-) in inventories
0.7 -6.2

Decrease (+)/Increase (-) in trade accounts receivable -13.7 -6.0

Decrease (+)/Increase (-) in other current receivables 3.1 -5.6

Decrease (-)/Increase (+) in trade account payables 0.4 2.0

Decrease (-)/Increase (+) in other current liabilities 16.6 -11.2

Cash flow from operating capital 7.1 -27.0

Cash flow from operating activities 9.1 -1.9

Investing activities

Acquisition of intangible assets 12 -14.5 -14.7

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 13 -1.4 -3.1

Investments in other financial non-current assets 26 -1.3

Investments in current assets 21 -75.1

Cash flow from investing activities -15.9 -94.2

Financing activities

Warrants 1.6 -

Increase long-term receivables -0.7 -

Cash flow from financing activities 0.9 - 

Cash flow for the year -5.9 -96.1

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 97.2 193.2

Exchange-rate differences in cash and cash equivalents -0.1 0.1

Cash and cash equivalents at year-end 28 91.2 97.2
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NOTE 1 ACCOUNTINGPRINCIPLES
The annual accounts of the parent company have been prepared 
pursuant to the Swedish Annual Accounts Act and the Swedish 
Financial Reporting Board’s recommendation RFR 2 Accounting 
for Legal Entities. According to RFR 2, the parent company is to 
apply all International Financial Reporting Standards, adopted 
by the EU, to the extent possible within the framework of the 
Annual Accounts Act. The amendments to RFR 2 that have come/
will come into effect and apply to the 2018 and/or 2019 financial 
year had/are estimated to have no material impact on the parent 
company’s financial statements.
 The differences between the parent company’s and the consoli-
dated accounting policies are described below:

Classification and presentation
The parent company’s income statement and balance sheet 
are presented according to the format stipulated in the Annual 
Accounts Act. The difference compared with IAS 1 Presentation 
of Financial Statements, which is applied to the presentation of 
the consolidated financial statements, primarily pertains to the 
recognition of financial income and expenses, non-current assets 
and shareholders’ equity, as well as the existence of provisions 
under a separate heading.

Subsidiaries
Shares and participations in subsidiaries are recognised at cost 
in the parent company’s financial statements. Acquisition-related 
costs for subsidiaries, which are expensed in the consolidated 
financial statements, are included as a component of cost in 
respect of participations in subsidiaries.

Financial instruments
The parent company does not apply IAS 39 Financial instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement. The method applied in the par-
ent company uses the Annual Accounts Act as the point of depar-
ture. Current investments in balance sheet recognised at cost.

NOTE 2 INFORMATION ON INTRA-GROUP

PURCHASES AND SALES
2018 2017

Sales 1.0% 2.9%

NOTE 3 NET SALES BY SALES CATEGORY AND REGION

The table below shows the breakdown of net sales by sales 
category and region. 

REVENUE SPLIT

MSEK 2018 2017

Net sales by sales category  

Products 175.5 180.6

Services 54.5 53.4

   Of which, support 47.8 45.0

   Of which, Professional Services 6.7 8.4

Total net sales 230.0 234.0

 

Net sales by region  

EMEA 161.5 163.9

AMERICAS 46.5 34.3

APAC 22.0 35.7

Total net sales 230.0 234.0

 

Net sales by point in time  

At one point in time 182.2 188.9

Over time 47.8 45.0

Total net sales 230.0 234.0

Contractual 
assets

Closing balance 31 
December 2018

Software installa-
tions and integra-
tion services 4.2

Contractual 
assets

Opening bal-
ance 1 January 
2017

Closing balance 31 
December 2017

Software installa-
tions and integra-
tion services

3.9 4.0

Amounts attributable to the installation of software and inte-
gration services are recognised as revenue during the period 
in which the installation is conducted and represent the Parent 
comapny’s right to receive remuneration for services performed 
to date. However, the payment dates follow milestone approval 
and may occur at later dates. Contractual assets are organised 
under the heading of prepaid expenses and accrued income in 
the balance sheet.

Contractual liabilities

Closing 
balance 31 De-
cember 2018

Technical support and 
maintenance 39.8

Software installations 
and integration services 3.3

Contractual liabilities

Opening bal-
ance 1 January 
2017

Closing 
balance 31 De-
cember 2017

Technical support and 
maintenance 29.2 32.8

Software installations 
and integration services 8.5 1.1

Revenue attributable to technical support and maintenance is 
also recognised over time if the customer pays in advance. A 
contractual liability is recognised in conjunction with the receipt 
of advance payment. Contractual liabilities are dissolved and rev-
enue is recognized over the period that support and maintenance 
is delivered to the customer.

NOTES TO THE PARENT COMPANY’S FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS
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Contractual liabilities pertaining to support and maintenance 
are liabilities to customers that arise when a payment exceeds 
the revenue recognised for planned maintenance or installation. 
Payment is usually made in advance at the beginning of the 
contract period.

Revenue for service and integration support is recognised in the 
period in which the work is completed, while the invoicing follows 
the agreed time of invoicing in the contract. 

Contractual liabilities are organised under the heading of accrued 
expenses and deferred income. 

Initial contractual liabilities as of 1 January 2017 have, in its en-
tirety, been recognized in 2017 and the contractual liability as of 
January 1, 2018 has been recognized in its entirety in 2018.

 2019 2020 2021

Anticipated revenue recognition 
of support and maintenance 28.9 7.6 3.3

Anticipated revenue recogni-
tion of service and integration 
support 3.3  

Anticipated revenue recognition of contractual liabilities in 
accordance with the above and anticipated times of payment for 
contractual assets. The table shows the allocation of the transac-
tion price distributed among remaining performance obligations. 
Edgeware applies relief rules regarding IFRS 15 and does not 
provide any disclosures for the comparative year.

NOTE 4 REMUNERATION OF THE AUDITOR

2018 2017

Deloitte AB

  Audit assignments 0.6 0.7

   Auditing activity other than audit 
assignments 0.0 0.0

  Other services 0.1 0.1

Total 0.7 0.8

NOTE 5 OTHER OPERATING INCOME/EXPENSES

2018 2017

Exchange gains 1.8  1.7

Exchange losses -1.7 -1.3

Restructuring expenses -2.9 -

Total -2.8 0.3

NOTE 6 LEASES
Operating leases - lessees
The Group is a lessee in operating leases for rented premis-
es. The year’s expensed lease payments for operating leases 
totalled SEK 5.2 million (4.3) in the Group. Future minimum lease 
payments and variable payments for non-cancellable operating 
leases fall due as follows:

Due dates 2018 2017

Minimum lease payments

Within one year 6.3 2.8

Later than one year but within five 
years 4.8 0

NOTE 7 PERSONNEL EXPENSES

Salaries, remuneration, social  
security contributions and pension 
costs 2018 2017

Salaries and other remuneration 72.2 61.4

Social insurance contributions 16.1 16.3

Pension expenses 12.5 7.6

Total 100.8 85.3

See Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements for informa-
tion on the average number of employees, salaries and remuner-
ation, as well as the distribution between women and men on the 
board of directors and among executive management.

NOTE 8 DEPRECIATION/AMORTISATION AND IMPAIR

MENT OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND

INTANGIBLE NON-CURRENT ASSETS

2018 2017

Cost of goods and services sold -2.8       -3.3

Research and development expenses -11.1 -8.5

Total -13.9 -11.8

NOTE 9 OTHER INTEREST INCOME AND SIMILAR ITEMS

2018 2017

Interest income 0.2 0.3

Interest income, Group companies 0.3 0.1

Exchange-rate differences 1.5 1.1

Exchange-rate differences, Group 
companies 1.2 0.1

Total 3.2 1.6

NOTE 10 INTEREST EXPENSES AND SIMILAR EXPENSE

ITEMS AND SIMILAR ITEMS

2018 2017

Interest expense -0.3 -0.2

Exchange-rate differences -1.6 -1.0

Exchange-rate differences, Group 
companies -0.1 -0.7

Total -2.0 -1.9

NOTE 11 TAX ON PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

2018 2017

Deferred tax

This year’s deferred tax 2.0 -3.8

Adjustments recognised in current year 
for previous year’s current tax

0
-0.4

Deferred tax attributable to temporary 
differences - 0.2

Deferred tax attributable to change in 
tax rates

-0.3 -

Tax on profit for the year 1.7 -3.9
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Reconciliation of the year’s tax expenses 2018 2017

Recognised profit before tax -12.1 14.0

Tax based on Swedish tax rate (22%) 2.7 -3.1

Temporary differences for the year for 
which no deferred tax assets have been 
recognised 0 -0.2

Impairment of financial asset - -

Deduction for reversal of accelerated 
depreciation and change in accelerated 
depreciation -0.5 -0.4

Non-deductible expenses and losses -0.2 -0.1

Interest income, tax account 0 0.0

Total 2.0 -3.8

Deferred tax attributable to temporary 
differences

- 0.2

Deferred tax attributable to change in 
tax rates -0.3

Adjustments recognised in current year 
for previous year’s current tax 0 -0.3

Tax expenses recognised for the year 1.7 -3.9

Current tax recognised directly in equity amounts to SEK 0.0 
million (2.9). Deferred tax recognised directly in equity amounts 
to SEK 0 million (0).

During 2018, paid-in premiums for warrants were recognised over 
equity in an amount of SEK 1.6 million (0).

Earnings for the period were impacted by a higher tax expense 
of SEK 0.3 million stemming from the restatement of the deferred 
tax asset due to the adopted future amendment to the corporate 
tax rate in Sweden. New loss carryforwards were also capitalised 
in an amount of SEK 9.5 million during the period. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities 
The parent company’s deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabili-
ties relate to the following items:

31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017

Deferred tax assets

Unutilised tax loss carryforwards 11.0 9.3

Withholding tax 1.6 1.5

Deferred tax assets 12.6 10.8

Deferred tax liabilities

Capitalised expenditure on develop-
ment work 0.0 0.0

Deferred tax liabilities 0.0 0.0

Deferred tax assets are measured at no more than the amount 
that is likely to be recovered based on current and future taxable 
profits. The company has unutilised loss carryforwards amounting 
to SEK 51.5 million (42.2), of which SEK 51.5 million (42.2) relates 
to recognised loss carryforwards. Deferred tax liabilities pertain 
to capitalised development expenses concerning 2013 and 2014. 
The tax rate for calculating deferred tax is 21.4 percent.

NOTE 12 CAPITALISED EXPENDITURE ON DEVELOPMENT 

WORK
2018 2017

Cost as of  
1 January 40.5 28.0

Assets developed internally 13.9 13.7

Sales/disposals - -1.2

Closing accumulated cost as of 31 
December 54.4 40.5

Depreciation as of  
1 January -20.6 -13.2

Amortisation for the year -11.1 -8.3

Sales/disposals - 0.9

Closing accumulated amortisation as 
of 31 December -31.7 -20.6

Carrying amount as of 31 December 22.7 19.9

NOTE 13 SOFTWARE 
2018 2017

Cost as of  
1 January 0.2 –

Purchases 0.6 0.2

Closing accumulated cost as of 31 
December 0.8 0.2

Depreciation as of  
1 January - –

Amortisation for the year - –

Closing accumulated amortisation 
as of 31 December - –

Carrying amount as of 31 December 0.8 0.2

NOTE 14 TRADEMARKS

2018 2017

Cost as of  
1 January 0.8 –

Assets developed internally - 0.8

Closing accumulated cost as of 31 
December 0.8 0.8

Depreciation as of  
1 January - –

Amortisation for the year 0 0

Closing accumulated amortisation 
as of 31 December 0 0

Carrying amount as of 31 December 0.8 0.8

NOTE 15 EQUIPMENT, TOOLS AND INSTALLATIONS 

2018 2017

Cost as of  
1 January 24.8 21.7

Purchases 0.3 0.7

Reclassification 1.2 2.4

Closing accumulated cost as of 31 
December 26.3 24.8

Depreciation as of  
1 January -20.6 -17.3

Amortisation for the year -2.8 -3.3

Closing accumulated amortisation 
as of 31 December -23.4 -20.6

Carrying amount as of 31 December 2.9 4.2
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NOTE 19 PREPAID EXPENSES AND ACCRUED INCOME

31 Dec 
2018

31 Dec 
2017

Prepaid rent 1.5     1.2

External product license 2.5 2.3

Accrued income 4.2 4.0

Other items 6.3        2.3

Carrying amount 14.5 9.8

NOTE 20 CURRENT INVESTMENTS

Current investments are short-term interest fund investments and 
amounted to SEK 75.0 million (75.1).

NOTE 21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IN CASH FLOW

31 Dec 
2018 2017-13-31

Available funds on accounts at banks 
and other credit institutions 91.2 97.2

Total 91.2 97.2

NOTE 16 OTHER NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES

31 Dec 
2018

31 Dec 
2017

Deposit, landlord 1.0        1.0

Deposit, Business Sweden 0.4        4.0

Carrying amount 1.4 5.0

NOTE 17 RAW MATERIALS AND SUPPLIES
Inventories consist of components, third-party products and finished 
products. Inventories recognised as costs during the year include 
the cost of goods sold amounting to SEK 0.5 million (1.3).

NOTE 18 RECEIVABLES FROM GROUP COMPANIES

2018 2017

Cost as of  
1 January 33.7 31.5

Additional receivables 5.3 7.6

Settled receivables -9.7 -5.4

Reclassifications 0 0

Closing accumulated cost as of 31 
December 29.3 33.7

Opening impairment losses as per  
1 January -24.9 -24.9

Reclassifications 0 0

Impairment losses for the year 0 0

Accumulated impairment losses as 
per 31 December -24.9 -24.9

Carrying amount as of 31 December 4.4 8.8

NOTE 22 SHARE CAPITAL DEVELOPMENT

At the beginning of the 2018 financial year, the registered share capital amounted to 30,043,008 shares with a quotient value of SEK 
0.05 each. No changes in share capital occurred during 2018. As per 31 December 2018, the registered share capital amounted to 
30,043,008 shares with a quotient value of SEK 0.05 each. 
The below table shows historic changes in the company’s share capital since 1 January 2013, and changes in the number of shares and 
the share capital during 2016 in connection with the listing of the company’s shares on Nasdaq Stockholm.

Time Event
Change in num-

ber of shares

Number of shares 
after the trans-

action
Change in share 

capital Total share capital 

1 Jan 2013 – 649,171 – 649,171.00

14 Jul 2016 New share issue 500 649,671 500.00 649,671.00

14 Jul 2016 Issue against set off 30,221 679,892 30,221.00 679,892.00

14 Jul 2016
Share subscription due to 
warrants 7,679 687,571 7,679.00 687,571.00

14 Jul 2016 New share issue 1,000 688,571 1,000.00 688,571.00

23 Nov 2016 New share issue 266 688,837 266.00 688,837.00

23 Nov 2016 Share split 13,087,903 13,776,740 – 688,837.00

9 Dec 2016 Share conversion – 13,776,740 – 688,837.00

9 Dec 2016 Bonus issue 11,093,855 24,870,595 554,692.75 1,243,529.75

15 Dec 2016 New share issue 5,172,413 30,043,008 258,620.65 1,502,150.40

NOTE 23 OTHER PROVISIONS

2018 2017

1 January 0.3 0.6

Additional provisions 0.6 0.5

Amounts utilised -0.3 -0.1

Reversal of unutilised amount -0.3 -0.7

Carrying amount as of 31 December 0.3 0.3
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NOTE 24 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Maturity breakdown, financial liabilities

31 Dec 2018 Within 3 months 3–12 months 1–5 years More than 5 years Total 

Trade accounts payable 19.2 0 0 0 19.2

Other current liabilities 4.0 0 0 0 4.0

Total 23.2 0 0 0 23.2

31 Dec 2017 Within 3 months 3–12 months 1–5 years More than 5 years Total 

Trade accounts payable 18.7 0 0 0 18.7

Other current liabilities 0.3 0 0 0 0.3

Total 19 0 0 0 19.0

Sales of goods and services 2018 2017

Edgeware Inc 2.2 3.1

Total 2.2 3.1

Sales and purchases of goods and services are conducted on 
market-based terms.

Receivables from related parties
31 Dec 

2018
31 Dec 

2017

Edgeware Inc 3.8 8.8

Edgeware HK 0.6 0

Total 4.4 8.8

NOTE 28 EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE-SHEET DATE 
 
At the start of 2019, Edgeware announced the acquisition of Cav-
ena Image Products AB, the market leader in subtitling, in line with 
the acquisition strategy unveiled in connection with the company’s 
IPO. The acquisition broadens and strengthens the company’s 
offering to this important – and for Edgeware relatively new – cus-
tomer group. The acquisition is being made at SEK 8.0 million on 
a cash and debt-free basis.

NOT 29 PROPOSED DISTRIBUTION OF UNAPPROPRIATED

EARNINGS 

Funds available for distribution by the AGM, SEK

Share premium reserve 235,866,158

Earnings brought forward -8,105,991

Profit/Loss for the year -10,374,492

217,385,675

Funds available for distribution by the AGM, SEK

The board of directors proposes that
the following amount be carried forward 217,385,675

Carrying amount 217,385,675

NOTE 30 ASSETS PLEDGED AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Pledged assets
31 Dec 

2018
31 Dec 

2017

Chattel mortgage 0 0

Bank guarantee 0 0

Total 0 0

Contingent liabilities None None

NOTE 25 ACCRUED EXPENSES AND DEFERRED INCOME

2018 2017

Accrued salaries 8.5 5.9

Accrued vacation pay 2.7 3.0

Accrued social insurance contribu-
tions 2.2 2.3

Prepaid income 39.8 33.0

Other items 2.7 1.3

Carrying amount 55.9 45.5

NOTE 26 PARTICIPATIONS IN GROUP COMPANIES

2018 2017

Cost as of  
1 January 21.1 21.1

Closing accumulated cost as of 31 
December 21.1 21.1

Opening impairment losses as per  
1 January -21.1 -21.1

Impairment losses for the year 0 0

Accumulated impairment losses as 
per 31 December -21.1 -21.1

Carrying amount as of 31 Decem-
ber 0 0

Company’s holdings of participations in Group companies

Company’s Share of Number Carrying amount

name capital1)

of partici-
pations

31 Dec 
2018

31 Dec 
2017

Edgeware Inc 100% 1,000 0 0

Total 0 0
1) The share of equity matches the share of votes.

Company’s name Registered office:

Edgeware Inc Incorporated in Delaware, USA  
(situated in Chicago)

Edgeware HK Hong Kong

NOTE 27 TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

Transactions between the parent company and its subsidiaries, 
which are parties related to the parent company, and disclosures 
about transactions between other related parties are presented 
below.
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The board of directors and the CEO hereby certify that the Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the Annual Accounts 
Act and Recommendation RFR 2 Accounting for Legal Entities and provides a true and fair view of the company’s financial position and 
results, and that the Directors’ Report provides a true and fair overview of the development of the company’s business, position and 
results and describes significant risks and uncertainties faced by the company. The board of directors and the CEO hereby certify that 
the consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as 
adopted by the EU, and provide a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position and results, and that the Directors’ Report for the 
Group provides a true and fair overview of the development of the Group’s business, position and results and describes significant risks 
and uncertainties faced by the companies included in the Group.

Stockholm, 10 March 2019

Michael Ruffolo Jonas Hasselberg
CHAIRMAN BOARD MEMBER

Kent Sander Sigrun Hjelmquist
BOARD MEMBER BOARD MEMBER

Arnd Benninghoff Tuija Soanjärvi
BOARD MEMBER BOARD MEMBER

Karl Thedéen
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

Our auditor’s report was submitted on 10 March 2019

Deloitte AB

Andreas Frountzos
AUTHORISED ACCOUNTANT
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AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the general meeting of the shareholders of Edgeware AB 
(publ) corporate identity number 556691-7554

REPORT ON THE ANNUAL ACCOUNTS AND CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS

Opinions
We have audited the annual accounts and consolidated accounts 
of Edgeware AB (publ) for the financial year 2018-01-01 - 2018-
12-31 except for the corporate governance statement on pages 
57-62. The annual accounts and consolidated accounts of the 
company are included on pages 52-98 in this document.

In our opinion, the annual accounts have been prepared in 
accordance with the Annual Accounts Act and present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the parent company as 
of 31 December 2018 and its financial performance and cash flow 
for the year then ended in accordance with the Annual Accounts 
Act. The consolidated accounts have been prepared in accord-
ance with the Annual Accounts Act and present fairly, in all materi-
al respects, the financial position of the group as of 31 December 
2018 and their financial performance and cash flow for the year 
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the EU, and the Annual Accounts 
Act. The statutory administration report is consistent with the 
other parts of the annual accounts and consolidated accounts.

We therefore recommend that general meeting of shareholders 
adopts the income statement and balance sheet for the parent 
company and the group. 

Our opinions in this report on the annual accounts and consoli-
dated accounts are consistent with the content of the additional 
report that has been submitted to the parent company’s audit 
committee in accordance with the Audit Regulation (537/2014) 
Article 11.

Basis for Opinions
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Stand-
ards on Auditing (ISA) and generally accepted auditing stand-
ards in Sweden. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities section. We are 
independent of the parent company and the group in accordance 
with professional ethics for accountants in Sweden and have 
otherwise fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements.  This includes that, based on the best of our 
knowledge and belief, no prohibited services referred to in the 
Audit Regulation (537/2014) Article 5.1 have been provided to 
the audited company or, where applicable, its parent company or 
its controlled companies within the EU. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters of the audit are those matters that, in our pro-
fessional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
annual accounts and consolidated accounts of the current period. 
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of, and 
in forming our opinion thereon, the annual accounts and consol-

idated accounts as a whole, but we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters.

Revenue recognition
Consolidated net sales amounts to SEK 231.9 (236.8) million 
and derives from sales of both products and services. We have 
classified this as a key audit matter since revenue is significant 
and consist of several different revenue streams such as hard-
ware, software, licenses, integration services, installation services, 
support and maintenance where product and services in some 
cases is bundled into one customer offering. Promises of goods 
or services to customers that’s meets the criteria of being distinct 
is accounted for as a performance obligation separate from 
other promised goods or services. Revenue is recognized when 
control of the underlying goods or services for that particular 
performance obligation is transferred to the customer. Identifying 
distinct promises (performance obligations) requires management 
to make significant judgements and estimates that may have a 
significant impact on the Group´s net sales and earnings.  

For further information, please refer to the Group’s accounting 
policies in Note 2 on page 71 and description of significant esti-
mates and assumptions in Note 3 on page 75.

Our audit procedures included but were not limited to:

• evaluation of the appropriateness of Group´s revenue recogni-
tion principles, including the transition to IFRS 15, and compli-
ance with the same for each significant deliverable

• gaining an understanding of significant transactions flows and 
review of key internal controls mitigating the risk of significant 
financial statements misstatements

• detailed testing for a sample of revenue transactions including 
reconciliation to customer contracts and testing of cut off based 
on the period Group deliver each deliverable

• detailed testing for a sample of revenue transactions with 
respect of existence and completeness of revenue by compar-
ing reported revenue with customer payments and review of 
revenue accruals at year end

• review of disclosures in the annual report.

Recognition and valuation of capitalized development expenses
Consolidated capitalized development expenses amounts to SEK 
22.7 (19.9) million and includes internally generated software 
which is a key component in the customer offering. Development 
expenses are capitalized when the criteria’s, described in the 
Group’s accounting policies on page 73 are met.

The capitalization and subsequent measurement of internally 
generated software are based on the management’s assessment 
of the future economic benefits. There is a risk that the devel-
opment expenses do not qualify for capitalization and that the 
carrying value of individual software applications exceeds the 
recoverable amount, which could have a significant impact on the 
Group’s earnings and financial position. The impairment test of 
capitalized development expenses is based on future cash flow 
as described in Note 3 on page 75. 
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The Audit Committee shall, without prejudice to the Board of Di-
rector’s responsibilities and tasks in general, among other things 
oversee the company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the annual accounts and consolidated accounts as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinions. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs and 
generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individ-
ually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these annual accounts and consolidated accounts.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise profes-
sional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout 
the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 
annual accounts and consolidated accounts, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the over-
ride of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of the company’s internal control 
relevant to our audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s 
internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the Board of Directors and the Managing 
Director.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ 
and the Managing Director’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in preparing the annual accounts and consolidat-
ed accounts. We also draw a conclusion, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, as to whether any material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the company’s and the group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the annual accounts and consolidated accounts or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion about 
the annual accounts and consolidated accounts. Our conclu-
sions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date 
of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause a company and a group to cease to continue as a going 
concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of 
the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, including the 
disclosures, and whether the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
financial information of the entities or business activities within 
the group to express an opinion on the consolidated accounts. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and perfor-
mance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our 
opinions.

For further information, please refer to the Group’s accounting 
policies in Note 2 on page 73 and description of significant 
estimates and assumptions in Note 3 on page 75.

Our audit procedures included but were not limited to:

• evaluation of the appropriateness of Group’s principles for 
capitalization of internally generated software development 
expenses

• gaining an understanding of the Group’s process for capital-
ization, amortization and valuation of capitalized development 
expenses and review of key internal controls mitigating the risk 
of significant financial statement misstatements

• detailed testing for a sample of capitalized development ex-
pense and evaluation of management’s assessment that capital-
ized development expenses meets the criteria for capitalization

• evaluation of the principles, methodology and assumptions 
used by management for impairment testing of capitalized 
development expenses is in accordance with IFRS 36 and if 
assumptions used by management in the impairment model is 
reasonable and disclosures in the annual report appropriate

Other information than the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts
This document also contains other information than the annual 
accounts and consolidated accounts and is found on pages 1-51 
and 98-99. The Board of Directors and the Managing Director and 
the Managing Director are responsible for this other information. 

Our opinion on the annual accounts and consolidated accounts 
does not cover this other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion regarding this other information.

In connection with our audit of the annual accounts and consoli-
dated accounts, our responsibility is to read the information iden-
tified above and consider whether the information is materially 
inconsistent with the annual accounts and consolidated accounts. 
In this procedure we also take into account our knowledge oth-
erwise obtained in the audit and assess whether the information 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If we, based on the work performed concerning this informa-
tion, conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing 
to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing 
Director
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsi-
ble for the preparation of the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts and that they give a fair presentation in accordance 
with the Annual Accounts Act and, concerning the consolidated 
accounts, in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU. The 
Board of Directors and the Managing Director are also respon-
sible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts that are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error.

In preparing the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, The 
Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for 
the assessment of the company’s and the group’s ability to con-
tinue as a going concern. They disclose, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting. The going concern basis of accounting is however 
not applied if the Board of Directors and the Managing Director 
intends to liquidate the company, to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so.  
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thereby our opinion about discharge from liability, is to obtain 
audit evidence to assess with a reasonable degree of assurance 
whether any member of the Board of Directors or the Managing 
Director in any material respect:

• has undertaken any action or been guilty of any omission which 
can give rise to liability to the company, or

• in any other way has acted in contravention of the Companies 
Act, the Annual Accounts Act or the Articles of Association.

Our objective concerning the audit of the proposed appropri-
ations of the company’s profit or loss, and thereby our opinion 
about this, is to assess with reasonable degree of assurance 
whether the proposal is in accordance with the Companies Act.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards in Sweden will always detect actions 
or omissions that can give rise to liability to the company, or that 
the proposed appropriations of the company’s profit or loss are 
not in accordance with the Companies Act.

As part of an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing 
standards in Sweden, we exercise professional judgment and 
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. The exam-
ination of the administration and the proposed appropriations of 
the company’s profit or loss is based primarily on the audit of the 
accounts. Additional audit procedures performed are based on 
our professional judgment with starting point in risk and materiali-
ty. This means that we focus the examination on such actions, are-
as and relationships that are material for the operations and where 
deviations and violations would have particular importance for the 
company’s situation. We examine and test decisions undertaken, 
support for decisions, actions taken and other circumstances that 
are relevant to our opinion concerning discharge from liability. As 
a basis for our opinion on the Board of Directors’ proposed appro-
priations of the company’s profit or loss we examined whether the 
proposal is in accordance with the Companies Act. 

The auditor’s examination of the corporate governance 
statement
The Board of Directors is responsible for that the corporate 
governance statement on pages 57-62 has been prepared in 
accordance with the Annual Accounts Act.

Our examination of the corporate governance statement is 
conducted in accordance with FAR´s auditing standard RevU 16 
The auditor´s examination of the corporate governance statement. 
This means that our examination of the corporate governance 
statement is different and substantially less in scope than an audit 
conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing 
and generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden. We believe 
that the examination has provided us with sufficient basis for our 
opinions.

A corporate governance statement has been prepared. Dis-
closures in accordance with chapter 6 section 6 the second 
paragraph points 2-6 of the Annual Accounts Act and chapter 
7 section 31 the second paragraph the same law are consistent 
with the other parts of the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts and are in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act. 
Deloitte AB, was appointed auditor of Edgeware AB by the 
general meeting of the shareholders on the 2018-05-04 and has 
been the company’s auditor since 2011-06-21.

Stockholm, March 10, 2019
Deloitte AB

ANDREAS FROUNTZOS
AUTHORIZED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT

Signatures on Swedish original

We must inform the Board of Directors of, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit. We must also inform 
of significant audit findings during our audit, including any signifi-
cant deficiencies in internal control that we identified.

We must also provide the Board of Directors with a statement 
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regard-
ing independence, and to communicate with them all relation-
ships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear 
on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, 
I (we) determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, 
including the most important assessed risks for material misstate-
ment, and are therefore the key audit matters. I (We) describe 
these matters in the auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes disclosure about the matter.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

Opinions
In addition to our audit of the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts, we have also audited the administration of the Board 
of Directors and the Managing Director of Edgeware AB (publ) 
for the financial year 2018-01-01 - 2018-12-31 and the proposed 
appropriations of the company’s profit or loss.

We recommend to the general meeting of shareholders that 
the profit to be appropriated in accordance with the proposal in 
the statutory administration report and that the members of the 
Board of Directors and the Managing Director be discharged 
from liability for the financial year. 

Basis for Opinions
We conducted the audit in accordance with generally accepted 
auditing standards in Sweden. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
section. We are independent of the parent company and the 
group in accordance with professional ethics for accountants in 
Sweden and have otherwise fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing 
Director
The Board of Directors is responsible for the proposal for ap-
propriations of the company’s profit or loss. At the proposal of a 
dividend, this includes an assessment of whether the dividend is 
justifiable considering the requirements which the company’s and 
the group’s type of operations, size and risks place on the size 
of the parent company’s and the group’s equity, consolidation 
requirements, liquidity and position in general.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the company’s organiza-
tion and the administration of the company’s affairs. This includes 
among other things continuous assessment of the company’s and 
the group’s financial situation and ensuring that the company’s 
organization is designed so that the accounting, management of 
assets and the company’s financial affairs otherwise are controlled 
in a reassuring manner. The Managing Director shall manage the 
ongoing administration according to the Board of Directors’ guide-
lines and instructions and among other matters take measures that 
are necessary to fulfill the company’s accounting in accordance with 
law and handle the management of assets in a reassuring manner.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our objective concerning the audit of the administration, and 
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GLOSSARY

EMEA Europe, Middle East and Africa.

ACCESS NETWORK The part of the public network that is closest to the end user. 

BANDWIDTH Measurement of the amount of information that can be transmitted. Measured in the unit of bit 
per second, bps. 

BUFFERING Downloading and delay in accessing the content.

CATCH UP TV Watching the latest TV programmes after they have been transmitted. 

CDN Content Delivery Network. An overlapping, geographically dispersed network with customer content that 
enables rapid and reliable reception from the location of every end user. 

CONTENT TV content that is distributed over the network. 

HD/HDTV High definition/High definition TV. 

UHD/TV Ultra High Definition/TV. Available in two different video formats, 4K and 8K. 

IP (Internet Protocol) Protocol that is used for data transmission over the Internet.  
All Internet traffic is provided in IP packages. 

IPTV TV transmitted using IP, i.e. broadband, often in a limited broadband network owned by an independent 
network operator.

LIVE TO VOD Live video and TV content that is stored and then available on demand.

OTT/OVER-THE-TOP Services in a network that are not offered by a network operator. TV viewers use their 
broadband connection and watch TV over the Internet. 

REALTIME Live transmission without delay. 

STREAMED MEDIA Audio and video files that are played via mobile phone or PC, at the same time as they are 
transmitted over a LAN or WAN, such as the Internet. These are used, for example, for playing stored files from 
websites and for the reception of live events on the Internet. 

TV SERVERS Hardware servers developed especially for TV and video content.

TV CDN A decentralised supplier network developed especially for handling TV and video programmes.

VOD (VIDEO ON DEMAND) Choosing to watch video content when you want to. 
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FINANCIAL CALENDAR

CONTACT INFORMATION 

•  Annual General Meeting 2018, 10:00 a.m., 11 April 2019, Bygget Konferens, Norrlandsgatan 11, Stockholm, 
Sweden.
•  Interim report for the period January–March 2019, Q1, 25 April 2019.
•  Interim report for the period January–June 2019, Q2, 19 July 2019.
•  Interim report for the period January–September 2019, Q3, 24 October 2019.

Karl Thedéen, CEO 
Telephone: +46 73 612 68 40

Annika Norin, CFO & IR
Telephone: +46 70 885 67 74

Information about Edgeware, press releases, press photos, etc.  
are available in our newsroom at Cision. 

Edgeware AB
Mäster Samuelsgatan 42
111 57 Stockholm, SWEDEN

READ MORE AT WWW.EDGEWARE.TV

PROJECT TEAM EDGEWARE: Annika Norin, Olof Engvall, Maria Leding, Jens Dolve, Astrid Hveding Lengdell
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